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PROCEEDINGS OF THE 84™ NATIONAL CONVENTION
OF DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS HELD AT LAS VEGAS, NEVADA

August 14, 2005
JOINT OPENING SESSION

The Joint Opening Session of the Disabled American Veterans and Disabled
American Veterans Auxiliary convened in the Events Center of Bally’s Las Vegas,
Las Vegas, Nevada, on Sunday morning August 14, 2005, and was called to order at
9:00 o’clock a.m. by National Commander James E. Sursely.

COMMANDER JAMES E. SURSELY: Ladies and gentlemen, good morning.
We hope you enjoyed our military service medley. I now call to order the 84™
National Convention of the Disabled American Veterans. Arthur H. Wilson,
National Adjutant, will you please read the call to Convention.

ADJUTANT ARTHUR H. WILSON: The Constitution and Bylaws of the
Disabled American Veterans state that the supreme legislative powers of this
organization shall be vested in an annual National Convention, composed of the
National Officers and representatives of the state departments and chapters.

In accordance with these directives, I, Arthur H. Wilson, National Adjutant,
declare the 84™ National Convention of the Disabled American Veterans to be
convened at Las Vegas, Nevada, at 9:00 a.m., Sunday, August 14, 2005.

Consideration and disposition of business brought before this Convention shall
be conducted in accordance with the National Constitution and Bylaws now in
force.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Present the Colors.

(Whereupon, the Colors were presented.)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Please join me in the Pledge of Allegiance.

(Whereupon, the Pledge of Allegiance was recited.)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Now for the invocation, National Chaplain, the
Reverend Gerald Stump.

CHAPLAIN, REVEREND GERALD V. STUMP: My soul shall praise the
Lord. I will sing praises to the Lord all my life. I will sing to the Lord for as long
as I live.

And we thank You, Heavenly Father, that we can assemble here in this great
assembly to sing the praises to You from hearts of thanksgiving for our country
called “America.”

We come, Father, with our hearts and our minds turned towards You. But,
Lord, we also have our hearts and our eyes upon our men and women in uniform
that are defending this great freedom.

We thank You for Your blessings upon them, for Your protection. And,
Father, we ask that You continue to bless them for their cause is right. When their
mission is finished, bring them home safely to us, and we will rejoice in Your name
for this great blessing.

We thank You, Lord, for this great organization, for, Lord, we have a task of
making life better for American veterans and their families. And it is a task that
You have given us. It is a mission that we embrace. It is one we long to fulfill.

Bless our Adjutant, these officers, and this great organization to that end. We
invoke Your presence upon these proceedings, that everything that is said and done
here will honor and glorify You, will bless America and will make life better for its
veterans and their families until we assemble in that great assembly before You we
ask Your blessings upon us here and now. For God’s glory we pray, Amen.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Ladies and gentlemen, please join me in thanking
the members of the Department of Massachusetts Color Guard for posting the
colors. (Applause)



Ladies and gentlemen, what you see all around you today and what you will
experience over the course of this special event is the result of teamwork, pride and
dedication to you, the Disabled American Veterans and DAV Auxiliary.

For over 85 years, disabled veterans have gathered together as a band of
brothers. Time and again, the accomplishments of our Annual Meeting have been
the result of dynamic leadership and hard work.

Fortunately, this year’s Convention Chairman is a dynamic leader who isn’t
afraid of hard work. Jerry Ogle is the adjutant of Chapter 12 located in
Henderson, Nevada. Jerry enlisted in the Marine Corps in October of 1953 and
embarked on a 31-year career.

A former embassy guard and drill instructor, he made an amphibious landing
in Beirut in 1958 and survived two tours in Vietnam. After retiring from the
Marines as a high school ROTC instructor, Jerry became a volunteer driver for the
DAYV Transportation Program.

Jerry has served as both a department and chapter commander and was on the
National Convention Nominating Committee for the past two years. Please give a
warm welcome to our 2005 Convention Chairman, Jerry L. Ogle. (Applause)

MR. JERRY L. OGLE: National Commander Sursely, National Adjutant
Wilson, Auxiliary National Commander Tidwell, Secretary of Veterans Affairs
Nicholson, comrades and guests, it is a pleasure to have the honor to address this
august Disabled American Veterans for the purpose of welcoming you to the 84
National Convention here in the “Entertainment Capital of the World,” the “City
that Never Sleeps”, “Sin City.” “What goes on in Vegas stays in Vegas.”
(Laughter) And “Viva Las Vegas.” If you want it, we’ve got it.

It is an exciting time to have our Convention here in Las Vegas. We are
celebrating our 100 birthday. Las Vegas has a rich and interesting history.

The name “Las Vegas” or The Meadows, derived from the artesian water
supply founded in the valley, which was a prime location for the settlers and
railroad developers, thus the advent of the railroad led to the founding of Las
Vegas on May the 15", 1905,

The railroad continued to be the focus of the community until the mid ‘20s
when the main yards were moved to a little town called Caliente. With the loss of
the railroad and the effects of the Depression Las Vegas’ future was uncertain.

However, three events would change the face of Las Vegas: gambling, it
became legal in 1931; also at the same time the divorce laws were changed to
quickie divorces (Laughter).

These events along with the construction of Boulder Dam, later named Hoover
Dam, brought a new flux of federal monies and construction to the Valley. World
War II brought more federal money in the form of military defense.

In 1941 they opened the Las Vegas Army Airfield and it’s now called Nellis Air
Force Base along with the magnesium plant out in Henderson that supplied raw
materials for the United States War Department.

By far, the most celebrated of the early resorts was the Flamingo Hotel, built
by mobster Benjamin “Bugsy” Segal. Well, the records reflect that he didn’t like
the name “Bugsy.” Now, he didn’t last long after the casino was completed because
he came down with a very bad case of lead poisoning. (Laughter)

Since the 1990s the Strip has become a wonderland of worldwide travel,
breathtaking architecture and food. You can eat your way around the world.

Las Vegas is a go-go-24-hour city that entices 37 million tourists a year, not to
mention the 5,000 new residents that moved into the valley each month.

Whether you head out to the casinos to win big, hit the megabucks, or just
watch all of the excitement, eat all the world famous, at the world-famous
restaurants, you will find you are not alone in wanting to be where the action is,
just travel up and down the Strip and you can find it.



Visit the Statue of Liberty at New York, New York or the Eiffel Towel in Paris,
or head out to the Barberry Coast, Treasure Island, Gold Coast, Orleans,
Boardwalk, cross the Atlantic to England and the Excalibur.

Go on to the Mediterranean, the Riviera, on to Italy and visit Caesar’s Palace,
Bellagio, the Venetian, and sail on to Monte Carlo, and then out to the South
Pacific, the Mandalay Bay.

There are many more hotels upon the Strip that you will have a chance to visit
while you’re here. The one that I would like to mention, our newest, is the Wynn
Las Vegas Resort. I haven’t been there yet but I know it cost $2.7 billion to build.

If you wish to get away from the Strip you can visit Hoover Dam, take a
helicopter ride to the Grand Canyon, visit Lake Meade or Red Rock. And if you
have any questions check with the hotel staff and they will be glad to assist you in
getting these.

Shopping, we have plenty of shopping. Every large hotel has a shopping mall.
There is up and down the Fashion Show Mall and also there is in the close vicinity,
those discount malls. So, shopping you won’t have any problem with.

Transportation, we have a monorail that starts at the Sahara and runs to the
MGM and it goes from seven in the morning until two in the morning. We also
have the CAT bus that runs up and down the Strip and we have taxis.

Well, you have heard me rant and rave about the availability of excitement,
food and entertainment. Let us not lose sight of the DAV mission and what the
Convention has to offer.

I would be remiss if I did not mention the great programs that the National
Organization has scheduled for you to take advantage of. I know you have read the
busy schedule with all of the seminars, lectures and entertainment.

It makes no difference if this is your 1% or your 84™ National Convention, there
is something new and interesting and knowledge that you can learn from the
workshops about the Disabled American Veterans.

On behalf of the Department of Nevada and the Department Commander Jose
Garcia, it is a great honor to be the host state for the 2005 National Disabled
American Veterans Convention.

Have fun. Enjoy the camaraderie. Take advantage of the information and
enjoy the entertainment. And one more thing, “keep Nevada green.” (Laughter)
Thank you. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Jerry, for that warm Nevada
welcome. Do I see you about all my losses out there in the casino? (Laughter) R.
Lee Ermey is known to many veterans for the military roles he portrayed early in
his acting career, like “Full Metal Jacket,” “The Boys of Company C,” and
“Apocalypse Now.”

What many people don’t realize is that Lee is no stranger to the needs of
disabled veterans. He was medically discharged as a staff sergeant in 1972.
However, Lee remains very active with the military and veterans; so involved, in
fact, that he considers himself still on active duty -- and the Marine Corps tends to
agree.

Lee’s support of Marines and veterans led to his honorary promotion to the
rank of gunnery sergeant more than two decades after his retirement. Here now to
welcome one and all is the one and only Marine gunnery sergeant, R. Lee Ermey.

(Whereupon, R. Lee Ermey addressed the convention via video.)

MR. R. LEE ERMEY: All right, listen up people. My name is Gunnery
Sergeant R. Lee Ermey, United States Marine Corps veteran. I am here to
motivate you, but first of all let me weed out all the non-packers who do not pack
the gear to be here in the first place.



If you are a disabled veteran, welcome aboard and God bless you. If you are
the spouse or the family of a disabled veteran, glad to have you on board. If you
support the brave men and women in uniform who have sacrificed for our beloved
nation, we are honored to have you. Do I see any Marines out there? Well, you’re
welcome, too.

If, however, you think that veterans benefits should be cut on a whim or some
pork barrel project, get out of here. If you believe that the people who have
sacrificed for our great nation deserve anything less than a higher care, get out.

If you are months behind on your membership dues, you’re out of here. Just
kidding about the dues. But, seriously, you need to get them paid up soon.

Welcome to the DAV 84™ National Convention. We’ve got a lot on our plates
this year and a whole new generation of veterans who need our help more than
ever. These men and women deserve our very best so let’s stay motivated and get
involved. Hoo-hah. Sempter Fi. Carry on. (Applause)

MR. ROB LEWIS: And now, let’s meet your DAV National Officers. At the
Past National Commander position, a rousing welcome for Alan Bowers;
(Applause) from Connersville, North Carolina, your National Chaplain, a
heavenly welcome for the Reverend Gerald Stump; (Applause) the pride of North
Dakota, your National Judge Advocate, Mike Dobmeier; (Applause) your National
Fourth Junior Vice Commander, a native from Del Rio, Texas, let’s hear it for
Bobby Barrera; your National Third Junior Vice Commander, from Illinois, a
rousing welcome for Raymond Dempsey; your National Second Junior Vice
Commander a native of Arlington, Virginia, Robert Reynolds; (Applause) your
National First Junior Vice Commander, from scenic Oregon, please give it up for
Brad Barton; (Applause) and last, but certainly not least, your National Senior
Vice Commander from Colorado Springs, Colorado, please welcome Paul Jackson.
(Applause)

SENIOR VICE COMMANDER PAUL JACKSON: Each year the National
Senior Vice Commander has the distinct pleasure of introducing the National
Commander for the purpose of presenting his report to the Convention delegates.

This year the honor falls on me. And I am so proud to introduce a man who
has lived up and often exceeded the expectation of leadership and commitments
we’ve come to expect from our national commanders.

In a time of war, National Commander Jim Sursely has inspired our
organization to reach new heights in building better lives for disabled American
veterans.

His passion for serving his fellow man, his charisma and fortitude will
probably go down in the annals of DAV history. Ladies and gentlemen, it is
certainly my sincere pleasure to introduce to you James E. Sursely, National
Commander of the Disabled American Veterans. (Standing Ovation)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Paul, for that very kind introduction
and good morning. I trust you are all ready to conduct the business of the Disabled
American Veterans at this, our 84™ National Convention. I know I am.

I also know that many of you came a great distance for this Convention and
thank you very much for being here. And thanks to all of you the DAV has had a
really great year.

Let me start by saying that I consider my year as your National Commander
as a tremendous honor and a great opportunity to catch a glimpse into the future of
our organization.

I can tell you that the future has much to offer -- great challenges, stunning
successes, and more opportunities for service. But let me first take a look back for
a moment.

The DAYV this year marks it’s 84" anniversary, a truly noteworthy milestone.
There has been a long list of great National Commanders who have served before
me, forming a continuous line of service for disabled veterans and their families.



That line was broken for some this year as we witnessed the passing of Past
National Commanders Oliver Meadows and Ed Heath. We will miss their
companionship, but we can be comforted in knowing that many more great
National Commanders will come in the future to fulfill their legacy.

As I look at my supportive and contributing National Officers I can see the
near future of the DAV and it is very impressive. They are truly remarkable
individuals who care about our organization and are steadfastly loyal to our
mission of service.

I have met thousands of members across this nation and spoken about the
needs of disabled veterans to school children, concerned citizens and members of
the Administration and Congress.

I have seen pride in the faces of those who hear our story and I have seen
concern when I discuss the issues facing today’s disabled veterans. I am confident
that our citizens will strongly oppose any serious legislative threats to the well-
being of disabled veterans and will support the needs of our nation’s veterans.

(Applause)

An example is the recent emergency legislation to cover a critical shortfall in
VA healthcare, a shortfall of some $1.5 billion for 2005. Had Congress and the
Administration listened to us in the first place there would have been no need for
such emergency legislation. (Applause)

But once the VA admitted it did not have enough funding to meet the
healthcare needs of veterans it was the public groundswell that convinced many
that VA healthcare funding should be a national priority. (Applause)

The people of America are with us but they need the knowledge to continue to
help us. It falls to us to take the lead and to ensure that the American people know
of the plans proposed by the Administration and our elected leaders in Washington
to shortchange veterans healthcare services and benefits.

Our outstanding professional national legislative staff is the best of the best
(Applause) and they provide us with both support and timely information we need
to protect our interests in Congress. (Applause)

They provide us with the tools we need to ensure that veterans will always
remain a national priority. (Applause) But it is up to us, the members of our
organization, to inform the American public and continue our legacy into the
future.

Membership in the DAV Commander’s Action Network is a big first step to
ensure that our benefits and healthcare remain in tact and whole. After all, these
are the benefits provided by a nation of grateful citizens for our service and
sacrifice.

Lawmakers should not be allowed to revise, reform and reinvent the system
that has for decades served disabled veterans and their families. (Applause)
Congress should restore, reaffirm and rely on the system that has cared for and
comforted generations of disabled veterans. (Applause)

Our organization is blessed to have intelligent and insightful leadership at
every level to meet the challenges that we have faced this past year and into the
future.

National Adjutant Arthur H. Wilson has been a close friend and supportive
advisor. With his treasure of knowledge resulting from an outstanding career of
service to veterans we are greatly blessed to have the finest leader of any veterans
service organization in Art. (Applause)

His confidence, support and strength helped me through this year. His
contributions cannot be understated. Art is one of our nation’s great leaders and a
fine man who is dedicated to our mission of building better lives for disabled
veterans and their families. (Applause)



Supporting Art and me are your outstanding Executive Directors, Rick
Patterson at National Headquarters in Cold Spring, Kentucky, and Dave Gorman
at the National Service and Legislative Headquarters in Washington, D.C.
(Applause)

They provided valuable guidance and foresight that enabled me to serve the
needs of DAV more successfully. And thanks to their highly professional staffs our
organization continues to carry out our mission of service and hope day-in and
day-out. (Applause)

And for that I am truly grateful and proud to be a part of the DAV.
(Applause) 1 want to especially thank our outstanding professional National
Service Officers who each day ensure that our mission is fulfilled in its most
meaningful way. (Applause)

They are truly outstanding young men and women who are devoting their lives
to care for veterans. My appreciation goes to the Transition Service Officers who
are working with our newest generation of veterans to ensure they receive the care
and support they need.

The DAV continues to be the leader in VA’s benefits delivery at discharge
initiative for these new veterans. (Applause) The VA last January began
consolidating the decision-making process of these claims to two regional
processing offices: Salt Lake City and Winston-Salem, North Carolina.

In Salt Lake City the DAV represented more than 60 percent of the claims
received by VA. DAYV represented nearly 50 percent of all the cases decided by the
Winston-Salem office. The numbers clearly show that the DAV is the leader in
representing these brave veterans of the Iraq War and the War against Terrorism.
(Applause)

In 88 offices throughout the United States and in Puerto Rico our corps of 260
National Service Officers with the assistance of 24 Transition Service Officers
assigned to various military installations diligently provide representation to
veterans and their families with claims for benefits.

Our NSOs also represented veterans and active-duty military personnel before
medical and physical evaluation boards and many other official panels.

Between July the 1%, 2004, and June the 30, 2005, our NSOs and TSOs
represented more than a quarter of a million veterans and their families in claims
for VA benefits, obtaining for them nearly $3 billion in new and retroactive
benefits. (Applause)

My thanks also go out to our chapter and department commanders and
adjutants, our dedicated chapter and department Service Officers, volunteers,
Transportation Network drivers and Hospital Service Coordinators.

And I thank each member for what they do every day to help their fellow
veterans. Without the support of our front-line members I could not have
succeeded. (Applause)

We have so much to be proud of and we did it together -- the national staff,
you, the leaders, and the 1.3 million other disabled veterans who make up this great
organization, the DAV. (Applause)

Our dedicated DAV and Auxiliary volunteers continue to lead our nation. In
the past year our more than 17,000 volunteers have donated nearly 2.4 million
hours of service to disabled veterans, a record unmatched by any other veterans
service organization. (Applause)

Our corps of volunteers continue to make our Transportation Network the
envy of veterans service organizations. Our program continues to show
tremendous growth as an indispensable resource for veterans.

Across the nation DAV Hospital Service Coordinators operate 183 active
programs. They have recruited 9,657 volunteer drivers who last year logged 26.6
million miles, taking 731,000 veterans to and from VA medical centers. (Applause)



Many of these veterans rode in vans the DAV donated to VA medical facilities
for use in the Transportation Network. DAV departments and chapters in
coordination with the national organization have now donated 1,668 vans to VA
medical centers nationwide at a cost of $34 million. (Applause)

Yes, our organization has achieved quite a lot this year. And all of us need to
continue to work hard to ensure that our government treats veterans as we deserve.
(Applause)

I have wonderful personal memories of this year of service. I shall always
remember and deeply appreciate the support I received from each of you as I
addressed the Joint Meeting of the House and Senate Veterans Affairs Committee
at the conclusion of our Mid-Winter Conference.

It was both a humbling and exciting experience. And I can tell you that the
standing ovation from our members who attended the meeting renewed my
strength of purpose and steeled my determination to communicate to lawmakers.
(Applause)

They clearly heard the DAV’s call for guaranteed funding for VA healthcare
and a fair and equitable program of disability compensation for all disabled
veterans, including military retirees. (Applause)

I was gratified when members of Congress later threw out the Administrations
contentious proposal of enrollment fees and higher prescription drug charges. This
was an important effort in support of disabled veterans. It proved to the
Administration and elected leaders that our organization has significant clout.

And I can tell you without a doubt that we are the most effective veterans
service organization in the world (Applause) and we’ve done it by staying with our
central mission to build better lives for disabled veterans and their families.
(Applause)

Another memory I have is when the President and I embraced during the
Inaugural Ball early this year. In effect it was a gracious gesture to disabled
veterans from the leader of our nation.

One of the most heartwarming events of my life, much less my year as National
Commander, was visiting the wounded from Iraq and Afghanistan at Walter Reed
Army Medical Center in Washington, D.C.

One of the veterans I met was Brian Kolfage who, like me, is a triple amputee.
Brian and I talked for quite a while and I could see both courage and pain in his
eyes. His spirit was overwhelming as was his determination to lead a full life.

There were many others I visited along with their parents, wives and loved
ones. In them I saw the future of our organization. Many of these young men and
women have joined our ranks and someday perhaps Brian Kolfage or someone like
him will become your National Commander. (Applause)

I am proud to tell you that your support has been needed by these soldiers and
marines and that your DAV has been brilliantly successful in helping them.

I’d like to ask those who have served in Afghanistan and Iraq that are with us
today to please stand if they can and be recognized by our grateful membership.
(Applause)

I want to thank each of you for your wonderful support. It has been an honor
to serve as your National Commander. As I perform my duties I know that I am
representing each of you.

With that responsibility in mind I know we will never fail. And to each of my
fellow National Officers goes my sincere thanks for all your support and all you’ve
done to make this year a tremendous success. (Applause)

As an optimist who looks forward to the future I have had my year of service
and I loved every minute of it. Now let’s get on with the future. (Standing
Ovation)

DELEGATE: Florida loves you, Jim. (Laughter)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you.



SENIOR VICE COMMANDER JACKSON: Commander Sursely, Jim, your
leadership and your devotion to our great organization will certainly be long
remembered. And I personally want to thank you.

But is this gentleman, Clofage -- is that what you call him? -- is he the long-
short for the National Commander this year? (Laughter) If so I take that back.
(Laughter)

But, sincerely Jim, you know it has been a great — you know what I think
about you and I think the other line officers you’ve been terrific and I’m sure that
you will remain a part of this great organization when your tenure is up. Thanks
again and let’s give him another round of applause, please. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: It’s not very often you get a Kkiss from a Marine.
(Laughter) At this time I would like to recognize the governing body of our
organization, the National Executive Committee. Gentlemen, please stand and be
recognized. (Applause)

James Nicholson was sworn in as Secretary of Veterans Affairs on February
1%, 2005. As Secretary of Veterans Affairs, Mr. Nicholson is charged with ensuring
that America’s veterans receive the care, support, recognition and dignity they
deserve for their service to our country.

He directs the federal government’s second largest Cabinet Department,
responsible for a nationwide system of healthcare services, benefits programs, and
national cemeteries for America’s veterans and dependents.

For the past three years, Mr. Nicholson served as U.S. Ambassador to the
Vatican. He is a graduate of West Point and served eight years active duty as a
paratrooper and Ranger-qualified Army officer.

In Vietnam he earned the Bronze Star Medal, the Combat Infantry Badge, the
Meritorious Service Medal with Oak Leaf Cluster, and the Vietnamese Cross for
Gallantry and two Air Medals. After 22 years in the Army Reserve, he retired with
the rank of full colonel.

Secretary Nicholson holds a Master’s Degree in Public Policy from Columbia
University and a Law Degree from the University of Denver. A successful
Colorado businessman, he was elected Chairman of the Republican National
Committee in 1997 where he served for four years, through the elections of 2000.

So, ladies and gentlemen, it is an honor and a pleasure to introduce Secretary
of Veterans Affairs, the Honorable R. James Nicholson. (Applause)

HONORABLE R. JAMES NICHOSON: Thank you, Jim. Thank you. Well,
good morning everyone and thank you, National Commander and friend, Jim
Sursely, for that introduction.

Chairman Bowers, Adjutant Wilson, other senior officers of the Disabled
American Veterans, my fellow veterans and ladies and gentlemen, I am very, very
happy to be here this morning and I want to thank you all for inviting me to come.

As we were getting off the plane yesterday evening, one of my security guys
said, “you know,” he said, “this is often called ‘lost wages.”” (Laughter)

And I said, “Have you had an experience like that?” And he said, “Well, no, it
hasn’t affected me.” He said, “The last time that I was here with your predecessor
I won $14,000 on the $2 slot machine.”

So this morning when we got up and I thought of this, when our host and the
Convention Chairman was saying that this is a city that never sleeps I asked this
security guy, “Darrell”, I said, “Well, how did you do last night?”

He said, “Well, I won $1,400.” So it’s true, he didn’t sleep I think and he
didn’t lose any wages. I also want to offer my salute to one of my former
comrades-in-arms that is here with us and you heard from him yesterday, General
Jim Anderson, that I served in the Army with that is doing a wonderful job now I
think talking about leadership and the blend, and the need for the blend of
competence and character.



Another good friend of mine is here and I think you’re about to also pay
homage to him, which is certainly due, and that is Colonel Oliver North, a guy that
has done a lot for veterans. (Applause)

And let me also salute Lois Pope who is here with us. I know the work that she
is doing for the creation of the American Veterans Disabled for Life Memorial in
Washington in her role as the president of the LIFE Foundation. I wish her well
and thank her for that effort, also. (Applause)

You know, this is my first DAV Convention, the first that I’ve had the
opportunity to be with you and address you at this momentous occasion so let me
say a word or two more about myself.

I was born in a very small town in the heartland of our country, Northwestern
Iowa, called Struble, Iowa. (Applause) And there’s an Iowan out there.
(Laughter)

And this town, there were 99 people there when I was growing up there. Now
it’s 68. (Laughter) But I had two of my classmates at West Point from the time we
were plebes couldn’t believe the stories I would tell about this town and they said
that if we graduate from here four years hence, pray God, I commit now to go
there and visit this place.

And by the grace of God we, all three, did graduate and they came. They saw
that when I said there are two signs identifying this town and they both say
“Resume Speed” (Laughter) that they were there, sure enough.

But my family unfortunately was very poor. My dad lost the family farm in
the Depression and then took up drinking very seriously. And my mother and we
seven kids were reduced to dire poverty.

We had to move around, occupying these unoccupied, vacated tenant houses
on farms, used to be for hired men before they got machinery. And it was tough.

But my mother through her faith, faith in God and her faith in this country,
held us together. And so here I am today, a member of the President’s Cabinet, a
former Ambassador to the Holy City.

I’m a very joyous husband of 38 years and a proud father. (Applause) I’m the
father of a veteran who was called to active duty for the Gulf War, by the way,
when he was a student at the University of Colorado.

I have had the opportunity to serve my country in the United States Army. I
received a college education at about the only price that my family could afford to
pay and that was at the U.S. Military Academy.

And there I learned the meaning of General Douglas McArthur’s words to the
Corps a year after I graduated of, “Duty, honor country.” Those three hallowed
words reverently dictate what you ought to be, what you can be, and what you will
be.

And they have dictated what I have tried to live up to which is the code of my
alma mater. My experiences there shaped my abilities I think not only as a soldier
but as a man. They made me want to serve my country and they now make me
appreciate my country so much.

So today as Secretary of the Department of Veterans Affairs I again have this
wonderful opportunity to serve, to give something back to our nation and to its
most prized citizens, its veterans. (Applause)

I feel particularly lucky to lead this department of our government. It’s the
keeper of President Lincoln’s promise to “care for him who shall have borne the
battle and for his widow and his orphan.”

It is my honor to fulfill this charge as our nation’s principal advocate for those
who bear the honored title of “American veteran.” And your organization’s stated
purpose, I note, has great resonance with President Lincoln’s admonition which is
building better lives for disabled veterans and their families.



So I’m here to salute you and to tell you how grateful I am for the longstanding
relationship that exists between the VA and the DAV. And I know that we at the
VA can only succeed if we work hand-in-hand in partnership with you and with
other veterans service organizations.

The DAV has always been an advocate, not only for disabled American
veterans but for the VA itself. You’ve always stood four-square in support of our
mission. You do now and I thank you for that.

This year we, the VA, celebrate our 74™ anniversary of the founding of the
modern Veterans Administration. This makes us the younger brother in our
relationship.

As you’ve been told several times already this morning, have been reminded,
you were founded ten years before we. This is your 85™ birthday and so happy
birthday and congratulations to you.

Let me tell you a story about two brothers I once knew. They were spending
the night at their grandparents’ house. At bedtime the two boys knelt beside their
beds to say their prayers.

And the youngest one began praying at the top of his lungs. “I pray for a new
bicycle,” he said. “I pray for a new X-box. I pray for a new DVD.” And his older
brother leaned over to him and nudged him gently and he said, “Why are you
shouting? God isn’t deaf.” And the little brother answered, “No, but grandma is.”
(Laughter)

Well, we at the VA are not deaf, either. We know your concerns. We know
that you’re worried about the status of our budget for Fiscal Year 2006 and
beyond.

We know that you and your members are concerned about timely access to
health care and the growing workload at our facilities. And we know that you want
the disparities in disability claims reduced and our national cemeteries to be
maintained as national shrines.

We hear you. We agree and we are taking action. Let’s begin by discussing
our healthcare system. I’m proud to say that today the VA is creating a healthcare
system worthy of the men and women that we are privileged to serve.

Earlier this year in an in-depth investigation by the “Washington Monthly” the
author wrote that ten years ago veterans’ hospitals were in a deep crisis.

But then he wrote, “Today’s warriors are returning to the nation’s best care.
Today’s VA is producing the highest-quality care in the country. VA’s turn-
around points the way toward solving America’s healthcare crisis.”

I am proud to say that that article was called, “The Best Care Anywhere.”
And more recently, just last month -- and I know many of you saw this -- the “U.S.
News and World Report” in their annual “Best Hospitals” issue wrote an article
about the VA’s transformation.

It was titled, “Military Might: Today’s VA Hospitals are Models of Top-Notch
Care.” And it tells the story of Augustine Martinez, a Navy veteran whose case
baffled doctors at Kaiser Permanente but who was quickly diagnosed and cured by
VA’s Palo Alto Medical Center. “I was fortunate I was a veteran” he said,
“Otherwise, I don’t think I would be here today.”

Our healthcare mission is not just about where we provide care but how well
we provide that care. We measure the kinds of things that matter: how easily
veterans are able to access our care; how satisfied they are with the care we
provide; and how well we’re able to restore them to the highest level of functioning.

We’ve used these measurements to set rigorous standards for the care we
provide, standards that enable us to demonstrate that the care we offer is truly
outstanding.

And I can say that because I didn’t have anything to do with making it that,
but it is. And as I travel about, including here this morning a man came up to me
to thank me for the care that he is getting at one of our hospitals.

10



We now lead the nation in 18 of 18 healthcare quality indicators for disease
prevention and treatment that are directly comparable with the other healthcare
organizations that have published data.

And that, therefore, is not just bragging, it’s the opinion of the Rand
Corporation, a non-profit research foundation which published those results in the
“Annals of Internal Medicine.”

Our computerized patient records system provides a single integrated
application to healthcare providers at all of our hospitals, nursing homes,
outpatient clinics, which number over 850 now, and readjustment counseling
centers.

Through the CPRS we can update a patient’s medical history, review any test
results, submit orders and access patient health information from any VA medical
center or clinic from anywhere in the United States.

No other integrated healthcare system in the world can make that claim. And
we are working towards a greater role for veterans in a new kind of healthcare.

We’ve designed a computer Website called, “My Healthy Vet” that gives
veterans enrolled with us access to their personal health records, online health
assessment tools, and high-quality consumer health information.

“My Healthy Vet” is easy to find and easy to use. Just click on
“myheath.va.gov” and you’re there. You’ll be taking an important first step. If
you’re enrolled for VA healthcare, this can be very, very helpful to you and helpful
in taking an active part in controlling your healthcare strategies, which we
welcome.

Let me thank you, members of the DAV, for your continued support of our
healthcare system and especially for those of you who having served our nation
once in uniform now serve us again as volunteers.

Some take part in the DAV’s Volunteer Transportation Network, helping to
transport veterans to our hospitals and clinics for their appointments. Others
serve as instructors in the Winter Sports Clinic that the VA and DAV jointly
sponsor every year to teach your fellow disabled veterans to ski and maybe more
importantly, I think, to show others what is possible in their lives.

And still others are among the 130,000 men and women who take part in the
largest centralized volunteer program in the federal government, helping patients
in our hospitals, nursing homes, vet centers and clinics in their recovery and their
rehabilitation.

Ed Hartman of the DAYV has just completed his term as chairman of the VA’s
Voluntary Service Advisory Committee. I understand that Ed is not here today,
that he and his wife Diane had a baby girl, but I am here to thank him for his
service.

Of course, providing veterans with quality healthcare is not our sole purpose.
From compensation and pensions to education, to home loan mortgage guarantees
and homeless programs, vocational training programs, benefits delivery figures
prominently in our mission.

You all know what a good news and bad news joke is. My wife is an artist and
she tells a story about one of her fellow painters whose husband received a visitor
while she was out.

The good news, he told her when she returned, was that the visitor asked him if
the value of her paintings was likely to go up after she died. And she he said, yes
the visitor bought every one of them. The bad news was that the visitor was her
doctor. (Laughter)

Now, I know there are concerns within the DAV about the disparities in
compensation and pension awards between facilities. And I want you to know that
I share that concern. And I do not minimize the importance of those disparities.

In this case that’s the bad news. But we are taking swift and decisive steps to
address the problem and I will not be satisfied with any answer that does not
completely restore more confidence in our system.
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The good news is that we made more than 1.4 million decisions on disability
claims last year, while our inventory of claims has gone down in the past three
years by nearly 100,000.

And the average processing time for claims was reduced by nearly one-third
while the quality of our rating decisions has significantly improved. The system is
not yet perfect and it does not yet satisfy me but we are making progress.

Finally, there is the third leg of our service to you, our national cemetery
system. For 1,800 veterans who pass away every day we are conducting the most
ambitious schedule of cemetery openings since the Civil War.

Five new cemeteries will soon be added to our 120 existing cemeteries. Six
others are in the planning stages. And by 2009 we will have nearly doubled our
cemetery capacity.

I mentioned younger brothers and older brothers before. Last year our
national cemetery system earned the highest consumer satisfaction ranking ever
achieved by a public organization in America, a 95 out of a possible 100.

So I’m going to brag again a little bit because when they got that rating my big
brother Jack was the Undersecretary for Memorial Affairs. 1 am very proud of
what he did there and I’m very proud of all of our cemetery employees who made
our cemeteries do so well and make them into the national shrines they are.
(Applause)

We have made great strides in many areas in our department and I expect that
together with DAV we will continue to make progress in the months and the years
ahead.

But everything that we’ve done so far will matter little if we do not meet the
newest challenge the VA faces, to ensure that veterans returning home from
Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom receive the level of
care they have earned through their service and their sacrifice. (Applause)

To date we have provided healthcare to more than 100,000 of their comrades
and coordinated the transfer of many seriously wounded veterans from military
treatment facilities to VA medical centers throughout the nation.

We have opened an office of seamless transition, bringing together healthcare
and benefits experts within VA to foster and coordinate the transition of these men
and women from active duty to civilian life.

We now have active duty Marine and Army officers helping to staff our
Seamless Transition Office to better effect the handoff at a very delicate time for
our veterans.

We have established four poly-trauma centers which provide coordinated
health and rehabilitation services to active duty service members and veterans who
have experienced severe injuries as a result of their service.

And we are extending our support and our services to the families of veterans
in these centers by including them in the recovery process and by working with
local supporters to provide family members with housing and assistance to help
them cope in distant cities near the hospitals.

We also need to be certain that the young men and women who put their lives
on hold to go to war are given every opportunity to join or rejoin the American
workforce once they return.

Approximately 40 percent — 40 percent -- of the 212,000 service men and
women who separated from active duty in 2004 were OIF/OEF veterans. And it is
unacceptable that the almost 1 in 5 of these recently separated veterans who are in
the age cohort of 20 to 24 years are unemployed. (Applause)

We’re working on this. The VA is developing a strategic partnership with
governors, national employer associations and our sister agencies and is preparing
to launch a national initiative to assist recently separated veterans to obtain
suitable jobs and to begin or to restart their civilian careers.
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This initiative is called “Fulfilling the Commitment: Coming Home to Work.”
We will strive to see that every recently separated veteran who can and who wants
to work will find a job. And they deserve no less. (Applause)

I have been to Iraq since I became Secretary and I have seen firsthand these
heroes in action. I have visited them at Walter Reed and Bethesda many times and
in our poly-trauma centers.

And I have seen these young people fighting the lifelong battle that all DAV
members must fight: the battle to restore their bodies and their minds to the
maximum level of functioning possible and to have a positive attitude to go along
with it.

I am inspired by their struggle as I am inspired by your example. I will not let
these heroes down. We are grateful to the DAV for your support as we help these
new heroes recover, restore and rebuild their lives. (Applause)

Will we have the funds to accomplish the many missions we’ve asked to
undertake? We must have them. Last month the President submitted to Congress
an Amendment to the Administration’s Fiscal 06 budget.

He asked for almost $2 billion more on top of his already record-setting
request and this is on the heels of a billion and a half that has been approved for
Fiscal €05.

With these additional funds access to our system will remain undiminished,
especially for low-income veterans, those with service-connected disabilities, special
needs, or who have recently returned from the combat theater.

I appreciate the support we have received in this from you and from our
supporters in Congress. Let me close with this. I am proud and privileged to lead
the department that is the keeper of America’s long-standing promise to do the
very best we can for those who served and sacrificed for us.

We are as committed to our oldest veterans from the trenches of World War II
as we are to our youngest heroes from the streets of Baghdad. I know that while
wars have beginnings and ends, the battle to properly care for those who fought
them never ends.

In these dangerous times I ask that your thoughts and prayers be with our
troops in the field today, our brave young comrades now fighting terrorism
throughout the world, fighting to suppress those people who, as the Pope used to
say, “Are killing in the name of God.”

God bless them and may God bless the Disabled American Veterans and may
God bless the United States of America. Thank you. (Standing Ovation)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Mr. Secretary, for those gracious
remarks. When I first met Lois Pope a few years ago I knew she was going to play
a very big part in what the DAYV is all about. She is a woman of conviction and a
woman of grace and compassion.

Lois not only adds a new dimension to the DAV’s mission of service and hope,
she also has brought about a new level of recognition for the achievements and
contribution of America’s disabled veterans through American Veterans’ Disabled
for Life Memorial and the Disabled Veterans LIFE Memorial Foundation.

It is my very great pleasure to introduce Lois Pope, co-founder and chairman
of the Disabled Veterans LIFE Memorial Foundation. (Applause)

MRS. LOIS POPE: Good morning. Good morning distinguished guests and
good morning unsung heroes of the 84™ National Convention. (Applause)

Art Wilson, myself and all of our wonderful staff at the Disabled Veterans
LIFE Memorial Foundation are working to create the one and only memorial in
Washington, D.C., dedicated to your sacrifices in defense of our freedom.
(Applause) Yes. (Applause)

I thank Art for his vision. He is a man of valor and an unsung hero, just as
your Commander, James Sursely, and all disabled veterans everywhere are unsung
heroes. And this memorial will assure that you will be unsung no more.
(Applause)

13



It will respect and honor your sacrifices forever and will be a vehicle for
teaching this and future generations that war is not just about bullets and bombs
and death and destruction.

It will be a teaching vehicle for this and future generations that war is about
human beings, unsung, all of you, like all of you, who are willing to give the utmost
of human sacrifices in defense of our freedom and democracy.

Our nation’s debt to the heroic men and valiant women disabled in the service
of our country can never be repaid. You -- you, have earned our nation’s undying
gratitude and the American Veterans Disabled for LIFE Memorial will honor your
sacrifices forever. (Applause)

So, ladies and gentlemen, let me say, “unsung heroes.” You say, “Unsung no
more.” Unsung heroes.

(Response of “Unsung no more.”)

MRS. POPE: Unsung heroes.

(Responses of “Unsung no more.”)

MRS. POPE: Unsung heroes.

(Response of “Unsung no more.”)

MRS. POPE: Thank you and God bless all of you. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you very much, Lois. It is my honor once
again to share the platform with our DAV Auxiliary National Commander
Gertrude Tidwell.

During my term as your National Commander I have had the pleasure and
privilege of seeing her exemplify the love, leadership and dedication that have so
ably guided the Auxiliary through the past year.

As my Auxiliary counterpart Gertrude has impressed me time and time again
with her untiring dedication, her limitless compassion and her capable leadership
in the Auxiliary.

Commander Tidwell and I have shared many travels and experiences during
our terms. And I can tell you without reservation that this wonderful woman who
has dedicated herself to helping the families of disabled veterans magnificently
represented the Auxiliary.

Here to deliver her report to the National Convention is my friend and truly an
exceptional woman, DAV Auxiliary National Commander Gertrude Tidwell.
(Applause)

DAV AUXILIARY COMMANDER GERTRUDE TIDWELL: Thank you,
Commander, for that so glowing introduction. It has been a wonderful opportunity
to serve with you during the past year.

Your kind consideration and experienced leadership have helped me make this
one of my best years ever. Your good looks didn’t hurt the cause any, either,
Commander. (Applause)

On behalf of the DAV Auxiliary I want to also extend greetings to all National
Officers, Past National Commanders, distinguished guests, delegates and members
of the Disabled American Veterans and the Auxiliary attending our 84™ National
Convention here in exciting Las Vegas. (Applause)

I chose “Love isn’t love until you give it away” as my theme for this year. I am
happy to tell you Auxiliary members have spread a lot of love among disabled
veterans and their families this year.

Spreading love and helping build better lives for disabled veterans and their
families is also a goal of a special group of dedicated and hardworking women who
assist me to guide our organization so expertly and productively during the past
year.

14



Please hold your applause until I have introduced them all: National Senior
Vice Commander Judy Steinhouse, North Dakota; National First Junior Vice
Commander Donna Tanner, Massachusetts; National Second Junior Vice
Commander Kathryn Wiley Washington; National Third Junior Vice Commander
Kay Egan, Florida; National Fourth Junior Vice Commander Donna Stinnett,
California; National Chaplain Melba Matlack, New Jersey; National Judge
Advocate and Past National Commander Shelia Allred, North Carolina; National
Adjutant and Past National Commander Maria Tedrow, Ohio; National Assistant
Adjutant Judy Hezlep, Ohio. (Applause)

At this point I would like to take a moment to remember Past National
Commander Janet Bennett who passed away on August the third.

(Moment of silence)

DAV AUXILIARY COMMANDER TIDWELL: Also on the dais are National
Auxiliary Convention Chairman Helen Parcelle and Ethel Bussey, Commander of
the Auxiliary State Department of Georgia.

Thank you, ladies. (Applause) Also seated in front of me are the Auxiliary
National Executive Committee members. Please stand and be recognized. Thank
you. (Applause)

As I visited Auxiliary units nationwide during the past year, I witnessed the
tremendous dedication and tireless assistance our members bring to serving
disabled veterans and their families. It made me so proud to be your National
Commander.

The disabled American veterans suffer the pain of our loved ones. We do all
in our power to nurture them and to make a meaningful improvement in their lives
through our work on their behalf.

With the growing number of disabled veterans returning from the wars of
Afghanistan and Iraq, our members are more determined than ever to continue
our mission of service alongside the DAV members. (Applause)

It is the right thing to do and the Auxiliary is the right organization to do it.
(Applause) We have shown those who need us that we will work together to wield
formidable legislative strength.

I can assure you the Auxiliary will use that strength alongside the DAV to
protect, improve, and advocate for benefits, services and programs for our families
in need. (Applause)

Legislation is our primary Aucxiliary goal and our members are quick to
respond to our dedicated DAYV legislative team in Washington through telephone
calls, letters, e-mails and personal visits to our elected leaders to continue to urge
their support of legislation benefiting veterans and their families. (Applause)

One of my most memorable moments as Auxiliary National Commander came
when I was invited to join Commander Sursely during his powerful address to the
Joint Veterans Affairs Committee in Washington, D.C.

Sitting there with other DAYV leaders I had no doubt what a powerful source
our great organization truly is for disabled veterans and their families. (Applause)

But even as I listened to his presentation and watched and listened as many of
the Joint Veterans Affairs Committee agreed with Commander Sursely, I knew our
quest for veterans benefits was not over.

We have much more to do to assure decent quality of life for disabled veterans
and their families. I also know the only way to make it happen is to stand strong
alongside DAV members. (Applause)

To maintain our strength and effectiveness we must continue our efforts to
grow as an organization. We have had a successful membership year but we can
and must do better in the future.

To promote our growth and strength, the Auxiliary undertook and
accomplished an historic event during the course of my year as your commander.
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I was tremendously proud to announce that as of February the 15™, 2005, the
Auxiliary ratified its constitution to include males meeting eligibility requirements
the opportunity to become Auxiliary members.

For the first time in our organization’s history we could now welcome: sons,
grandsons, husbands, fathers, brothers, and many others into the Auxiliary.
(Applause) This is a new opportunity for Auxiliary growth such as we’ve never
known before.

I can assure you the Auxiliary will use this opportunity to strengthen our
membership to better serve disabled veterans and their families as never before.
(Applause)

Auxiliary members continue to be a vital volunteer force at VA hospitals and
medical facilities nationwide. They provide care and comfort to hospitalized
veterans directly and indirectly through a host of volunteer positions.

Through their efforts volunteers strive to improve the quality of care in
bettering the lives and spirits of our hospitalized veterans. Volunteers know the
meaning of love. They gave immeasurable amounts of love to hospital veterans
every day of the year.

Many Transportation Network drivers, also Auxiliary members, they drive
DAYV vans donated to the VA mile after mile to ensure sick and disabled veterans
get to and from VA medical facilities for needed care.

I have encouraged and witnessed the great Auxiliary Service Support Program
has on the Auxiliary members who have no where else to go. Contributors who
support the Auxiliary Service Support Program give their life and assistance to
members who truly need our help and need it right away.

Your continued support means Auxiliary members will be able to receive
needed assistance for years to come. It is a wonderful cause, certainly worthy of
our love and support. (Applause)

Instilling respect for veterans and a better understanding of patriotism within
our communities is a worthy cause. It is a cause the Auxiliary supports through the
Americanism program.

The Americanism program is an effective outreach tool, especially suitable for
educating countless school children and youth programs annually. These
programs and activities and so much more makes the Auxiliary a truly great
organization.

It also makes us an important partner alongside the DAV as we work together
to build better lives for America’s disabled veterans and their families.

I am fortunate to have witnessed Auxiliary members making real and
meaningful differences in the lives of disabled veterans and their families. And
where I could not venture due to illness our members represented our organization
notably.

Such was the case when I was unable due to health and other commitments to
attend the Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic in Colorado this year. The
Auxiliary was there to sponsor and volunteer in this event that can only be
described as Miracles on a Mountainside.

I was proud to know the Auxiliary was there to support seriously disabled
veterans skiing and participating in other programs that challenge and encourage
their rehabilitation and self-esteem.

To positively affect the lives of hundreds of seriously disabled veterans each
year by supporting the Winter Sports Clinic is heartwarming. To know that many
of them are recently disabled military men and women who are no older than the
grandchildren of many of us in this room is awe-inspiring.

It is also awe-inspiring to know the well being of young veterans disabled in
places like Iraq and Afghanistan while serving their country depend in large
measure on what we accomplish here to serve them in the future.
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Our work is not done. We will have much more to achieve and such to
maintain. But know this, the DAV and the DAV Auxiliary, we will do it together,
working side by side. (Applause)

Working side by side so long as we’re ever needed because “love isn’t love until
you give it away” and there are many out there who still need our love. (Standing
Ovation)

I have a presentation to make to Commander Sursely. It says, “Presented to
James E. Sursely, National Commander, in appreciation for distinguished service
given to Disabled American Veterans Auxiliary.” It’s signed by National Adjutant
Maria M. Tedrow and National Commander Gertrude Tidwell. Jim. (Applause)
Thank you, Jim. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Gertrude, for a tremendous year as
Auxiliary National Commander and we’re certainly proud to have you and all the
Auxiliary by our side every day. (Applause)

Late last year Fox Television host Oliver North and producer-director Steven
Tierney of “War Stories with Oliver North” came to the DAV with an idea about a
program showing the medical advances that help amputees.

They sought amputees from previous wars to talk about their rehabilitation
and living life without limbs. But as they worked on their report they found a
bigger story -- the story of thousands of amputees and millions of disabled veterans.
It was the story of the DAV.

In telling the story Oliver and Steven told ours. And in appreciation the DAV
created its first Bugle Award, recognizing their contribution of the media on behalf
of our nation’s veterans.

The contributions made by Oliver North and Steven Tierney and all of those
associated with the program related the stories of the courage and sacrifice of our
nation’s veterans.

I’d like to take a moment to recognize in our audience today a very important
part of the “War Stories” program, Executive Producer Pamela Brown. Would
you please stand and be recognized. (Applause)

DELEGATE: She’s not here.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Okay. The reverence and respect with which
these individuals view veterans is evident in the program seen by millions of
Americans. Oliver and Steven did their best to honor our veterans -- and they do it
every week, all year long. In doing so they chose to tell our nation the DAYV story.

(Whereupon, a video was presented.)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Oliver and Steven display extraordinary
commitment to produce weekly documentaries telling the history of our nation’s
veterans.

This new Bugle Award recognizes their outstanding reporting and
programming on vital public issues relating to veterans as well as telling stories
that honor our nation’s disabled veterans and their families.

Their exemplary reporting on behalf of disabled veterans has given our
citizens insight into the lives of disabled veterans and understanding that service is
a lifelong commitment.

The determined, talented, and caring presentation about disabled veterans on
“War Stories with Oliver North” has greatly aided and comforted the brave men
and women who have placed their lives in harm’s way in defense of freedom and
democracy.

Ladies and gentlemen, the recipients of the first DAV Bugle Awards — Oliver
North and Steven Tierney. (Standing Ovation)

MR. STEVEN TIERNEY: Thank you very much for the award, it’s beautiful.
I just want to say that when I started researching this show I wasn’t sure really
what direction I wanted to go in so one of the first things I did was I went to the
DAYV Gala at the Mandarin Hotel in New York. And I didn’t know what to expect.
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I didn’t have a lot of knowledge on the subject. But when I got there the pride
and the camaraderie and the strength in that room just overwhelmed me.

And I knew that if I could find some way of translating what I saw and what I
felt in that room to the TV screen I could make a really good show that would do
justice to these men who have sacrificed so much for this country.

So I just want to say that I’d like to thank some of the men from the DAV who
gave me a little bit of guidance, pointed the direction when I needed it. That’s
Arthur Wilson, David Gorman who you actually saw in that clip, Tom Wilborn
and Gary Weaver.

And as far as Fox News goes, Oliver and I get a lot of support. I’m from a staff
of about ten people but Oliver and I get a lot of support from Fox Chairman Roger
Ailes and Senior Vice President Bill Shine who give us the resources to make shows
like this.

And Pamela Brown unfortunately wasn’t able to come tonight. She had to go
to Alaska to do a thing in global warming. (Laughter) And I envy her. But her
skill and guidance in making “War Stories” is invaluable to all of us, not just me.

And most of all I’d like to thank Ollie, the man behind me, because without his
knowledge -- he has an extensive and passionate knowledge of military history.

And you know we get in these friendly arguments about what happened and
what didn’t happen. (Laughter) And he dots the “i’s” and he crosses the “t’s” but
the show comes out, the viewer mail very rarely criticizes our facts and that’s
usually due to him.

So, I just want to say in closing that as a citizen of the United States I have
never been in the military but through this show I’ve met so many veterans that I
just want to offer you my deepest respect and gratitude for what you have
sacrificed for this country.

The people I’ve met just doing this episode were amazing. Bobby Barrera at
the end was one of the interview subjects and there are others here I hope.

But you’ve all changed my way of thinking about the military and the veterans
and the way they should be treated and I’ll treasure this award and thank you very
much. (Applause) Thank you.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you. Thank you, Steven.

COLONEL OLIVER NORTH: I’m not going to kiss you, either, Commander
Sursely. (Laughter) Please know that for all of us at Fox News that we are
particularly grateful.

I want you to know that Steve Tierney’s dad fought in the Philippines and was
a veteran of the recapture of the Philippines so he does have a passion. (Applause)
And thankfully all of those who work on this have that same thing.

We are all, all of us, inspired by the stories that veterans have allowed us to
document, whether it’s on the battlefields of Iraq and Afghanistan or those who are
veterans of wars past.

Our job is the best in the whole business. All we do for a living is hang around
with heroes. Unfortunately our modern definition of the word has been stretched
to include all manner of people who do not warrant the title.

The athlete who just set a new sports record, the fellow who has just decided
that he is now an adventurer to climb Mount Everest in solo isn’t a hero.

They may be brave but they’re not heroes because real heroes are, as you
know, selfless. Real heroes are people who wittingly put themselves into harm’s
way for the benefit of another.

And through self-sacrifice and fortitude and action whether they succeed or
fail heroes provide a moral and ethical framework for all of us. You know what I
mean because this is a room full of heroes. (Applause)

Each one of you, as members of the DAYV as I, each one of you in the Auxiliary,
each one of you know the meaning of self-sacrifice and pain and suffering, all the
consequence of serving our country.
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You are living proof that our lives are not defined by what happens to us but
by how we respond to what is happening. You are proof that we are not defined by
life by what it brings to us but by how we respond with determination to what has
happened to us in life.

Every day you show others that you may not ever know that we’re not here to
simply endure the future, we’re here to change it for the good. We’re not simply
helpless creatures in some desperately uneven contest, we’re all sons and daughters
of Adam blessed with unique gifts and talents designed for doing good.

And what the DAV does is help people use those gifts and talents who might
otherwise never have the chance. And you have proven as well that we’re not here
to complain about the steepness of the climb but to reach out and help others on a
course that is often difficult and sometimes downright perilous.

Your courage and perseverance and your faith in the face of fear and loss are
an inspiration to a whole new generation that need those virtues in equal measure
as yours.

It is thanks to you and to those who serve today that we have hope that our
nation will remain “the home of the brave and the land of the free.” Thank you
very much. (Standing Ovation)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, gentlemen. The DAV’s role as a
benefactor for disabled veterans and their families is clearly visible in its
Transportation Network.

Many of you will recall that in June of 2003 Ford Motor Company celebrated
its 100™ Anniversary. To help commemorate that milestone the DAV’s National
Organization and its departments and chapters donated a record 211 new vans to
the VA to provide transportation for sick and disabled veterans at medical facilities
in 42 states. (Applause)

While not a record-setter, this year DAV’s donation of 119 new Ford vans is
substantial and represents an investment of more than $2.5 million. (Applause)
The combined total of all vans donated since 1987 to VA medical centers
nationwide now stands at 1,668 with a value of more than $34 million. (Applause)

Joining us today from Ford Motor Company with some important news is Mr.
Dennis Cirbes. Prior to his retirement last year Dennis was Vice President of
Labor Affairs at Ford Motor Company.

While on active duty with Ford Mr. Cirbes managed labor policy and
negotiations covering the company’s approximately 235,000 hourly employees
worldwide.

Mr. Cirbes joined Ford in 1972 and during his career held various managerial
positions in Personnel Planning and Industrial Relations, including several plant
labor positions.

He is a native of Cleveland, Ohio, and he joins us today with his lovely wife
Carol. Ladies and gentlemen, please give a warm DAV welcome to Dennis Cirbes.
Dennis. (Applause)

MR. DENNIS CIRBES: Thank you. And thank you, Commander Sursely, for
that great introduction. I didn’t realize I had accomplished that much in the 33
years I was with Ford so it’s nice to be reminded every once in a while.

I would also like to thank Gerald Ogle for his history lesson on Las Vegas. 1
always thought that the King of Rock and Roll coined the term “Viva Las Vegas.”
(Laughter)

I didn’t realize it had been around for 100 years so you learn something every
day I guess. It’s a pleasure to be here today as we kick off the 84™ DAV National
Convention. I am honored to represent Ford Motor Company at this year’s event.

Having served with the 101* Airborne in Vietnam in 1970, I can personally tell
you that I know the importance of this organization’s work and I’m proud to be
here marking such an important occasion with my fellow United States veterans.
(Applause)
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For 83 years Ford has had a relationship with the DAV. Henry Ford and Ford
Motor Company first partnered with this great organization in 1922 during the
Second National Convention of the Veterans of World War.

Today Bill Ford, our Chairman and CEO, continues to believe it is important
to support organizations like the DAV whose work and initiatives help to build
better communities for all of us in America.

At Ford we are continuing to improve the quality of life and the opportunities
for all of the people who live and work in the communities where we do business.
We hope that our continued relationship with the DAV will help both of us to
accomplish this together.

We know that what you do is extremely valuable and that is why we have
supported your efforts through vehicle donations, scholarship programs and
special purchase programs.

Over the years Ford has been honored to help provide mobility and to serve
veterans’ transportation needs in every state in the U.S. of A. It is a way for Ford
Motor Company to assist the veterans who have served our country.

Likewise, since 2001, you have shown your appreciation to us by purchasing
thousands of vehicles through the Ford Partnership Recognition Program. To date
DAYV members and their families have purchased more than 9,700 vehicles. That’s
a phenomenal number and we appreciate it and salute you for it. Thank you.
(Applause)

And today I am here to reaffirm Ford’s continued support of the DAV through
a donation of an additional eight new E340 passenger vans for the use of hauling
veterans to hospitals and treatments throughout the country.

Commander Sursely and National Adjutant Wilson will you please join me at
the podium. On behalf of every Ford Motor Company employee I would like to
present you with this ceremonial key. (Applause)

(Whereupon, Mr. Cirbes presented the ceremonial key to Commander Sursely
and Adjutant Wilson.)

MR. CIRBES: And before you go back to your seats I would also like to
announce today that Ford is providing $50,000 to the Jesse Brown Memorial Youth
Scholarship Fund. (Applause)

(Whereupon, Mr. Cirbes presented a ceremonial check to Commander Sursely
and Adjutant Wilson.)

MR. CIRBES: This gift honors the spirit of Jesse Brown, a man known for his
dedication, leadership and his compassion. You know the DAV has a wonderful
history and a bright future because of its leaders.

Today I want to recognize two very important individuals who have served this
past year: National Commander James Sursely, Auxiliary National Commander
Gertrude Tidwell. (Applause)

(Whereupon, gifts were presented to National Commander Sursely and
Auxiliary National Commander Tidwell.)

MR. CIRBES: They are getting a replica of a Ford GT. (Laughter) And
although Jay Leno was one of the first people to buy a Ford GT, I would really like
to see Gertrude behind the wheel of one of them. (Applause) I think she could
handle that 500-plus horsepower without any trouble at all. (Laughter)

But this is Ford’s way of showing our appreciation for the hard work,
dedication, that both James and Gertrude have experienced and shown us over the
past year. Thank you so much and you have truly made a difference in the lives of
many veterans.

Now the DAYV has always stood up for America and the men and women that
have served this great nation -- and so has Ford Motor Company. Thanks to each
of you for your leadership, dedication, to service and for your flat-out hard work.
You are heroes in every since of the word.
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And a special thanks to those of you that drive Ford Motor Company
products. Again, we appreciate your support. Enjoy the rest of the Convention
and remember, “What happens in Vegas stays in Vegas.” (Laughter) Thank you
very much. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Dennis, I want to say that we are deeply grateful
and overwhelmed by Ford’s compassion and kindness, today and always. These
eight new vans -- provided without cost to the DAV -- continue more than 83 years
of cooperation between Ford Motor Company and the DAV.

Since 1996 Ford has now donated — yes, I said “donated” -— to the DAV a total
of 116 vans worth approximately $2 million. (Applause) As a worldwide leader in
automotive engineering and innovations Ford embodies the vision, benevolence and
wisdom that proves the “bottom line” isn’t always about dollars and cents.

Ford’s commitment to our nation’s sick and disabled veterans beautifully
illustrates the blueprint for corporate citizens in America. On behalf of the more
than 1.3 million members of the Disabled American Veterans and our Auxiliary
please accept our heartfelt thanks for providing these beautiful vans to our
Transportation Network. (Applause)

I am pleased to acknowledge Ford’s continuing support of the Jesse Brown
Memorial Youth Scholarship Program which recognizes deserving young men and
women who donate their time and compassion to help sick and disabled veterans in
VA medical centers.

To say we are proud of our affiliation with Ford is a gross understatement.
Thank you, Dennis, Sandy Ulsh, Sandra Nicholls, and all the great folks at Ford
who help support the DAV’s service programs. (Applause)

The Outstanding Disabled Veteran of the Year Award each year goes to an
individual who exemplifies service to disabled veterans and their families.

It is our highest and most prestigious award. And this year the award will be
presented to John Devine. To learn a little more about our Outstanding Disabled
Veteran of the Year, please join me in watching this film.

(Whereupon, the film was viewed.)

COMMANDER SURSELY: I want you to know that it is a very special day
for me as well, too, because John and I have been friends for about six years.

We have had the opportunity to go antelope hunting together in Montana and
numerous occasions at the National Winter Sports Clinic. So it is a great honor to
present to you the 2005 Outstanding Disabled Veteran of the Year, John Devine.
(Standing Ovation)

MR. JOHN DEVINE: That’s something else. Jim, this Marine is not going to
kiss you, either. (Laughter) I’m tempted. It’s just beautiful. It was some video.

Jim Hall and your staff, you did a fantastic job on that and I can’t believe how
well it came out. I thank you for your hard work. I’d like to personally thank Sy
Gitland. He’s the fellow who nominated me for this position.

At one of our meetings in Chapter 76 Sy said, “I want to nominate you for
Veteran of the Year.” And I just, I kind of shook it off. “Okay, go ahead,” because
1 didn’t think I’d be standing up here today.

And Sy is a World War 1I vet, a fellow Brooklynite. And he landed on D-Day.
(Applause) And I respect him greatly. Thank you, Sy. I’d also like to thank my
other members and friends at DAV 76 and National Amputation Foundation.

They were very helpful to me over the years and my father, we met on Ryerson
Street and went down there for some VA business and my father says, “You stick
with these guys. They know the benefits and they’ll help you.” And they have.

And I learned the benefits, too, you know to a pretty good extent and now I’m
able to help the new guys that are coming down. And I’d like to thank the DAV
because I’m a beneficiary of these recreational programs.

I’ve been involved at the National Amputee Golf Association. Early on I got
involved in that and I met a lot of veterans there. I have felt at home. It was good
therapy for me.
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I saw the National Commander’s Trophy being awarded over the years. And I
didn’t know my day would be coming, too. And the DAV puts on a great show.
They’re going to have it next week in Bethpage, New York, and I’m volunteered up
for that one, too. I’ll be doing the leg work — pun intended. (Applause)

I’m also involved in the DAV Winter Sports Clinic which I refer to as the
“Greatest Show on Earth.” I got involved in that eight years ago and I really went
out there to take my kids skiing.

I thought it would be a nice place to take them skiing in Crested Butte,
Colorado, and I got hooked. And I’m now addicted to golf and skiing. I can’t wait
for September to come. Bowling season starts and it’s going to get cold.

When it gets cold it’s going to start snowing and I’m ready. And that guy in
the video is having fun. There is no doubt about it. And I am having fun. I am
enjoying my life.

And I can tell you that in April of 1968 it was not that way. I was not a happy
camper. I was angry. I had a very poor self image. I was emotionally distraught.
I was angry, in plenty of pain.

And I remember the first day I came home and it wasn’t a joyous day. It
wasn’t the way I expected to come home. And it was Labor Day weekend of 1968.

And I thought I would come home to relax, watch some TV and eat some of my
mother’s fine cooking. Little did I know that my father invited half of Brooklyn to
come to my house to visit me. (Laughter)

And he said, “Come on. You’ve got to come out in the yard.” And at that time
I had a cast on my left leg up to my thigh. My right leg, of course, was amputated.

And I said, “What are you nuts? I’m not going outside. I don’t want to see
anybody. Get these people out of here. Please, dad.” So it was a good Irish party
and no one was going home and they were hanging out. (Laughter)

My new room was the TV room downstairs and I was sitting there looking at
my collection of trophies from all my sports and looking at my leg gone and
everybody feeling no pain coming in there telling me, “Hey, you’re going to do
great. You’re going to do this.” And oh, I just want to go back to that hospital.
Let me out of here. I was not having a good weekend.

During that night my mother sat down on the bed. And it was very easy in
those days for me to cry. You just had to look at me crooked and I started crying.
And my mother sat where my leg would have been.

1 said, “Mom, you’d be sitting on my leg right now if I had it.” She said, “Well,
you don’t.” And we started crying. I mean real crying. And I said, “That’s it,
Mom, no more tears.” I told her that I’d beat this thing and do good. And I did.

Things got good. I had kids and I wanted to live and be an example to them. I
didn’t want to be one of those stereotypical Vietnam veterans that I detest.

I want to be a leader. I want to show them how to do it right. And that’s
basically how I live my life. So, the reason I’m telling you all this is because
everybody here is faced with a challenge.

You don’t have to be a disabled veteran to be face with challenges. We’re
people, human beings. And an important thing that helped me is I didn’t listen to
the word “no.” I saw something I want, I would go after it.

But I had a little voice in my head that would tell me, “No” and it would deny
me and it was frustrating and it was a struggle. I could tell you it like was freaky.

I could not go out in public without my prosthesis on. It was like being afraid
of an elevator, like the doors would open and you wouldn’t get on it. And I denied
myself stuff.

And I was able to beat that demon down and enjoy life. And it happened
progressively over the years. And things are going good and I had a lot of help
along the way and I would like to thank some of those people that helped me.

Peggy, my beautiful sister, you were there the whole time. Even though you
had a pretty big part in that video and hogged a lot of the time, I still love you
dearly. (Laughter)
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My cousin, Tom Devine, you’re like my brother. Every time I have a crisis I
call him up. And Tom goes way back. We lived across the street from each other.
You taught me how to swim.

He gave me his baseball glove. You may not remember this, Tom, but I loved
that baseball glove. A kid and his baseball glove, I slept with it. He taught me how
to swim.

And I’m telling you I was a little kid. I was like five years old at the most.
People would say, “You can’t bring him out that far.” He was like, “Why not?”
We’d go out swimming in the creeks of Brooklyn.

We’d go to Coney Island. We’d go on the Thunderbolt. They’d say, “That kid
is too small. He can’t come on the Thunderbolt.” For those guys to say no to a
buck, you’ve got to be tiny not to get on those roller coasters because they want
every dollar they can get. (Laughter)

So I would have to wait on the side of the ride for Tom to take the ride and
come and get me. Now, my mother never knew he did that because you don’t leave
a kid on the side of Coney Island on a ride while you take the ride, especially like a
five-year old. But, Tom, I love you dearly. He’s out here taking pictures
someplace. (Applause)

Tom — I’ve got a lot of Tom’s in my life, my Godson, Senior Chief Tom Conte,
and I’m very proud of you. I see you there, baby. I admire your career in the
Navy. You did everything in the military I wanted to do but history stopped me.
And I’m with you all the way.

That other Tom here, a voice from the past, and up until yesterday the last
time I saw Corporal Tom Heyder was on Charlie Ridge when the shells were
bursting in air. And Tom and I met for the first time yesterday in thirty-something
years and thank you for coming here, Tom. I appreciate it. (Applause)

Last year I met Fred Crowley up in Aspen. He’s like the unofficial mayor of
Aspen. He’s a stand-up guy, a can-do Marine helping everybody any way he can.
Fred, I respect you for coming down here. Thank you very much.

Bob Black, I’ll meet you in Utah. We ski all the time together. Gail, Peggy’s
friend, my friend, thank you for coming. Eddie, my brother-in-law, you’re a good
man. And let’s see, I think I got everybody, right? Did I miss anybody? Oh, yes.
Oh, yes, I missed somebody.

I get my strength from seeing all you folks do what you do. And a few years
ago I met a man that I think of constantly now because I use him as a role model —
I know you don’t like hearing that word — and he’s there.

He is a legend in the Rockies. He joined the Marines, did his time in peacetime
and it’s just the way history works out. He would have been a great warrior if the
time had come, I know it.

He served the Utah State Troopers for several years, injured in the line of
duty, lost his eyesight. He shot a lot of people down. Bill Watters is a skiing legend
in Utah and I met him at the Winter Sports Clinic. And, Bill, I love you.
(Applause)

At the sKi clinic -- which I can’t tell you how much I like the Disabled Veterans
Ski Clinic. It is great. When I went to Crested Butte, Colorado, for the first,
Snowmass for the first time I was just starting to get the skiing down, this
monoskiing.

And I got a new instructor and I said, “Don’t you think I should be tethered
until I get the feel of this mountain?” He said, “No.” You know, okay. And he
said, “I’ll watch you and then I’ll tell you where to go.”

So we’re going down to the lift and he says, “Go right. Go right.” And I go
right and I’m going to some strange lift. There is nobody there. It’s like empty.
The other one has 100 people at it.
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He says, “We’re going to take you up to the top.” I go, “The top? I’m just
starting out.” “Yes, you’ve got it. You can do it.” So we’re riding up to the top on
the lift and I go, “How did they stick me with this psych? Oh, my God, what am I
going to do?” (Laughter)

But Bob Lindley, I respect you for coming down here and I appreciate the time
and effort. Every year he’s there training skiers and thank you very much.
(Applause)

I just want to say, this is not the end of John Devine. I’m just going to keep on
going on. Like I say, I can’t wait for September. Bowling season starts. I’m in two
leagues. I can’t wait to go skiing.

What’s new for me? I am now going to become a ski instructor because last
year in Utah I -- (Applause) Thank you. Last year in Utah I had the opportunity
of being a role model I guess you would call it for a young lady who had cancer.

That was one of the most touching experiences that I had in my life watching
this smile on this young lady’s face. And that’s all it took to motivate me.

And I’d like to introduce my family to you. First of all I’d like my wife
Caroline to come up here for a second. (Applause)

MRS. CAROLINE DEVINE: I’m just very proud of this man. That’s all I --

MR. DEVINE: I didn’t tell you to talk. (Laughter)

MRS. DEVINE: All right, no.

MR. DEVINE: That’s all right. I would just like to say behind every good
man there is a good woman and here she is. (Applause) She sees the other side of
me.

She sees me growling, cursing, punching the walls, generally getting ticked off
at whatever the reason that sets me off. And on September 6 of this year we’ll have
25 years of marriage under our belts and I want to publicly thank her. (Applause)

And we have been blessed. No two parents could be more joyful than us at
God’s grace of granting us two beautiful daughters, my daughters Kimberly and
Susan. (Applause)

I’d like to just leave a challenge for everybody. Go for that little thing that is
saying no in your head. Suppress it. Go for it. Do it. You’re not too old. You’re
not too young or whatever.

I didn’t start the ski clinic until eight years ago so just do that and I’ll be
happy. I’d like to thank the DAV and God bless America and Semper Fi.
(Standing Ovation)

COMMANDER SURSELY: John, thank you again, buddy.

DELEGATE: Go ahead and kiss him. (Laughter)

COMMANDER SURSELY: I’m sure that you will join me in extending our
thanks and appreciation to John Devine for his example and service to disabled
American veterans and their families.

John, thank you very much. (Applause) Boy, I’m getting a lot of kisses from
Marines today. (Laughter) I don’t know whether that’s good or bad. (Laughter)

At this time I would like to introduce Auxiliary National Adjutant and Past
National Commander Maria Tedrow for a special presentation.  Maria.
(Applause)

AUXILIARY NATIONAL ADJUTANT MARIA M. TEDROW: Good
morning. You know everybody is saying, “What stays in Vegas or what happens in
Vegas stays in Vegas.” Well, I’m here but nothing is happening. (Laughter)

Commander Sursely, thank you for your introduction. Good morning
National Officers, Past National Commanders, distinguished guests, delegates and
members of the Disabled American Veterans and Auxiliary at this, our 84"
National Convention.

This is a truly special time for the DAV Auxiliary, The presentation of a DAV
Auxiliary Past National Commander’s Outstanding Auxiliary Member of the Year
Award.
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The DAV Auxiliary Past National Commander’s Outstanding Auxiliary
Member of the Year Award was established to recognize the contributions and
dedication of an outstanding Auxiliary member whose efforts enhance the goals of
the Auxiliary and the DAV and for the service she lends to her community.

This year it is with sadness that I state that we have lost two Past National
Commanders, Loneita Shoemaker of Arkansas and just last week Janet Bennett of
Nevada. However, at this time we are here to salute a member who has been
outstanding.

Ethel Bussey of DAV Auxiliary Unit 10 in Augusta, Georgia, is all of this and
much more. She is eligible for Auxiliary membership through her late husband,
Henry J. Bussey, a disabled World War 1II and Korean War veteran who served a
total of 36 years in the military.

And just to show how much she loves veterans, when she remarried several
years ago she married Harvey A. Mears, Sr., also a disabled veteran who served in
World War II and the Korean War.

Ethel has spent most of her life helping and nurturing others. Her many
activities and thousands of volunteer hours of service are a testament to her love
and to her concern.

She currently serves as commander of the State Department of Georgia and a
VA Voluntary Service Deputy Representative at the VA medical center in Augusta.
She is also very active in Unit 10 where she has served several terms as unit
commander.

Her Unit activities include shipping Christmas boxes to U.S. military men and
women serving in Iraq, helping with all the chapter Forget-me-not drives, helping
distribute Christmas stockings to veterans at the Georgia War Veterans Nursing
Home, and the Veterans Administration Hospital in Augusta, and much more.

She especially enjoys working with junior Auxiliary members and involves
them in many unit activities. Working with young people comes naturally to Ethel.

She is Number 9 in a family of 11 children who grew up on a farm with their
mother and father in South Carolina. In that big, loving family Ethel was molded
into a loving, caring and responsible person.

In high school Ethel maintained an A average which helped her obtain a loan
from the National Beta Club. She used the loan to launch her training as an
executive secretary, eventually carving out a career in secretarial and
administrative work as a Civil Service employee.

Her work included eleven years at Fort Gordon, Georgia, where she earned a
Commander’s Commendation and administrative secretary at the Augusta VA
Medical Center where she worked until retirement.

Ethel employs professional expertise and talents in arts and crafts to help
others. And most recently she helped junior Auxiliary members collect toys and
gifts for a six-year old cancer patient at St. Jude’s Hospital.

She also organizes junior members to visit and assist elderly neighbors and to
collect items for the Fischer House at Fort Gordon. Several years ago Ethel opened
her heart and home to an 82-year old veteran with lung cancer and his 71-year old
wife to save the couple the four-hour trip they would be forced to make frequently
to and from the VA medical center.

For no charge she cared for the veteran and accompanied him to his
treatments at the medical center until his death eleven months later.

Ladies and gentlemen, it is all of these wonderful works and much more that
makes it such an honor to present to you Ethel Bussey, the DAV Auxiliary Past
National Commander’s Outstanding Auxiliary Member of the Year. (Standing
Ovation)

Ethel, on behalf of the Past National Commanders of the Disabled American
Veterans Auxiliary it is indeed an honor to present to you the Outstanding
Auxiliary Member of the Year Award for 2005. Congratulations.
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MRS. ETHEL BUSSEY: Thank you. (Applause) Good morning. National
Commander Gertrude, National DAV Commander James Sursely, National
Adjutant Maria, Past National Commanders, national line officers, members and
guests, I was advised that I could say a few words this morning if I wanted to but I
couldn’t talk any longer than an hour. (Laughter) So I worked very hard,
narrowed my speech down to one page, (Laughter) so it shouldn’t take longer than
about 55 minutes. (Laughter)

I thank all of you for this award. Without all of us working together no award
or no accomplishment could be. So we all work to achieve anything that is possible.

I want to thank the Past National Commanders for selecting me for this award.
I want to thank my sponsor who is a Past Department Commander of Georgia,
Beulah Paulson for submitting my name.

And I also say thanks to my family who have stood beside me, encouraged me
and been my mentors for anything that I endeavored to do.

When I began my career as a Civil Service employee I worked at Fort Gordon,
Georgia. My assignment during that time became secretary to the commanding
officer of the United States Southeastern Signal School at Fort Gordon.

And upon my departure from Fort Gordon I was presented with the
Commandant’s Commendation. And I held that with high esteem because at that
time I was the second civilian to receive that award within the past 23 years.

I have held that as the high award but now this one shall take its place as
higher than it. (Applause) I will take this award back to Georgia and I will share
it with all of them as well as anyone else that would like to be included.

And this year we in Georgia plan to continue helping any veteran, any families,
anyone we can, by hopping along all over Georgia and from place to place to help
our disabled veterans.

You know, it never hurts to help someone. And when you help someone else it
helps you. I thank all of you and I pray that we’ll all have a wonderful Convention,
have a safe trip home, and we are grateful for this DAV/DAVA Convention here in
Las Vegas. Thank you all so very much. (Standing Ovation)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Mrs. Bussey, and congratulations to
you. Each year the DAV presents the prestigious George H. Seal Awards to honor
the remarkable volunteers who serve disabled veterans and their families through
the Department of Veterans Affairs Voluntary Service Program.

The awards are conferred in memory of George H. Seal, a DAV Director of
Membership and Voluntary Services and a leading organizer and administrator of
the DAV/VAVS program from 1952 until his death in 1977.

Ladies and gentlemen, this year’s George H. Seal Award winners are Troy
Bowling of Lexington, Kentucky and Ruth Bier of Austin, Texas. (Applause)

The commitment and dedication of Troy Bowling is truly amazing. He has
served our hospital volunteers in many ways over many years and always displayed
the kindness and compassion so common among all of our volunteers.

Troy has donated more than 56,000 hours volunteering to VA medical centers.
That’s equivalent to 27 years of consecutive 40-hour weeks. (Applause)
Absolutely.

He has spent the last 40 years contributing as a volunteer in the DAV Service
Office at the Lexington, Kentucky, Medical Center. Most recently he has compiled
volunteer data, processed new volunteers and encouraged other veterans to
volunteer.

Troy has an enviable record of service to disabled American veterans.
Everyone who meets him comes away impressed with his interest, compassion and
his dedication to helping veterans.

His lifetime of service began as a United States Marine Corps machine gunner
in the Pacific. Landing in the first wave on Iwo Jima, his unit suffered terrible
shell fire, killing most of the men in his unit.
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Unconscious, he was left for dead. When Troy awoke he found that the
survivors of his unit had moved on and he joined another company. With this new
company he was involved in an assault on an enemy bunker.

Troy threw gas grenades through the bunker potholes to flush out the enemy
who came out shooting and Troy was wounded in the chest and leg. Again, he was
left for dead.

A Marine combat photographer later discovered the wounded Troy among the
dead and got a medical team to take him to an evacuation center. Troy faced years
of recovery and during that time the volunteers serving other veterans impressed
him.

It was the DAV volunteers who came to their aid. So when Troy recovered he
became a DAYV volunteer to help others and still does to this day.

Ladies and gentlemen, it gives me great pleasure to introduce the 2005 DAV
member recipient of the George H. seal Memorial Trophy, Mr. Troy Bowling.
(Standing Ovation)

The inscription on the award reads: “George H. Seal Memorial Award
Winner 2005, DAV, Mr. Troy Bowling, Lexington VA Medical Center, Kentucky.”
Troy, will you share remarks with us, please.

MR. TROY BOWLING: Good morning everyone. I understand we’re
running short of time so I will put it into high gear and say a double-time march.
(Laughter)

Mr. Commander, Adjutant Wilson, all the national, state, chapter members,
officers, and guests, first I wish to thank Mr. Greg Anderson, Chief of Voluntary
Service, Lexington VA Medical Center, for nominating me for this prestigious
award and to the members of the National DAV Committee who chose me as a
winner.

I am honored to even be considered much less be awarded the George Seal
Trophy. I have been asked many times why I have given a lifetime of volunteers.

I simply say I lay on the black sands of Iwo Jima bleeding profusely from a
bullet in the left chest, two corpsmen got to me quickly, patched me up and stopped
the bleeding.

As I lay there I looked to the heavens and said, “Lord, get me out of this hell
hole and I will give the rest of my life to mankind as best that I can.” (Applause)

It so happened while I was in the VA hospital I met up with a National Service
Officer. After he assisted me I simply asked, “How can I return the favor?” He
told me, “Get involved in the DAV. We will find plenty for you to do.”

I did this and became an Assistant State Service Officer and then a State
Service Officer for 38 years so the National Service Officers and I have quite
something in common.

The past 13 years I have been working with the Chief of the Volunteer Service
Office, Lexington, Kentucky, doing the many different types of work that goes with
that office.

Volunteering has saved my life. If you lay down you will die. Staying busy
keeps the mind thinking and working bodies working. I am still here as proof of
that.

One more piece of advice to our young vets, those young vets who are here
today, show your appreciation in your working for us. But there are those out
there who got their heads in the sand and are not doing anything to help.

And it’s up to you to get out there and get those fellows, get their heads out of
the sand and tell them to help our cause. I have not regretted one minute of my 51
years of voluntary service.

In closing I wish to wish you a great Convention. May God bless America, our
military, and especially those in battle and those that have given the country for
their all. As we say in the Marine Corps, Semper Fi, always faithful. Thank you.
(Standing Ovation)
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COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you and congratulations, Mr. Bowling.
The 2005 George H. Seal Award for the Outstanding DAV Auxiliary member goes
to Ruth Bier of Austin, Texas.

Ruth has donated nearly 36,000 hours which amounts to more than 17 years as
a full-time volunteer. She performs a variety of volunteer services at the Central
Texas Veterans Healthcare System Outpatient Clinic in Austin, Texas.

She handles the day-to-day activities and services for volunteers and patients
and coordinates the DAV Transportation Network. Ruth began volunteering at
military hospitals while her husband was stationed in Germany.

When they returned to the United States Ruth served with a first aid unit
traveling to military bases. She joined the DAV Voluntary Services Program in
1971 and has been volunteering with the DAYV ever since.

Unfortunately, Ruth is unable to be with us today to accept her award but I
know that she is delighted and sends her thanks to all of you. (Applause)

At the 2003 Mid-Winter Conference our National Executive Committee
approved renaming our youth volunteer scholarship program in honor of late
Secretary and former DAV Executive Director Jesse Brown.

This year the DAYV selected 12 outstanding young volunteers to receive cash
awards under the Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarship Program. The Jesse
Brown Memorial Youth Scholarship Program honors outstanding young
volunteers who are active participants in the Department of Veterans Affairs
Voluntary Service Programs.

These scholarships are awarded to deserving young men and women who have
donated their time and compassion to sick and disabled veterans in their
communities.

Each of this year’s winners reflects the spirit and dedication of the
scholarship’s namesake, Jesse Brown, who deeply believed in accomplishment
before success. Our scholarship winners have certainly accomplished much in the
role as volunteers.

The first place scholarship of $15,000 was awarded to Andrew B. Layton of
Battle Creek, Michigan, who contributed more than 182 hours of service at the
Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center in Battle Creek, Michigan.
(Applause)

Andrew is an author, television producer, and historian who is dedicated to
telling the story of veterans before they are forever lost to history. He is also an
exceptional volunteer at the VA Medical Center where he meets many of the
subjects for his historical accounts.

He spent many hours researching, writing and interviewing aviators for his
book, “Wolverines in the Sky” which profiles the military stories of 56 Michigan
pilots who distinguished themselves as aviators.

Andrew became the lead youth producer for video productions on veterans,
each taking about 20 hours to prepare. The first one was about Medal of Honor
recipient Duane Dewey. That interview led to many others.

Associated with the Library of Congress Veterans History Project, Andrew
helped other youth assistants in interviewing, scanning photos, and producing
videos using computer technology. Some of his video productions have been
telecast on local television.

Andrew has created a history where none existed before, and he did it all
before he was 17 years old. Ladies and gentlemen, the 2005 Jesse Brown Memorial
Youth Scholarship recipient, Andrew Layton. (Standing Ovation)

MR. ANDREW B. LAYTON: Well, first of all, let me thank you all for the
incredible honor of this award and for the opportunity to be here with you today in
Las Vegas.

Earlier in this week when we were preparing for our trip out here I thought
back to the day in April when I was first informed that I had been chosen to be
here to receive this scholarship today.
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The gentleman who called me kept saying, “Congratulations, you won” and so
on. And he kept talking about this free trip to Las Vegas and $15,000 and all this
stuff.

And first I thought it was a prank call because I didn’t even know that I had
been submitted for this award or anything. But it was the Volunteer Coordinators
at our local VA center who nominated me for it and I’m grateful to them.

But since then I’ve done quite a bit of research online about Mr. Brown and
his contributions to our country and I have to say that receiving this honor in his
name is quite humbling.

A few days ago I was even able to find a copy of his 2000 speech to this very
convention in Reno and he kept talking about all the people who had supported
him during his lifetime, “cheering him on” as he put it. And I think in a small way
I can maybe relate to him.

There have been a lot of people over the past few years who I have gotten to
know through my involvement with veterans, specifically at the VA center, and
among those are Margaret Trunik Nancy Babcock, Todd Greenman, and Belinda
Murray who make up the Volunteer Services Department at our VA center in
Battle Creek -- and of course my mom and dad, Joe and Amy Layton, and my
brother Dan who couldn’t be here today.

And certainly none of this would have taken place if it had not been for the
many veterans who have graciously taken the time to talk to me about their
experiences.

I think it’s a great thing that through the Veterans History Project and the
Library of Congress and some of their initiatives that they have taken that we can
record and preserve these interviews with our nation’s veterans so that when we in
this room are all gone members of future generations will be able to sit down and
listen to a World War II veteran tell what it was like, what it really felt like, to
spend nearly a year in a Nazi prison camp, wondering at the age of 19 if he would
ever walk again because his legs had been shattered by shrapnel when his B-17
went down and listen to him as if he was sitting there right in the room with him.

That’s the kind of history lesson you could never get from a textbook and I
think it’s a worthy cause and we try to preserve these stories while we can.

But for me volunteering with veterans has been an all-around great
experience. I’ve gained more knowledge than I could ever have imagined, not only
about our country and our nation’s past conflicts but also about the computer
technology and methods of preservation that we use to record these interviews.

When I started out as an interviewer three summers ago at the VA center I can
guarantee that I never thought that I would be here today to receive this award.

So once again thank you for this great honor and this opportunity to be here
today. I have to say I’m a little speechless over this honor but at a time like this
what can you say but thank you, Lord. (Standing Ovation)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Andrew and congratulations to you.
The young men and women who received this year’s scholarship exhibit
outstanding compassion and a devotion to serve veterans as volunteers at VA
medical centers and facilities.

The quality of their character, the reverence in which they view veterans,
make them excellent volunteers. They give their best to help our veterans.

For the record I would like to mention the other scholarship winners. The
second place scholarship of $10,000 went to Ann Marie Sobocinski of Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. Two third place awards of $7,500 went to Felicia Ashley Bracey of
Richmond, Virginia and Philip Nodhturft, I11, of Temple Terrace, Florida.

The $5,000 scholarship winners are: Marissa Mignon Jones of Crystal
Springs, Mississippi; Linda Saleh of Massillon, Ohio; Neil Rangwani of Bedford,
Massachusetts; Shazim Uppal of Hockessin, Delaware; Brody J. Pav of Largo,
Florida; Jared T. Bryant of Topeka, Kansas; Karissa L. Wrock of Dearborn
Heights, Michigan; and Jennifer Snow of Eagle Point, Oregon. (Applause)
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We had many, many other deserving candidates for the Jesse Brown Memorial
Youth Scholarship this year. It is heartwarming to know the dedication of these
young men and women who seek to serve those who served them.

They are certainly rewarded for their services to disabled veterans, not only by
the scholarships but also by the experience of volunteering.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Ladies and gentlemen, if you will please rise I
will ask Chaplain Stump to lead us in a closing prayer.

CHAPLAIN STUMP: Commander, as we close I want to say that as the
pastor of this great organization, you have done wonders for the Marine Corps.
(Laughter)

I can remember when if you got kissed by a Marine a different instrument was
used. (Laughter) But you have brought us a long way and thank you for that.
(Laughter)

Let’s recess for lunch in prayer. Father, we thank You for all that has
transpired here. We thank You for Your Spirit that has just permeated this
meeting.

We thank You for all of those who received these so-deserved rewards. We
thank You for their service and we look forward to even greater things as You
move them on for the benefit of all.

As we recess now to lunch we ask that You use these refreshing moments to
refresh us. Thank you for that which we are about to receive. Return us here
again as we assemble to get about Your business. For God’s glory we pray. Amen.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Chaplain. The Convention stands in
recess until 1:00 this afternoon.

(Whereupon, the meeting recessed at 12:05 o’clock p.m. August 14, 2005.)

FIRST BUSINESS SESSION
August 14, 2005

The First Business Session of the Disabled American Veterans 84™ National
Convention reconvened in the Events Center of Bally’s Las Vegas, Las Vegas,
Nevada, Sunday afternoon, August 14, 2005, and was called to order at 1:15 o’clock
p-m. by National Commander James E. Sursely.

COMMANDER SURSELY: The Convention will come to order. In opening
the first business session of the 84 National Convention of the Disabled American
Veterans, it is fitting and proper that we render respect due the flag. Hand salute,
two. Reverend Stump, will you lead us in prayer.

CHAPLAIN STUMP: Praise the Lord of Hosts for the Lord is good. His
faithful love endures forever. Our Father, we are thankful, Lord, for this time of
recess. We are anxious to get back about Your business.

We invoke Your presence. We thank You for that which has been
accomplished and we look forward to recognizing and awarding those who deserve
that and to go about Your business. Lead us. Lead our Commander. Lead our
Adjutant. For God’s glory we ask it. Amen.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Chaplain. In order for a delegate to
be heard at this Convention, you must be recognized by the Chair. Only those
delegates at a microphone will be recognized. The delegate must state their name,
chapter number and the state they represents.

Comrades, the Rules are a continuing part of our Bylaws. They are part and
parcel of Article 3, and remain in effect continually. They are subject to
amendment as provided in the Bylaws.

The Chair entertains a motion to adopt the Rules of the Convention.

MR. KENNETH G. MUSSELMANN: Commander, Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. MUSSELMANN: Musselmann, Past National Commander, California. 1
have two amendments to the Rules that I would like to offer at this time.
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COMMANDER SURSELY: Please.

MR. MUSSELMANN: If it’s okay with you, Commander, I’ll take each one
separately.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Okay.

MR. MUSSELMANN: The first one is Article 3, Section 3.10, Rule 1, to
amend the article by removing “Roberts Rules of Order, Revised” and substitute
“Roberts Rules of Order, Newly Revised” so that the amended rule will read as
follows:

Roberts’ Rules of Order, Newly Revised, will govern except as herein
specifically stated.

At this time, Comrade Commander, I make a motion to adopt this amendment.

COMMANDER SURSELY: You heard the motion. Do we have a second?

MR. GEORGE H. STEESE JR.: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Chapter 1 California, seconds.

COMMANDER SURSELY: We have a motion and a second, all those in favor
signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered.

MR. MUSSELMANN: The second amendment is Article 3, Section 3.10, Rule
21d, and in the fourth line, in the fourth-to-the-last line omit the word “may” and
substitute the word “shall” and omit the last three lines and substitute with the
words “and voted upon on the day of adjournment” so the amended rule will read
as follows:

Committee on Constitution and Bylaws. This Committee shall give
consideration to those resolutions which pertain to the proposed amendments to
the National Constitution and National Bylaws.

It shall give advice to the National Headquarters on the official ritual and also
consider all matters relative to DAV Auxiliaries and other subordinate units of the
Disabled American Veterans insofar as they may affect proposed amendments to
the National Constitution and Bylaws.

All proposed amendments shall be read to the Convention no later than the
second day prior to the scheduled day of adjournment of the Convention and
voting thereon shall begin the following business day, except proposals referred to
the Committee by other Convention Committees too late for reading on that date
or resolutions originating in the Committee. Such amendments shall be read and
voted upon on the day of adjournment.

Comrade Commander, I make a motion to adopt this amendment to the rules.

COMMANDER SURSELY: We have a motion. Do I hear a second?

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Chapter 1 California, seconds.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, George. We have a motion and a
second. All those in favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered.

Okay, I have skipped over a very important part of the program so we’re
going to have to back up. We’re going to have to skip over that rules change, both
of them, and go back to calling on the Credentials Committee for its first report.

MS. MARY J. BENCIVENGA: Comrade Commander, officers, and
delegates, the National Convention Committee on Credentials was called to order
this morning in Skyview 1 at the Bally’s Hotel for its first business session on
8/14/2005 by the advisors, Michael J. Walsh, Michael E. Dobmeier and Anthony
Baskerville.

The first order of business was the election of the Credentials Committee
Chairman. Mary Bencivenga was nominated for chairman. There being no further
nominations, Mary Bencivenga was elected chairman.

The next order of business was the nomination and the election of a secretary.
Sloan H. Hoopes was nominated and elected as secretary. Roll call showed 1,271
delegates and 47 alternates present.
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This is a partial report for the informational purposes only and reflects the
registration at the close of registration at 4:00 p.m. on August 13", 2005.

At the present time we have 507 chapters, 46 departments, 31 National
Officers, 12 Past National Officers or Commanders for a total of 1,271 delegates
and 47 alternates for a total vote of 1,064. This completes the partial report of the
Credentials Committee, Commander.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mary, thank you for that report. Shall we start
over, Ken? (Laughter) Comrades, the Rules are a continuing part of our Bylaws.
They are part and parcel of Article 3 and remain in effect continually.

They are subject to amendment as provided in the Bylaws. The Chair
entertains a motion to adopt the Rules of the Convention.

MR. MUSSELMANN: Commander, Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. MUSSELMANN: Ken Musselmann, Past National Commander,
California. A point of order, Commander, is this because I didn’t come up there
and give you a Kkiss this morning? (Laughter)

But, anyway, Commander, I have two changes to the Rules of the Convention
I’d like to offer at this time and if it’s okay with you I’ll do them separately.

COMMANDER SURSELY: That would be great.

MR. MUSSELMANN: Thank you. (Laughter) Changes to Article 3, Section
3.10, Rule 1, remove “Roberts Rules of Order, Revised” and substitute “Roberts
Rules of Order, Newly Revised,” so that the amended Rule will read as follows:

Roberts’ Rules of Order, Newly Revised, will govern except as herein after
specifically stated.

Commander, at this time I offer a motion to accept the rule change.

COMMANDER SURSELY: We have a motion. Do I hear a second?

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2, go ahead, George.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Chapter 1 California, seconds.

COMMANDER SURSELY: We have a motion and a second. All those in
favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered.

MR. MUSSELMANN: Thank you, Commander. Change to Article 3, Section
3.10, Rule 21d, in the fourth-to-the-last line omit the word “may” and substitute the
word “shall” and omit the last three lines and substitute with the words “and voted
upon on the day of adjournment” so that the amended Rule will read as follows:

Committee on Constitution and Bylaws. This Committee shall give
consideration to those resolutions which pertain to the proposed amendments to
the National Constitution and National Bylaws.

It shall give advice to the National Headquarters on the official ritual and also
consider all matters relative to DAV Auxiliaries and other subordinate units of the
Disabled American Veterans insofar as they may affect proposed amendments to
the National Constitution and Bylaws.

All proposed amendments shall be read to the Convention no later than the
second day prior to the scheduled day of adjournment of the Convention and
voting thereon shall begin the following business day, except proposals referred to
that Committee by other Convention Committees too late for reading on that date
or resolutions originating in the Committee. Such amendments shall be read and
voted upon on the day of adjournment.

Comrade Commander, I offer a motion to accept this amendment to Rule 21d.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Ken. We have a motion. Do I hear a
second?

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Past National Commander, California, seconds.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, George. We have a motion and a
second. All those in favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered.
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I will now ask the National Adjutant to read the DAV’s Statement of Policy.

ADJUTANT WILSON: The Disabled American Veterans was founded on the
principle that this nation’s first duty to veterans is the rehabilitation and welfare of
its wartime disabled. This principle envisions:

1. High quality hospital and medical care provided by the Department of
Veterans Affairs for veterans with disabilities incurred in or aggravated by service
in America’s armed forces.

2. Adequate compensation for the loss resulting from such service-connected
disabilities.

3. Vocational rehabilitation and/or education to help disabled veterans
prepare for and obtain gainful employment.

4. Enhanced opportunities for employment and preferential job placement so
that the remaining ability of the disabled veteran is used productively.

5. Adequate compensation to the surviving spouses and dependents of
veterans whose deaths are held to be service-connected under the laws
administered by the Department of Veterans Affairs.

6. Enhanced outreach to ensure that all disabled veterans receive all benefits
they have earned and that the American people understand and respect the needs
these veterans encounter as a result of their disabilities.

It therefore follows that we will not take action on any resolution that proposes
legislation designed to provide benefits for veterans, their surviving spouses and
dependents which are based upon other than wartime service-connected disability.

We shall not oppose legislation beneficial to those veterans not classified as
service-connected disabled except when it is evident that such legislation will
jeopardize benefits for service-connected disabled veterans.

While our first duty as an organization is to assist the service-connected
disabled, their surviving spouses and dependents, we shall within the limits of our
resources assist others in filing, perfecting and prosecuting their claims for
benefits.

Since this represents the principle upon which our organization was founded
and since it is as sound at this time as it was in 1920, we hereby reaffirm this
principle as the policy for the Disabled American Veterans.”

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Art. The Chair will entertain a
motion for the adoption of the DAV Statement of Policy.

MR. WILLIAM T. CAYWOOD: Mike 1.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 1.

MR. CAYWOOD: Bill Caywood, from 60, Indiana, I make the motion to
adopt the Statement of Policy.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Okay, we have a motion. Do I hear a second?

MR. DENNIS JOYNER: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. JOYNER: Dennis Joyner, delegate, Chapter 104 Florida, seconds that.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Dennis. We have a motion and a
second. All those in favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered.

MR. JOYNER: Commander, I would like to request a point of personal
privilege.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Yes, sir.

MR. JOYNER: I’m Dennis Joyner, Past National Commander and delegate
from Chapter 104 in Florida. I would like to take this opportunity to make a
motion to adopt the National Commander’s report that was so eloquently given this
morning at the Opening Session.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Dennis. We have a motion to accept
the report. Do we have a second?

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Past National Commander, seconds that.
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COMMANDER SURSELY: George, thank you. We have a motion and a
second. All those in favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered. We are now
going to have the introduction of the National Executive Committee.

MR. ROB LEWIS: Ladies and gentlemen, I would like to introduce the
National Executive Committee. Please hold your applause until I have introduced
all of the members.

John F. Regan, First District of Massachusetts; John J. Skyler, Second District
of New York; Stephen C. Moffitt, Third District of Rhode Island; Richard E.
Manners, Fourth District of New Jersey; Kirk Lindsey, Fifth District of
Pennsylvania; Robert V. Richard, Sr., Sixth District of District of Columbia;
Richard “Dick” Giese, Seventh District of Florida; Harold J. Hicks, Eighth District
of Alabama; Bobby G. Williams, Ninth District of North Carolina; Morris
Penermon, Tenth District of Michigan; William L. Moseley, Eleventh District of
Ohio, Norman J. Resner, Twelfth District of Illinois; William T. Caywood,
Thirteenth District of Indiana; Richard C. Amos, Fourteenth District of South
Dakota; Lyle J. Dean, Fifteenth District of Iowa; Dennis W. Weber, Sixteenth
District of California; Billy F. Jones, Sr., Seventeenth District of New Mexico;
William D. Brzezinski, Eighteenth District of Nevada; Jimmey D. Mayo,
Nineteenth District of Alaska; L. Duke Hendershot, Twentieth District of Texas;
and David Spurgin, Twenty-First District of Arkansas. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: We’re going to take one step backwards again
and what we did before was we adopted amendments to the Rules, but we did not
adopt the Rules to the Convention so we need to entertain a motion to adopt the
Rules to the Convention.

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. MUSSELMANN: Ken Musselmann, Past National Commander,
California, I make the motion to adopt the Rules of the Convention.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Ken. Do we have a second?

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Past National Commander California, seconds.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, George. We have a motion and a
second to adopt the Rules. All those in favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So
ordered.

I would also like to take this opportunity to recognize my National Chief of
Staff, Ed Barnshaw; Officer of the Day John Haynes; and Sergeant-at-Arms Al
Sorrentino. Stand up and be recognized. (Applause)

Our organization is blessed with competent leadership. There are so many
individuals who contribute to our mission on a daily basis. And leading our
members and professional staff is our National Adjutant Art Wilson.

Art is a leader who demonstrates vision, initiative and dedication to our
mission. Art’s loyalty and steadfast commitment to service have not only greatly
enhanced our organization but more importantly the lives of millions of disabled
veterans and their families.

His insight to recognize what is needed and necessary and his strength of
character propel our organization to the forefront.

Leaders in Washington will quickly tell you the DAYV is the preeminent
veterans service organization and it is the result of Art’s leadership. For more than
39 years Art Wilson has dedicated himself to serving disabled veterans and their
families with energy and integrity.

Initially a National Service Officer — the first Vietnam veteran to enter the
DAV’s National Service Program — Art moved up through the ranks of our NSO
corps to supervisory positions, then on to the National Appeals Office at the Board
of Veterans’ Appeals in Washington.
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After his extensive experience as top-service officer, Art was named the
National Service Director in Washington, overseeing all of the DAV’s service
programs.

His 12 years in that position allowed Art to craft our National Service corps
into a professional, efficient, knowledgeable group of men and women with a total
commitment of service to our disabled veterans and their families.

Since Art’s appointment as National Adjutant in 1994, his superb leadership
and commitment to the organization’s ideals led to an extraordinary revival of the
DAV.

He energized the DAV with a power that hasn’t been seen since the early days
of Judge Marx. Ladies and gentlemen, here to present his report to the National
Convention is my friend and your friend, our National Adjutant Art Wilson.
(Standing Ovation)

ADJUTANT WILSON: Thank you, Commander. Good morning, everyone.
It’s always a pleasure to be a part of our annual gathering — so many friends,
colleagues and fellow DAV members and their families.

Every year we come as one spirit of togetherness to accomplish the important
business of our organization and have some fun as well. It’s just such a great
experience.

And serving you as your National Adjutant continues to be one of the greatest
honors a person could have. Thank you for allowing me to serve all of you.
(Applause)

I think that the best part of it is being able to witness first-hand the impact our
mission of service and hope has on the lives of disabled veterans and their families
all across America.

In the video you’ll see in a moment we’ll share with you some of our best
moments of this past year as we continue to fulfill our mission. And thanks to the
steadfast support, commitment and exceptional leadership of National Commander
Jim Sursely this has been a truly extraordinary year. (Applause)

Thank you, Commander, for all that you do for the DAV. It has been a
personal honor for me and the entire DAV staff to have you leading the way.
(Applause)

I know it has been a very busy year for you, Commander, and I hope it will be
a year that you and Jeannie will look back on with a well-deserved sense of pride
and accomplishment. Thank you and your line officers for everything you’ve done
to help make this past year a huge success. (Applause)

Let me also commend you, Commander, on your deep personal commitment to
our newest generation of disabled veterans. That immediate and genuine
connection between you and those brave men and women injured in Iraq and
Afghanistan is a poignant reminder of what the DAYV Is all about.

As you met and talked with them, I could see in their eyes how much more at
ease your presence made them feel. And thanks to your compassion and
courageous example they now have a point of reference as they go about the
business of rebuilding their own lives. Thank you, Commander, for reminding us
of who we are and why we’re here. (Applause)

Now, please enjoy this short film highlighting a year to remember. This film
was produced by our National Communications Department and offers you a mini-
review of the life and times of the DAV during the past twelve months, with a few
light-hearted moments as well.

(Whereupon, a film was viewed.)

ADJUTANT WILSON: As you just saw, it’s been another successful year for
the DAV. And you can be very proud of your role in our successes.

One who would be so very proud to be with us here today passed away earlier
this month. There wasn’t time to include him in our year in review, but I want to
recognize retired National Service Officer Bill Leach.
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Bill faithfully devoted 47 years of his life to building better lives for America’s
disabled veterans and their families. It was a remarkable achievement for a man
who literally grew up in the DAV. You see, Bill’s father was also a National Service
Officer and Supervisor in the same St. Louis office.

Their work on behalf of veterans and their families over two generations is a
stunning tribute to both men. Like many other leaders who passed away during
the last year, Bill’s service to our nation’s disabled veterans was his highest calling.

Bill knew he was a part of a magnificent team of men and women dedicated to
serving our nation’s disabled veterans and their families — people just like you.

Because everything we do is a team effort, it is your hard work that makes it
happen for all of us. The success of the last year is your success story, so go ahead
and enjoy it. (Applause)

You know, we’ve been successful because throughout our history veterans
have been able to count on our being there for them in their time of need. It’s been
our mission for 85 years and it will continue to be our mission for as long as
veterans need us.

We, more than anyone else, understand why there needs to be a DAYV,
especially now with so many of our fellow Americans returning from Iragq,
Afghanistan, and all over the world bearing the wounds an scars of war. Yes, war
is an ugly business, made even more so when it affects someone you know.

And, sadly, this war has struck too close to home as some of us have lost loved
ones or have had family and friends return home wounded and disabled. Our
hearts go out to them, and we are reminded in very stark terms about why the
DAYV continues to be just as necessary today as when we were founded.

We all know the story about our beginnings, the story of a combat-disabled
World War I Infantry captain, Judge Robert Marx, and his tireless drive to unite
groups of disabled veterans from the far-flung corners of America.

And believe me, ours is indeed a story of success, from our earliest days right
on up to today. But as we all know, success doesn’t just happen. It takes a lot of
hard work.

It took a great deal of hard work for Judge Marx and his comrades to establish
the deep roots that would allow the DAV to become, and remain, a powerhouse in
veterans affairs. (Applause)

It took a lot of hard work, but our founders fielded a nationwide claims filing
assistance effort that would evolve into today’s National Service Program.

And that led to the creation of what is now the National Service Foundation
that was set up to help fund and protect the Claims Assistance Program.

What those World War I veterans found when they returned home was a
country that was ill-equipped to deal with their unique needs. The nation’s
economy was reeling.

And even after years of war, our government still did not have a coherent plan
for caring for injured and disabled veterans. So our founders were determined to
make a difference, to make a future for themselves and other disabled veterans.

They worked tirelessly to address the problems disabled veterans faced and
came quickly to the conclusion that a new approach was needed. Their response
was truly radical — a complete overhaul of veterans programs, but with one simple
principal always uppermost in their minds: to do what’s right for veterans.

And in time, through the efforts of the DAV and others, a single federal agency
was created to oversee a comprehensive system of health care, disability and
pension benefits, and rehabilitation and job training programs.

That agency is now the Department of Veterans Affairs which is celebrating
it’s 75™ anniversary this year. But consolidating any confusing array of
government programs under a single government agency wasn’t a cure-all.
Disabled veterans still had a struggle on their hands in the post-war years.
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The Bonus Army encampments in our nation’s capital during the Great
Depression are an enduring reminder of how hard veterans have had to work to
overcome the effects of neglect and even ill-treatment at the hands of our
government.

This great organization was formed as our country struggled to deal with the
painful effects of World War 1. And while a great deal has changed in the 85 years
since we were founded, this much has remained the same: those who come home
from war wounded and sick need the care and attention of a grateful nation.

Today our nation is once again confronted with the impact of war as American
men and women face combat in Iraq, Afghanistan and other countries across the
globe.

And we continue our struggle to ensure that the government does right by
veterans -- and to do what’s right without getting sidetracked by politics.
(Applause)

Medical care, disability compensation, and other veterans benefits are not a
Republican issue -- they’re not a Democrat issue -- they’re an American issue.
(Applause)

Doing the right thing and taking care of sick and disabled veterans ought to be
seen as a fundamental American value, not just another government give-away
program that drains the federal treasury. (Applause)

Give-away, my foot. (Applause) Veterans have earned those benefits by their
service and sacrifice on behalf of the entire nation and the freedom that all
Americans enjoy. (Applause)

But there are those who don’t seem to believe in honoring the nation’s
obligation to sick and disabled veterans. They want to choke the life out of the
veterans healthcare system.

They seek to discredit disability compensation, systematically dismantle the
VA, or sharply limit the kinds of benefits provided and who should receive them.

So, yes, it’s a struggle we still face today, but it’s a struggle that you and I
know we can and must win. (Applause) The stakes are too high for us to fail, not
just for ourselves but for those veterans returning from Iraq and Afghanistan who
will need the VA healthcare benefits system for decades to come.

They’re depending on us and we’re not going to let them down. (Applause)
That’s a legacy passed on by Judge Marx and those who followed, from World
War I clear on through to today and into tomorrow. (Applause)

That’s why we have continued to enjoy a preeminent place in veterans affairs.
(Applause) We’ve been successful because we have always set a clear direction and
goals for the future. And at the very heart of it all are our core values of service,
quality, integrity and leadership.

These are the values that continue to guide us in all that we do. Service is at
the very heart of who we are and what we do. It is the bedrock of our mission to
build better lives for disabled veterans and their families. (Applause)

We will continue to provide the highest possible quality representation and
advocacy services to veterans, their families and survivors. (Applause) We will
maintain the highest ethical and moral integrity as a charitable service
organization accountable to those we serve as well as to those who support us.
(Applause)

Because the DAYV relies on the goodwill and generosity of the American public,
there can be no tolerance for any lapses in good stewardship. (Applause)

And we will continue to provide unparalleled leadership in veterans affairs to
guarantee our future as the nation’s foremost veterans service organization.

(Applause) So when we look toward the future, we must also look inside
ourselves for how each of us can contribute to our continued success.
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And every one of us has a very important role to play in assuring that we will
continue to fulfill our mission of service and hope, from recruiting new members to
speak with a strong, assertive voice in Washington to supporting our grassroots
efforts to protect our rights and the programs and services we have earned through
our service and sacrifice, from increasing active member participation in new and
exciting volunteer programs, right in your own communities, to making sure that
the public has a greater appreciation of the continued support of disabled veterans.
(Applause)

The goals we’ve laid out for our organization will guarantee that we will fulfill
our mission of service and hope for disabled veterans and their families well into
the future. And our success in meeting those goals will ultimately be your success.
(Applause)

So let’s roll up our sleeves and get to work for the future. Today’s and
tomorrow’s sick and disabled veterans are counting on us. And we’re going to be
there for them. They can count on it. (Applause)

And another thing they can count on is the compassionate and enthusiastic
service that our Chapter and Department Service Officers provide every day.
(Applause)

I’d like all of our Chapter and Department Service Officers as well as our
Transition Service Officers to rise so we can thank you for everything you do to
help meet the needs of our nation’s sick and disabled veterans and their families.
(Applause) Thank you. (Applause)

And you can bet American’s disabled veterans and their families will be able to
count on the men and women who have chosen to make a lifelong career of
providing the very best advocacy and service for their fellow disabled veterans, our
professional National Service Officers.

I’d like all our NSOs, both active and retired, to please rise and be recognized
for your service. (Applause) Thank you. (Applause) Of course, none of what
we’ve been able to do in the past and what we need to accomplish in the future is
possible without a strong, active and committed membership.

And that’s you and all DAV members throughout our country whose
dedication and support are absolutely crucial to our success. Thank you all very
much. (Applause)

Before I close I want to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my
staff: Rick Patterson, our Chief Financial Officer who manages our National
Headquarters staff in Cold Spring; (Applause)

Susan Loth, from the Fundraising Department and her staff; (Applause) Greg
Jackson and his staff in the Human Resources Department; (Applause) Gary
Weaver and his fine crew in the Communications Department; (Applause)

Mike Walsh and everyone in the Membership Department; (Applause) Greg
Nichols and the Information Technology team; (Applause) Inspector General Bob
Gushee (Applause) and General Counsel Chris Clay; (Applause)

Nancy O’Brien who administers our charitable programs; (Applause) and
Comptroller Anita Blum and all the folks who do such a fine job handling our
financial matters. (Applause)

And my thanks to Dave Gorman at our Washington Headquarters and his
team: Randy Reese and the staff of the National Service Department and the entire
National Service Officer Corps; (Applause)

Joe Violante and the team in our National Legislative Department; (Applause)
and Ed Hartman and the National Voluntary Services staff. (Applause)

A very sincere thanks to our support staffs all around the country, including
National Headquarters and National Service and Legislative Headquarters.
(Applause)
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In addition, I wish to offer my personal thanks and gratitude to two very
special individuals without whom I would surely remain in a state of turmoil:
that’s Administrative Assistant Sandy Buchanan and Executive Secretary Sally
Miller. (Applause) Thank you, ladies, for a job well done. (Applause)

And a special thanks to our team -- and believe me our success is an entire
team effort — our employees -- about 650 in all -- who are on the job every day to
make sure this fine organization keeps running smoothly.

I would also like to thank the Auxiliary for all the support they provide to the
DAV. (Applause) From the volunteer programs to legislative programs, the
Auxiliary has been there to lend their assistance to advance causes to help disabled
veterans and their families.

Gertrude Tidwell, National Commander, and Maria Tedrow, National
Adjutant, thank you for your leadership as we strive to fulfill our mission of service
and hope to our nation’s veterans. (Applause)

And I especially want to express my gratitude to all of you and all of our DAV
members all across the country for allowing me the privilege of serving this great
organization and to serve each of you. (Applause)

Finally, a salute to the men and women of our armed forces. Whether at war
overseas or defending the home front they continue the battle to preserve our
freedom -- for the right of all people to live in a world free of terror.

Thank you very much and may God bless you all. (Applause) Thank you,
Commander, this concludes my report. (Standing Ovation)

COMMANDER SURSLEY: Thank you, Art. The Chair will entertain a
motion to accept the National Adjutant’s report. Mike 3.

MR. ARMANDO C. ALBARRAN: Armando Albarran, Chapter 5, Texas, 1
make a motion we accept Adjutant Wilson’s report.

COMMANDER SURSELY: I have a motion. May I have a second? Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Chapter 1, California, seconds.

COMMANDER SURSELY: We have a motion and a second. All those in
favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered. At this time I’d like to introduce
National Membership Director Michael Walsh for his report and presentation of
Membership Recruitment Awards. Mike. (Applause)

MR. MICHAEL WALSH: Commander Sursely, National Officers, Adjutant
Wilson, Executive Directors Patterson and Gorman, delegates to the 84" National
Convention and all members of DAV, thank you, thank you for making the
Disabled American Veterans stronger, bigger and better than ever.

As the late great Jerry Garcia of the rock band, The Grateful Dead once sang,
“What a long strange trip it’s been.” Many things went into making this past year
one that continued our amazing growth and stability and increasing member’s
active participation in DAV.

All of this comes together to make DAYV even better at building better lives for
America’s disabled veterans and their families. I encourage each of you to obtain a
copy of the formal membership report from the information table located in the
Grand Salon. That will provide you with more detailed information about the
successes of the past year.

At the close of the membership year on June 30, 2005, we again attained the
highest membership totals ever. Who could have thought that you could do it
again for the fourth consecutive year? Yes, now I know, you knew you could do it.
And we are all better off for it.

DAY finished the year with 1,300,727 members. Of that we have over 987,000
fully-paid life members. We are so close to reaching our goal of one million fully-
paid life members. I am confident that we will reach that benchmark early in this
membership year.
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But enough of that. Let’s get to the real purpose of today’s program, the
recognition of those members of the DAV who have earned special thanks for their
success in recruiting. Commander Sursely, please allow me to assist you in these
presentations.

Let’s start with the Division Awards. The divisions are based on the total
member population and the standings within the division is based on the
percentage of life members attained.

In Division 1, those departments with more than 35,000 total members, the
Department of California led by Commander Delphine Metcalf-Foster finished the
year with 2,112 life members over goal or 102.76 percent. You would think that
California would run out of eligible members by now, but they continue to win this
honor year after year. (Applause)

In Division 11, those departments with 18,000 to 34,999 total members, the
Department of Minnesota and Commander Hank Sadler literally edged out
Kentucky to win the division. They finished at 104.64 percent of goal or 757 fully-
paid members over goal.

For Division III, those with 10,000 to 17,999 total members, the Department of
Arkansas finished at 103.36 percent or 405 members over goal.

If ’m not mistaken, this is the Department’s first time winning the award.
Congratulations to Department Commander Roy Schultz who accepts the award.
(Applause)

Division IV, those with 5,000 to 9,999 members, I believe we have another first
timer to the big stage with Charlie Stephens and the Department of Kansas who
finished at 104.89 percent or 373 life members over goal. (Applause)

And last but not least in Division V, those with fewer than 5,000 members, we
welcome back the Department of North Dakota and Commander Doug Patanaude
who completed the year at 102.92 percent of goal with 118 members. (Applause)

Within each division I like to recognize the outstanding individual recruiter
who added to their department’s success: in Division I, Mary Tristan of North
Carolina who recruited 277 total members; (Applause)

In Division II, David Reeves of Oklahoma who recruited 159; (Applause) in
Division III, Calvin Cabarrus of West Virginia recruited 109; (Applause) in
Division IV, Jay Vierra of Kansas added 331 members; (Applause)

In Division V Greg Seurer of North Dakota recruited 147. (Applause) Each of
these individuals will receive a specially-designed plaque noting their achievement.
Thank you. (Applause)

Others who have shown to have success by recruiting 100 or more members
are: James Balmer of Kentucky; Kerry Baker of Wisconsin; Joshua Sniegowski of
Wisconsin; Ray Raulerson of Florida; Maurice Jackson of Wisconsin; Prosper
Sodano of New York; Johnny DeLaughter of Texas; Robert Sinclair of
Massachusetts; Michael Lautermilch of Wisconsin; Marc Audette of Minnesota;
Donald Horton of Masasachusetts; Peter Philippi of Minnesota; Ebony Walker of
Wisconsin; Al Hindes of Michigan; James Schultz of Minnesota; Andrew Smith of
Arkansas; and, finally, Peter Collins of Maine. (Applause) There are many others
who recruited successfully and you all have my thanks and that of the DAV.

As you might expect, recruiting can be difficult. Well, for most of us. But
there are those who find it easy to talk about the great things the DAYV does every
day. As a result, it can become easy to recruit new members.

Even after several years of successful recruiting and coming in a close second
in last year’s Recruiter of the Year, this year our Recruiter of the Year award
comes back to Coy Hennis of North Carolina who was responsible for 345 new
members.

Coy is that rare individual who can recruit anywhere. He has done it in
airports, restaurants, and just walking down the street in North Carolina. I would
be willing to bet that he has even recruited a member or two since he left North
Carolina to attend this Convention. (Applause)
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Each year we present the Jonathon M. Wainwright Award to the department
who secures the most members from the start of the membership year on July 1 to
the close of the year on June 30. This year 11,844 members joined the Department
of California. (Applause)

Our final award is presented to the department who completes the
membership year with the highest percent increase in life members over goal. The
Judge Robert Marx Award goes to the Department of Kansas who finished the
year at 104.69 percent of goal. Accepting on their behalf is Charlie Stephens.
(Applause)

As I close, I just want to say what a pleasure it was to serve you and the DAV
during the past year. Your success continues the great tradition of successful DAV
commanders and I also wish to express my appreciation for the vision and
leadership provided by our National Adjutant Arthur Wilson.

Executive Directors Rick Patterson and Dave Gorman have also provided the
Membership Department and me with dedication, guidance and direction. And,
finally, thanks to recently appointed Deputy National Membership Director Tony
Baskerville and the employees back at National Headquarters for their tireless
efforts.

Thank you for your attention this afternoon and for your continuous support.
Now let’s get out there and see who that one millionth member will be. Thank you.
(Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Mike. I’ll entertain a motion to
accept Mr. Walsh’s report.

MR. ALBARRAN: Mike 3.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 3.

MR. ALBARRAN: Armando Albarran, Chapter 5, Texas, makes a motion to
accept the report.

COMMANDER SURSELY: I have a motion. May I have a second.

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Chapter 1, California, seconds the motion.

COMMANDER SURSELY: I have a motion and a second. All those in favor
signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered. I’d like to call on Board of Directors
Treasurer Bobby Williams for a report.

MR. BOBBY G. WILLIAMS: National Commander Sursely, fellow members,
the National Executive Committee, DAV members and guests, it is my honor and
privilege to present a report on the financial affairs of our Organization for the six-
month period ending June 30, 2005.

The DAV’s gross contributions from direct-mail fundraising through that date
was $57.1 million, with support and revenue from all sources of $88.8 million. By
year’s end we expect to mail 60.7 million pieces of fundraising mail and generate
$106.9 million in gross contributions.

Under the Department Fundraising Program, distributions to Departments in
December 2004 and June 2005 totaled $3.6 million. Since the program began in
1994, $44.1 million has been distributed to Departments for their service programs.

The Board would like to thank all of our departments and chapters for their
continued participation in this program, and especially our members for their
support.

Through June 2005, DAV had total expenditures of $77.2 million, of which
$55.6 million was for service programs, an increase of 2.5% over the first six
months in 2004. Over the same period expenditures for fundraising and
administration declined by 7.1 percent.

As of June 30, 2005, the value of the General Fund long-term investment
portfolio grew to $250.3 million, an increase of 6.5% over the same period in 2004.
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The financial stability of the Life Membership Fund has been an ongoing
source of concern to the Board, but based upon action taken in 2003 by our
predecessors, the National Finance Committee, we can report that at June 30, 2005
the Life Membership Fund reserve was $59.7 million.

At a projected earnings rate on investments of 6.66%, we estimate that the
fund would be depleted by the year 2014 with 610 thousand members remaining.

I would like to thank National Adjutant Art Wilson and his staff for all their
hard work, which makes this report possible. (Applause) Let me thank you,
Commander Sursely, for the support I received in my role as the Board of
Directors Treasurer.

It has been an honor to serve as the treasurer of this important Committee.
Commander, that concludes my report to the National Convention, a report I feel
honored to offer to our delegates. I thank you and move for the adoption of my
report.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Do I hear a second to that motion?

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Chapter 1, California, seconds that motion.

COMMANDER SURSELY: We have a motion and a second. All those in
favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered. Thank you, Bobby, for that very
informative report.
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Deloitte

250 East Fifth Street

Suite 1900

P.O. Box 5340

Cincinnati, OH 45201-5340
USA

Tel: +1 513 784 7100
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors
Disabled American Veterans:

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Disabled American Veterans
(DAV) as of December 31, 2004, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash
flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of DAV’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
DAYV at December 31, 2004 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

w{@uf

April 7, 2005

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

SUPPORT AND REVENUE:
Support:
Contributions received primarily from direct mail solicitations
Contributed services and facilities, primarily services
Bequests

Total support

Revenue:
Membership dues and fees
Income from investments—net
Realized investment gain
List royalties
Miscellaneous

Total revenue
Total support and revenue

EXPENSES:
Program Services:
National Service Program
Legislative Service Program
Voluntary Service Program
State Services, Disaster Relief and Memorials
Publications and Other Communications
Membership Program
Public Awareness Outreach

Total program services
Supporting Services:
Fund Raising Costs
Administrative and General
Total supporting services
Total expenses
EXCESS OF SUPPORT AND REVENUE OVER EXPENSES

INCREASE IN UNREALIZED APPRECIATION OF INVESTMENTS

EXCESS OF SUPPORT AND REVENUE AND INCREASE IN UNREALIZED
APPRECIATION OF INVESTMENTS OVER EXPENSES

ADJUSTMENT TO MINIMUM PENSION LIABILITY

INCREASE IN UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS—Beginning of year

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS—End of year

See notes to financial statements.
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$ 105,230,306
32,840,375
4.829.357

142,900,038

6,415,857
6,565,581
3,468,498
480,282
126,527
17,056,745

159,956,783

37,430,929
1,230,077
32,650,979
5,467,655
4,421,984
10,407,220
21,144,289

112,753,133
32,956,601
4,871,936
37,828,537
150,581,670

9,375,113

3,810,757

13,185,870
__(3.031.443)

10,154,427

220,905,822

$ 231,060,249
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DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Excess of support and revenue over expenses $ 9375113
Adjustments to reconcile excess of support and revenue over expenses
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 3,082,702
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 20,493
Realized investment gains (3,468,498)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables 612,734
Solicitation materials 89,871
Prepaid expenses 1,255,500
Accounts payable (531,892)
Accrued expenses 269,046
Deferred dues and service fees and other 127,923
Additions to the life membership fund 11,761,612
Distributions from the life membership fund (11,678,310)
Net cash provided by operating activities 10,916,294
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for property and equipment (2,875,413)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 14,988
Purchase of investments (330,157,741)
Proceeds from the sale of investments 319,131,153
Net cash used in investing activities (13,887,013)
NET DECREASE IN CASH (2,970,719)
CASH—Beginning of year 8,615,485
CASH—End of year $ 5,644,766

See notes to financial statements.
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DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

1. ORGANIZATION

Disabled American Veterans (“DAV”) is a Congressionally chartered, not-for-profit service
organization. Made up exclusively of men and women disabled in our nation’s defense, DAV is
dedicated to one, single purpose: building better lives for all of our nation’s disabled veterans and their
families. This mission is carried forward by:

e providing free, professional assistance to veterans and their families in obtaining benefits and
services earned through military service and provided by the Department of Veterans Affairs
(“VA”) and other agencies of government;

e providing outreach concerning its program services to the American people, generally, and to
disabled veterans and their families, specifically;

e representing the interests of disabled veterans, their families, their widowed spouses and their
orphans before Congress, the White House, and the Judicial Branch, as well as state and local
government;

e extending DAV’s mission of hope into the communities where these veterans and their families live
through a network of state-level departments and local chapters; and

e providing a structure through which disabled veterans can express their compassion for their fellow
veterans through a variety of volunteer programs.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Statements—The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis
of accounting.

Investments—Investments are recorded at fair (market) value. The fair value of DAV’s investments is
determined based on the quoted market prices of the related securities. Gains and losses on the sale of
investment securities are recognized based upon the specific identification method and, for general
investments (also see Note 3), are reflected as a separate component of revenue.
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The cost and market value of investments in securities and the net unrealized appreciation (depreciation)
at December 31, 2004 are summarized below:

Unrealized

Market Appreciation
General Cost Value (Depreciation)
Cash equivalents $ 19,746,099 $ 19,746,099
Corporate bonds 75,460,985 75,112,547  § (348,438)
U.S. Treasury obligations ’ 25,256,874 25,350,689 93,815
Common stocks 92,998,091 107,611,773 14,613,682
Common stock funds 32,425,474 40,307,899 7,882,425
Subtotal $ 245,887,523 268,129,007 $ 22,241,484
Interest and dividends receivable 1,052,773
Total $ 269,181,780
Life Membership
Cash equivalents $ 1,664,205 $ 1,664,205
Corporate bonds 12,427,849 12,458,567 $ 30,718
U.S. Treasury obligations 2,865,997 2,810,856 (55,141)
Common stocks 27,623,225 30,315,502 2,692,277
Common stock funds 5,366,744 5.798.504 431,760
Subtotal $ 49,948,020 53,047,634 $ 3,099,614
Interest and dividends receivable 157,066
Total $ 53,204,700

Investment income is composed of interest and dividend income of $6,960,918, net of fees paid to
trustees of $395,337.

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, and
are composed of the following at December 31, 2004:

Accumulated Net Book
Cost Depreciation Value
Land and improvements $ 1,148,101 $ 443,852 $ 704,249
Buildings and improvements 9,940,151 5,855,681 4,084,470
Machinery and other equipment 23,660,612 17,522,640 6,137,972
Construction in progress 1,375,162 1,375,162
Total $36,124,026 $23,822,173 $12,301,853

Depreciation is computed generally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of assets,
which range from 3 to 50 years.

Contributions—Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or
permanently restricted support depending on the existence and nature of any donor restrictions. All
contributions are considered available for unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the donor.

_7-
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Support that is restricted by the donor is reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the
restriction expires in the reporting period in which the support is recognized.

Contributed Services and Facilities—DAV operates extensive programs through which volunteers
contribute many hours of service to veterans; however, only a portion of those hours, those donated to
veterans at medical facilities of the VA, are tabulated. Of the 2,394,789 hours accounted for in 2004 —
1,817,898 are for the DAV’s Nationwide Transportation Network. Using a formula developed by
Independent Sector, an organization that provides oversight to nonprofit organizations in America, the
value of these hours contributed to the DAV Transportation Network is $31,249,667. This value,
together with the value of certain contributed facilities, is recorded as Support and Expenses in the
accompanying Statement of Activities and Statement of Functional Expenses. The remaining 576,891
hours—valued at $9,916,756, are contributed to the DAV VA Voluntary Service Program. This amount
and the value of any other volunteer time have not been recorded in the accompanying Statement of
Activities and Statement of Functional Expenses because such hours do not meet the technical
requirements set forth in accounting standards for recognizing contributed services.

Salaries Expense—The salaries expense in the accompanying financial statements includes the cost of
all national service officers and their support staff who work directly with veterans and their dependents
in providing counseling and representation in obtaining benefits and services. This expense also includes
DAYV’s administrative and support staffs.

Income Taxes—As a not-for-profit service organization, DAV is exempt from Federal income tax as a
501(c)(4) organization. Contributions made to DAV are tax deductible pursuant to Title 26 U.S.C.,
Section 170(c).

Use of Estimates—The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of support, revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

Allocation of Joint Costs—In 2004, DAV incurred joint costs of $46,915,470 for informational
materials and activities that included fund-raising appeals. Of those costs, $21,111,961 was allocated to
public awareness outreach (program services) and $25,803,509 was allocated to fund raising costs.

LIFE MEMBERSHIP

Under the bylaws of DAV, any cligible person may become a life member. Amounts paid for
membership are placed in separate life membership accounts and invested; the only withdrawals
permitted from these accounts are amounts required to pay chapter, department and national (DAV) per
capita dues for life members. Generally, life membership assets for national per capita dues are
transferred to the general assets of DAV at the beginning of the membership year (July 1) and deferred
and recognized as income in the statement of activities over the course of the membership year. The per
capita chapter and department dues are distributed at the beginning of the membership year.
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The following summary represents the changes during 2004 in the reserve for future distribution of
membership dues:

Balance—January 1, 2004 $ 56,659,131
Additions:
Membership dues received 6,300,850
Earnings on invested assets—net 1,312,459
Other income 148,303
National Organization Support 4,000,000
Gain on sale of investments 1,101,198
Total 12,862,810
Distribution of membership dues:
National Headquarters 6,578,809
Local Chapters 2,566,581
State Departments 2,532,920
Total 11,678,310
Decrease in unrealized appreciation of investments (808,232)
Balance—December 31, 2004 $ 57,035,399

Earnings on invested assets is comprised of interest and dividends of $1,405,684, net of fees paid of
$93,225.

PENSION PLAN AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

DAV has a defined benefit pension (pension) plan covering substantially all of its employees. Benefits
are based on years of service and employees’” compensation. Contributions are intended to provide not
only for benefits attributed to service to date but also for those expected in the future. In 2004, DAV
funded amounts in excess of the recommended actuarially determined contribution amount.
Contributions to the plan are based on the Projected Unit Credit Actuarial cost method.

DAV provides certain health care and life insurance benefits (other postretirement benefits) for its

retired employees and their spouses. Substantially all of DAV’s employees may become eligible for
these benefits if they reach early retirement age and complete 20 years of service.
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The measurement date for the plans is December 31. Summarized information for the plans is as
follows:

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits
As of December 31, 2004:
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 66,278,650
Projected benefit obligation $ 79,707,383
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) $ 44,684,192
Fair value of plan assets 55,861,498
Funded status $ (23,845,885)  § (44,684,192)
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position
consist of:
Accrued benefit liability $ (10,417,152)  $ (38,647,878)
Amount related to recognization of additional minimum liability 24,004,341
Net amount recognized $ 13,587,189 $ (38,647,878)
For the year ended December 31, 2004:
Benefit expense $ 4,441,979 $ 4,125,000
Employer contribution $ 6,900,000 $ 1,443,422
Plan participants’ contributions $ 157,720
Benefits paid $ (5.906,344) $ (1,601,142)
Weighted-average rate assumptions used for the
December 31 valuation:
For year-end benefit obligation
Discount rate 5.75 % 5.75 %
Expected return on plan assets n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase 4.50 % 4.50 %
For annual benefit cost
Discount rate 6.00% 6.00%
Expected return on plan assets 8.75% n/a
Rate of compensation increase 4.50% 4.50%

The provisions of SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, required the DAV to recognize a
minimum liability with an offsetting reduction of net assets of $24,004,341 at December 31, 2004. This
liability represented the amount by which the accumulated benefit obligation, $(66,278,650) exceeded
the sum of the fair market value of plan assets and prepaid amounts previously recorded. At

December 31, 2003, a minimum liability was recognized with an offsetting reduction in net assets of
$20,972,898, therefore, an additional $3,031,443 reduction in net assets was recognized in 2004.

The accamulated postretirement benefit obligation and related benefit cost are determined through the
application of relevant actuarial assumptions. DAV anticipates the increase in its health care cost trend

rate to slow from 13.5% in 2004 to 5.5% in 2013, after which the trend rate is expected to stabilize.

The DAV expects to contribute $6,900,000 to its pension plan and $1,942,960 to its other postretirement
benefits plan in 2005.

- 10-
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The DAV’s pension plan investment allocation at December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Percentage

of Plan

Assets at

Asset Category Year-End
Equity securities 36.0%
Fixed Income securities 34.4%
Cash and cash equivalents 29.6%
Total 100.0%

The primary objective of the investments is preservation of capital with an emphasis on long-term
growth without undue exposure to risk. The DAV amended the investment policy statement in October
2004, which states, the target weight for fixed income securities (inclusive of cash requirements) is 40%
of the combined investments. Approximately .5%-3% of the combined investments should be in Money
Market or other liquid funds (cash requirements). The remaining 60% of the assets are targeted for
equity securities, which have a relatively strong financial condition. The investment portfolio manager
was in the process of completing this new allocation at December 31, 2004.

In selecting the expected rate of return on plan assets, the DAV considers historical rates of return for
the type of investments the plan holds, as well as future market expectations. These expectations are
then applied to the target asset allocation to come up with a weighted average of expected returns for the
plan’s portfolio of assets.

The following pension plan benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid:

Benefit

Fiscal Year Ending Payments

2005 $5,627,000
2006 6,193,000
2007 9,708,000
2008 5,788,000
2009 8,051,000
2010-2014 31,431,000

Effective January 1, 2004, a plan amendment to the other postretirement benefit plan implemented
mandatory mail order for maintenance drugs and increased co-payments for prescriptions and eye
exams. This amendment resulted in an expected $1,725,000 gain on the unrecognized transition
obligation to be amortized to income over the next nine years.

In 2004, the DAV elected early adoption of FASB FSP No. 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.
The DAV has concluded that the prescription drug benefits available under their plan to some or all
participants for some or all future years are “actuarially equivalent” to Medicare Part D. Thus they
qualify for the subsidy under the Act. This expected subsidy offset the employer’s share of the cost of
the underlying postretirement prescription drug coverage on which the subsidy is based.

o1l -
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This subsidy reduced the APBO by $4,302,000 relating to benefits attributed to past service. The
subsidy reduced service cost, interest cost and amortization of actuarial experience gain by $211,000,
$258,000, and $46,000, respectively for the year ended December 31, 2004. The overall effect on the net
periodic postretirement benefit cost is $515,000.

The following other postretirement benefit payments and subsidy receipts, which reflect expected future
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid and received:

Fiscal Gross Gross Net
Year Benefit Subsidy Benefit
Ending Payments Receipts Payments
2005 $1,942,960 $ 0 $1,942,960
2006 2,120,249 (158,474) 1,961,775
2007 2,326,117 (176,535) 2,149,582
2008 2,508,167 (197,301) 2,310,866
2009 2,647,812 (217,030) 2,430,782

2010-2014 15,641,516 (1,441,497) 14,200,019

DAYV also maintains a defined contribution Salary Savings and Investment Plan for its employees. For
qualified participating employees, DAV contributes a percentage of the employees’ base salary. DAV’s
contributions in 2004 were $1,378,011 and are included in employee benefits expense in the
accompanying statement of functional expenses.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Disabled American Veterans National Service Foundation—The accompanying financial statements
do not include the net assets (or changes therein) of the Disabled American Veterans National Service
Foundation (the “Foundation”) which are held by the Foundation and available to DAV only through
appropriation by the Foundation’s Board of Directors. The National Service Foundation is a separate
entity from DAV, operating under its own bylaws. Based upon audited financial statements at
December 31, 2004, net assets of the Foundation were $30,966,134. During 2004, DAV provided the
Foundation with the use of DAV personnel, facilities and equipment. For the personnel services, DAV
charged the Foundation $170,060. Facilities and equipment are provided by DAV at no charge.
Additionally, in 2004, DAV contributed $51,025 to The Colorado Trust, a temporarily restricted fund
established by the Foundation to provide funds for the service programs of needy DAV state
departments and local chapters. At December 31, 2004, the Foundation owed $135,869 to DAV which is
recorded as a receivable in the accompanying statement of financial position.

c12-
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Disabled American Veterans Charitable Service Trust—Disabled American Veterans Charitable
Service Trust (the “Trust”) is a 501(c)(3) tax exempt entity which was established in 1986. The Trust is
a separate entity from DAV, operating under its own bylaws. During 2004, DAV provided the Trust
with the use of DAV personnel, facilities and equipment. For the personnel services, DAV charged the
Trust $43,568. Facilities and equipment are provided by DAV at no charge. The DAV also provides
fundraising support to the Trust at no charge. At December 31, 2004, the Trust owed $48,741 to DAV
which is recorded as a receivable in the accompanying statement of financial position.

Disabled Veterans’ LIFE Memorial Foundation, Inc—Disabled Veterans’ LIFE Memorial
Foundation, Inc. (‘DVLMF”) is a 501¢(3) tax exempt entity which was established in 1998. The
DVLMF is a separate entity from DAV, operating under its own bylaws. During 2004, the DAV donated
$34,658 to the DVLMF.

sk ok ok ok ok
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Deloitte

Suite 1900

250 East Fifth St.
Cincinnati, OH 45201-5340
USA

Tel: +1 513784 7100
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

National Finance Committee,
Disabled American Veterans Auxiliary National Headquarters:

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Disabled American Veterans
Auxiliary National Headquarters (the “Auxiliary”) as of December 31, 2004 and the related
statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Auxiliary’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. The prior year summarized comparative information has
been derived from the Auxiliary’s 2003 financial statements and, in our report dated April 27, 2004,
we expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Auxiliary’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Auxiliary as of December 31, 2004 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the

year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

/(Q/&% ™ @

April 27, 2005

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS AUXILIARY
NATIONAL HEADQUARTERS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004
WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS FOR 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to cash
used in operating activities:
Permanently restricted contributions and interest income
Change in unrealized depreciation in investments
Change in assets and liabilities:
Accrued interest receivable
Materials and supplies
Prepaid expenses, other assets and accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Contributions distributable to state departments
Deferred membership fees
Reserve for future distribution of life membership dues
Other liabilities

Total adjustments
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Increase in general fund investments
Decrease (increase) in Life Membership investments
Education loans
Collections from repayment of education loans

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES—
Permanently restricted education fund contributions and interest income

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of year

End of year

See notes to financial statements.

61

2004 2003
$ 422416 $ 321,921
(22,493) (26,569)
18,605 9,096
5,197 20,391
(17,639) 11,971
(30,228) 35,586
5,449 (364,708)
2,721 12,146
(11,739) 21,927
(683,650) (281,741)
13,673 (5,307)
(720,104) (567,208)
(297,688) (245,287)
(101,912)  (1,657,087)
865,691 (534,185)
(40,500) (38,000)
27,875 28,975
751,154 (2,200,297)
22,493 26,569
475,959 (2,419,015)
1,280,452 3,699,467
$ 1,756,411  $1,280,452




DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS AUXILIARY
NATIONAL HEADQUARTERS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

1.  ORGANIZATION

The Disabled American Veterans Auxiliary National Headquarters (“DAV Auxiliary”) is a not-for-profit
membership and service organization organized under the provisions of the National Constitution of the
Disabled American Veterans (“DAV”). The DAV Auxiliary and its membership are organized for the
betterment and improvement of the nation’s disabled veterans and their families and for cooperation
with all patriotic organizations and public agencies devoted to this purpose through volunteer work at
veterans’ hospitals, community service, educational assistance, legislative action, and encouraging good
citizenship and patriotism. The DAV Auxiliary is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(4) of
the Internal Revenue Code.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Statements—The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis
of accounting.

The accompanying financial statements include certain prior year information summarized from DAV
Auxiliary’s 2003 financial statements. Such information does not include sufficient detail, and is not
intended, to constitute a presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Contributions—Contributions received are recorded at their fair value and are classified as unrestricted,
temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted support. All contributions are considered available for
unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the donor. Support that is restricted by the donor is
reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the restriction expires in the reporting period in which
the support is recognized.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—For the purpose of reporting cash flows, the DAV Auxiliary considers all
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents.

Investments—The DAV Auxiliary records investments at fair (market) value. The fair value of the DAV
Auxiliary’s investments is determined based on the quoted market price of the related securities. Gains
and losses resulting from the sale of securities are recognized at the time of disposition and are
computed using the specific identification method.
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The cost and market value of investments in securities and the net unrealized gain (loss) at
December 31, 2004 are summarized below:

Unrealized
Market Net Gain/
Cost Value (Loss)

Money market investments $ 2,190,875 $ 2,190,875
Corporate bonds 6,315,462 6,242,051 $ (73,411)
U.S. Treasury obligations 1,056,457 1,067,516 11,059
Mutual funds 2,806,845 2,550,048 (256,797)
Total $12,369,639 $12,050,490 $(319,149)

Deferred Membership Fees—The DAV Auxiliary accounts for membership fees by deferring fees
received in advance of the membership year (July 1 to June 30) and amortizing them to income ratably
during the membership year for which they are paid.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

FREEDOM FOUNDATION

The DAV Auxiliary has designated $12,136 of unrestricted funds for the purpose of providing financial
aid to elementary and secondary school teachers attending annual summer teaching seminars held at the
Freedom Foundation, Valley Forge, Pennsylvania.

RESERVE FOR FUTURE DISTRIBUTION OF LIFE MEMBERSHIP DUES

Under its by-laws life membership in the DAV Auxiliary is available to any person eligible for senior
membership. Amounts paid are placed in separate life membership accounts and invested; the only
withdrawals permitted from these accounts are amounts required to pay local units, state departments
and national headquarters (DAV Auxiliary) per capita dues for life members. Generally, Life
Membership assets for national per capita dues are transferred to the general assets of the DAV
Auxiliary at the beginning of the membership year (July 1), and deferred and recognized as income in
the statement of activities over the course of the membership year. The per capita dues are distributed to
units and departments at the beginning of the membership year.
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The following summary represents the changes during 2004 in the reserve for future distribution of dues:

Balance—January 1, 2004 $6,654,926
Additions:
Membership dues received 259,387
Earnings on invested assets 286,502
Change in unrealized appreciation of investments 316,986
Total 862,875
Deductions:
Dues to National Headquarters 890,036
Dues to Local units 66,220
Dues to State Departments 111,958
Loss on sale of investments 463,142
Investment fee 13,423
Other expenses 1,746
Total 1,546,525
Balance—December 31, 2004 $5,971,276

DONOR RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Education Loan Program—Donations from individuals and amounts received from each unit (local
chapters) as a mandate for educational loans are recorded as permanently restricted assets from which
loans are made to students in accordance with the by-laws of the DAV Auxiliary. The maximum amount
of an education loan is $2,000 per year for a maximum of four years per student; the loan bears no
interest and is to be repaid in seven years beginning 90 days after the student’s graduation or withdrawal
from school.

Disaster Relief Program—Donations from units and individuals are recorded as temporarily restricted
net assets which are used for members of the DAV Auxiliary who are in need of temporary financial
assistance due to natural disaster, such as flood, earthquake, etc. Benefits are paid directly to the
individual.

Service Program—Donations from individuals and amounts received from each unit as a mandate for
the Service Program are recorded as temporarily restricted net assets which are used for persons eligible
for the DAV Auxiliary who are in need of temporary financial assistance in accordance with the by-laws
of the DAV Auxiliary. The total amount of assistance is limited to $500 per individual and in the
aggregate is limited to total temporarily restricted net assets. Benefits are paid directly to the service
provider and not to the individual.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

All employees of the DAV Auxiliary are covered by Disabled American Veterans Retirement Plan, a
defined benefit pension plan. The benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s
compensation. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date,
but also for those expected in the future. In 2004, DAV charged the DAV Auxiliary $134,139 for its
share of the retirement plan cost as well as other benefits for employees, including health and life
insurance and contributions to a defined contribution plan.

S
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DAV provides certain health care and life insurance benefits for its retired employees and their spouses.
All employees of the DAV Auxiliary may become eligible for these benefits if they reach normal
retirement age while working for the DAV Auxiliary. In 2004, DAV did not charge the DAV Auxiliary
for these benefits.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The DAV Auxiliary occupies space in the DAV National Headquarters’ building and also uses certain
office equipment owned by the DAV. No fees are charged for such usage. The value of these contributed
facilities is estimated to be $25,300 in 2004, and is included as revenue and expense on the

accompanying statement of activities.

Certain costs are paid by DAV National Headquarters on behalf of the DAV Auxiliary. Such costs are
reimbursed by the DAV Auxiliary.

% 3k ok ok ok ok
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COMMANDER SURSELY: At this time I’d like to entertain a motion that the
list of delegates and alternates selected by the 21 National Districts and the
National Blind Veterans Chapter to serve on Convention Committees be admitted
into the record of the proceedings of this Convention.

MR. FRANK D. WILLIAMS: Frank Williams, Chapter 13 of Ohio makes
that motion.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Do I hear a second?

MR. STEESE: Mike 2.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 2.

MR. STEESE: George Steese, Chapter 1, California, seconds that motion.

COMMANDER SURSELY: I have a motion and a second. All those in favor
signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered.
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2005 NATIONAL CONVENTION

Las Vegas, NV
COMMITTEE ON CONSTITUTION AND BYLAWS
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NAME (DELEGATE && ALTERNATE)

Thomas J. Daley
John F. Regan

Dennis L. Krulder
Timothy B Sapp

Richard W. Schatz
Junious B. Owens USAF Re

Daniel T. Flynn
Anthony C Giantonio

Harding Byrd
Raymond A. Thomas

German Bravo-Perez
Wilbert B. Forbes

David L. Tannenbaum
John F. Mc Coy

Donald L. Samuels
Carl L. Bailey

Wallace E. Tyson
James T. Hatley

Morris Penermon
Harold E. De Forest

Robert H. Bertschy
Donald J. Bates USAF Re

Mark D. Strange
Don E. Salzbrun

James S. Huff
James M. Quesinberry

Kevin R. Grantier
Claud L. Adkins

Kristine S. Childers
George R. Manes

Kenneth G. Musselmann
Marvin N. Varias

Floyd Watson Jr.
Emilio Medina

Floyd W. Buell
Darrell Carey Sr.

Jerald A Royse Sr.
Ernest E Hume

Teresa P Johniken
Roland A. Paquette

Jonathan M. Trimble
Fred Alan White Jr.
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MASSACHUSETTS 049
MASSACHUSETTS 013

NEW YORK 125
NEW YORK 034

RHODE ISLAND 012
NEWHAMPSHIRE 013

NEW JERSEY 020
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MARYLAND 017

FLORIDA 004
FLORIDA 067

TENNESSEE 003
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NORTH CAROLINA 046
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MICHIGAN 001
MICHIGAN 129
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SOUTH DAKOTA 003
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WASHINGTON 041
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TEXAS 020

ARKANSAS 001
OKLAHOMA 007
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Rene C. Couture

Benjamin Flores
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Richard Mc Laughlin
Bernard R. Rogers

Howard |. Braman
Charles Lovings Jr.

Larry D. Fredrickson USAF Re
Richard A. Brink Ret.

Charles E. Orona
Alfred B. Sena

Mike Godich Jr.
Samuel B. Moyer

Dwayne W. Adams
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John E. Hill
Dennis O Garriott
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COMMANDER SURSELY: I will now ask Adjutant Wilson to read the
names of the Convention Committee Advisors that I have appointed and who
received the approval of the National Executive Committee at its most recent
meeting.

ADJUTANT WILSON: The Committee advisors are: Credentials, Michael J.
Walsh, Michael E. Dobmeier and Anthony L. Baskerville; General Resolutions and
Membership, Rick Surratt and Adrian M. Atizado;

Legislation and Veterans Rights, Joseph A. Violante and Brian E. Austin;
Constitution and Bylaws, Kenneth G. Musselmann and Barry A. Jesinoski;
Finance and Dues, Bobby Williams and Richard E. Patterson;

Employment, Frank L. Cummings, Garry J. Augustine, and Brian E.
Lawrence; Hospital and Voluntary Services, Delphine Metcalf-Foster, Joy J. Ilem
and Edward E. Hartman; Nomination of National Officers, Gene A. Murphy and
Richard E. Marbes.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Art. Ladies and gentlemen, that
concludes today’s agenda. Please rise and I will ask Chaplain Stump to lead us in
prayer.

CHAPLAIN STUMP: Father, we thank You for these proceedings and we ask
your hand of blessing to continue to be with all those who were rewarded with their
rewards.

We thank You, Father, for each report that was made and the success and the
outstanding work that is being done by our Adjutant, Commander, staff, and by
our body, the DAV.

Bless our committees as they meet. May You guide each chairman as they go
about their work. May we also reassemble here at the reception this evening to
enjoy the friendship and the fellowship of one another. So we ask, Father, your
blessing upon us as we continue through this day. For God’s glory. Amen.

COMMANDER SURSELY: The Convention stands in recess until 9:30
tomorrow morning.

(Whereupon, the meeting recessed at 2:34 o’clock p.m. August 14, 2005.)

SECOND BUSINESS SESSION
August 15, 2005

The Second Business Session of the Disabled American Veterans 84™ National
Convention was convened in the Events Center of Bally’s Las Vegas, Las Vegas,
Nevada, Monday morning, August 15, 2005, and was called to order at 9:30 o’clock
a.m. by National Commander James E. Sursely.

COMMANDER SURSELY: The Convention will come to order. Please join
me in the Pledge of Allegiance.

(Pledge of Allegiance)

COMMANDER SURSLEY: Chaplain Stump will you please lead us in
prayer.

CHAPLAIN STUMP: God’s word to us this morning is this, as the heart
panteth after the water brooks, so panteth my soul after Thee, O God. My soul
thirsts for God, for the Living God.

When shall I come and appear before You, O God. And Father, we realize
that all men are held accountable for their actions. That is why it’s such a joy to be
a part of this great organization.

That’s why it’s such a joy to be here as we go about the business of this great
organization, because we are held accountable to You. You tell us that we serve
You by serving our brother, our comrades, disabled American veterans and their
families.
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Their well being is at the center of our hearts. We ask that You bless them
wherever they are around this great globe this morning. Bless our men and women
in uniform as they’re already about their difficult day.

Bring them home safely, mission accomplished, and as rapidly as possible.
Bless our Adjutant, our Commander, our line officers, as they go forth to serve
You.

And may You reward even further those who are receiving their just reward
and their just recognition for services well rendered. Bless us with Your presence
for in God’s glory we ask it. Amen.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Chaplain. I will now call on the
Credentials Committee for a partial report. Mary.

MS. BENCIVENGA: Good morning, National Commander, National
Officers, National Adjutant, staff, delegates and guests. @ The Credentials
Committee met this morning in the Skyview Number 1 at the Bally’s Hotel.

Roll call showed 1,461 delegates and 53 alternates present. This is a partial
report for informational purposes only and reflects the registration at the close of
registration at 4:00 p.m. on August 14™, 2005.

At the present time we have 544 chapters, 47 departments, 32 National
Officers, 12 Past National Officers or Commanders, correction, for a total of 1,461
delegates and 53 alternates for a total vote of 10,566. This completes the partial
report for the Credentials Committee, Commander.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Mary. The stories of our nation’s
sacrifices run through every fiber of America. We saw that five years ago when we
created the inspiring video, “Baseball, Real American Heroes” which highlighted
our DAV Day at the Ballpark program.

This year our organization began a new program in partnership with the
teams of the National Football League. We’ll be producing special cards for
football players to autograph and give to fans. We will work with teams as they
salute our nation’s veterans.

And we have created another outstanding video program to showcase the
service and sacrifice of those who became the “GI’s of the Gridiron.” Please join
with me to get a first glimpse of a really special program.

(Whereupon, the video “GlIs of the Gridiron” was viewed.)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you. I know you all enjoyed this program
of courage and sacrifice as much as I did. This video will be provided to each
National Football League team.

It has already been presented to the NFL Players Association, the NFL Alumni
Association, the Pro Football Hall of Fame, the Joe Foss Institute, and the National
Foundation for Women Legislators who plan to show it at a special rally next
month in Phoenix.

Once this program gets around I think people will have a greater
understanding that all Americans are charged with the defense of liberty, and some
make great sacrifices for freedom. Thank you. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: It is my pleasure to now introduce Congressman
Jon Porter from the Third District of the State of Nevada which adjoins the Las
Vegas area. Ladies and gentlemen, please give a warm DAV welcome to
Congressman Jon Porter. (Applause)

MR. JON PORTER: Thank you very much. Good morning everyone.
Welcome to Las Vegas. And what happens in Las Vegas —

(Responses of “Stays in Las Vegas.”)

MR. PORTER: Remember that when you go home. It is really an honor for
me to be here today. You truly are heroes and I know that we heard it this
morning on the film and you hear it frequently, but from the bottom of my heart I
am truly, truly humbled and honored to be here this morning.
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To all the families of the disabled veterans, you all deserve medals also for your
patience, your encouragement. You truly are heroes of the family. To our
National Commander Jim, I appreciate you being here.

I understand Jim said he has been coming out here about three times a year
since 1971. Now, we do have a lot of stories that will stay in Las Vegas. (Laughter)

Art, thank you for being here. As National Adjutant we appreciate you being
such a big part of the disabled veterans, but know that we appreciate all of you
being here in Las Vegas.

I know that today we also have Jose Garcia, the Nevada commander. Jose, I
know you’re here someplace, right? Welcome and thank you for everything that
you’ve done. (Applause)

You know, I understand that conventions have been held in Las Vegas since
about 1947. Now my dad was on the Aleutian Islands in 1947 so I know he wasn’t
able to join you. But know as a community we do support veterans.

We have one of the fastest growing veterans populations in the world, certainly
in the country, one of the fastest senior populations, just one of the fastest growing
populations, about 8,000 or 9,000 people a month moving to the Nevada area.
Imagine that.

We, you know earlier as I had a chance to meet some of the dignitaries there
was a gentleman here that you folks from Boston may not like a whole lot and
that’s Larry Barnett.

Larry tells me he has visited close to 50 hospitals a year, DAV hospitals a year,
since the late ‘70s. You know, that is an example of what your organization is all
about.

You’ve reached out to individuals all over the country to provide their services
to try to add a little pleasure, put a little spark in a veteran’s heart.

I have had the opportunity many times to visit Bethesda and Walter Reed and
spend a little bit of time with some of the men and women in uniform who have
been injured.

And you know, I used to walk in the room and I would say, “I’m a member of
Congress from Nevada.” And they would say, “Well, that’s nice” and we would
chat a little bit about their family and kids and about their loss.

But one day a young man said, “Have you ever been to Las Vegas?”
(Laughter) And his eyes lit up. This is a young man that had just come back from
Baghdad and was injured really, really bad, had lost a couple of limbs.

And he said, “You know what, Congressman, I want to come to Las Vegas
sometime. I want to visit Las Vegas. I want to share in your community.” So I tell
you what I do now.

I say, ’'m a member of Congress from the state of Las Vegas (Laughter)
because I’m finding as I visit your colleagues around the world it does bring a little
sparkle because I believe we truly are the entertainment capital but also the
hospitality capital of the world.

And right here at Bally’s I know they are absolutely one of the best. You
know, as we spend a little bit of time here these few days in Las Vegas, I know that
although you’re here two or three days your memories are full of a very special
time with your friends and your colleagues.

But I also know that your memories are lasting, your memories of your service
to our country. Every day you wake up and you’re reminded in some shape or
form of your honor, your dignity, your pride and your service to our country which
has allowed for us to have this convention here in Las Vegas.

It allows Las Vegas to be what it is. It allows my son and daughter and your
family and friends to prosper and enjoy this great country. But know that as a
member of Congress from the state of Las Vegas, from the great community of
Nevada, we are so proud of you and want you to know that that memory that you
carry every day we share with you.
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You set an example; your pride, unsurpassed; your patriotism, unsurpassed;
your honor, your dignity, unsurpassed. You are truly America’s heroes.

We’re fighting today an unconventional war and your colleagues and numbers
are expanding every day. You have new members of DAYV joining the ranks every
day.

They, too, share that pride, that dignity, that sense of hope for our country and
for the world. But know we honor you. We are so proud of you and we are so glad
you decided to join us here in Las Vegas for your convention.

Please come back. Please share in our community and know that every man,
woman and child in this great city of Nevada appreciates all that you’ve done and
wish you nothing but the best. May God bless you all, your families and this great
country, and again thank you for being with us today. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Congressman Porter. Gerri
Schroeder, Staff Assistant to Representative Shelley Berkley from the First District
of Nevada, which includes the city of Las Vegas, has also joined us today on behalf
of Representative Berkley.

Representative Berkley, a strong veterans’ advocate, sits on the House
Veterans Affairs Committee. Ladies and gentlemen, please give a warm welcome
to Gerri Schroeder. (Applause)

MS. GERRI SCHROEDER: Good morning, everybody. Itis indeed my honor
to be here on behalf of Congresswoman Shelley Berkley. I also wanted to just say a
quick hello to our delegation over there, lots of good friends of ours.

And I wanted to thank the DAV for allowing me to take a couple minutes of
your time to address you on behalf of the Congresswoman. Thank you very much.
(Applause) The Congresswoman had asked me to read a letter to you of welcome.
It says:

Dear Friends, As the representative for Nevada’s First Congressional District
and a member of the United States House of Representatives’ Veterans Affairs
Committee I am honored to welcome everyone attending the 84™ National
Convention of the Disabled American Veterans.

Our veterans are American heroes and as a nation we owe them a debt of
gratitude that includes keeping the commitments we made to provide healthcare
and other VA benefits.

I believe we should honor the commitments we have made to those who have
fought for our country and I will continue to work in Congress to improve care and
benefits for our veterans across the nation.

The Disabled American Veterans have been a voice for our nation’s veterans
for nearly a century. To America and the world the letters D-A-V symbolize
volunteerism and community service.

It was the bravery, sacrifice and valor of the veterans of World War I who
started this organization to advocate for veterans’ rights.

Today your membership is dedicated to preserving veterans’ rights,
advocating a strong national defense, promoting patriotism, and offering
community service.

I commend you for your dedication to our nation’s disabled veterans and their
families and I applaud you for your hard work and urge you to continue your
noble efforts.

We have so much to offer here in Southern Nevada, the entertainment capital
of the world. I hope you have a chance to enjoy as much of it as possible while you
are here.

Keep up your good work and best wishes for a successful convention.
Sincerely, Shelley Berkley, Member of Congress.

Thank you very much. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Ms. Schroeder. As Executive
Director of DAV Washington Headquarters Dave Gorman is responsible for the
day-to-day performance of our Service, Legislative and Volunteer programs.
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Dave is not attending this year’s Convention because his wife Paula is
expecting the birth of their first child at any time now. Dave’s report to the
Convention will be submitted for the record.

(The following written annual report was submitted by Mr. David W. Gorman,
Executive Director, DAV Washington Headquarters:)

Annual Report of
David W. Gorman
Executive Director, Washington Headquarters
to the 84th National Convention
of the
Disabled American Veterans
Las Vegas, Nevada
August 15, 2005

National Commander Sursely, distinguished guests, and delegates to the 84th
National Convention of the Disabled American Veterans:

As Executive Director of the DAV’s National Service and Legislative
Headquarters in Washington, it is truly an honor and a privilege to present this
annual report to this National Convention of the Disabled American Veterans.

First, I want thank National Commander James E. Sursely for his inspired
leadership and loyal dedication to the DAV and our mission to build better lives for
this nation’s disabled veterans and their families.

Over the past year Jim Sursely has been a powerful motivational force for the
DAYV, not only as our National Commander, but earning the respect of government
officials in Washington D.C., and the admiration of countless people all across this
great country of ours.

Jim has been a steadfast advocate for our cause, and all 2.3 million service-
connected disabled veterans and their families owe him a great debt of gratitude
for his efforts on their behalf. His achievements are a tribute to our commitment to
service to this nation’s veterans.

It has been an outstanding year, Commander, and please accept our profound
thanks and appreciation for all that you have done in the cause of disabled
veterans.

I also want to express my appreciation and abiding respect to our National
Adjutant Art Wilson. Art’s guidance, wise counsel, inspired leadership, and
unwavering support have been invaluable for me and all of us in our efforts to
serve you and your families.

Art’s wisdom, vision, dedication, and professional expertise have maintained
DAV’s outstanding financial position as the envy of other veterans service
organizations. He has demonstrated time and again the unique ability to combine
sound business practices with the unwavering commitment to our mission of
compassion and service.

Under Art’s leadership, we are in the best position in our history to continue
the work needed on behalf of our nation’s disabled veterans. He is the rock-solid
foundation of our organization — the greatest source of strength that places the
DAYV ahead of all other veterans organizations in the world. His strength is the
strength of the DAV.

None of our success would be possible without the terrific work carried out by
National Headquarters Executive Director Rick Patterson and his great staff and
our employees in Cold Spring, Kentucky.

Auxiliary National Commander Gertrude Tidwell and Auxiliary National
Adjutant Maria Tedrow have given all of us such great support. I offer my deepest
thanks to them as well. We would not be nearly as effective in our mission without
the Auxiliary and all those members who work so diligently on our behalf.
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At Washington Headquarters, our team—Service, Legislation, Voluntary
Services, Communications; our professional and support staffs, alike—work in
unison toward the same goal: fulfilling our important mission of service and hope
for disabled veterans and their families.

I would like to recognize the outstanding achievement of those National
Directors at the National Service and Legislative Headquarters. National Service
Director Randy Reese directs our program of outstanding service to disabled
veterans and their families. The scope and mission of his service is both massive
and complex. Randy has done a remarkable job leading our corps of National
Service Officers in the timely and successful completion of their mission.

National Legislative Director Joseph Violante has provided outstanding
leadership in advancing the legislative goals of the DAYV in a very difficult political
environment. Joe and his staff have excelled in making the policy makers of our
nation aware of the needs of disabled veterans and their families and advancing
our issues and programs. National Director of Voluntary Services Edward
Hartman has excelled in the further development of our voluntary programs. I am
very proud of these outstanding professionals and their staffs, who have had such
great success this past year.

I also want to acknowledge a valued member of our very fine team at
Washington Headquarters, Executive Secretary Sally Miller, who is invaluable in
keeping things running smoothly. My heartfelt thanks to Sally and the entire
support staff for the tremendous job they do and their dedication to our mission.

Service

As we conduct this National Convention, nearly 2,000 young men and women
have sacrificed their lives in Iraq, Afghanistan, and other nations in the war on
terrorism.

Those who have given their lives form a cross-section of our society. At least
2S5 service women have died and 179 have been wounded in action. The average
age of those sacrificing their lives in Iraq and Afghanistan is 28 years old. At least
40 percent of the combat dead in Iraq had children, which all too clearly illustrates
the fact that surviving spouses and children also bear the burden of our freedom,
and need DAV’s vital support programs.

DAYV continues our mission of building better lives for all of America’s disabled
veterans and their families by hiring NSOs from today’s conflicts to care for
tomorrow’s veterans. Our next generation of NSOs understands the honor in
representing those who have sacrificed life and limb for our freedom, as they have
sacrificed a great deal for America in their own right.

In 88 offices throughout the United States and in Puerto Rico, approximately
260 NSOs, with the assistance of 24 Transition Service Officers (TSOs) assigned to
various military installations, diligently represent veterans and their families with
claims for benefits from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and the
Department of Defense (DoD). Some of the free services offered by NSOs and
TSOs include information seminars and counseling, as well as assistance to
discharging service men and women through the Transition Assistance Program
(TAP) and the Disabled Transition Assistance Program (DTAP).

DAV’s NSOs also represent veterans and active-duty military personnel before
Discharge Review Boards, Boards for Correction of Military Records, Physical
Evaluation Boards, and many other official panels. With outlays of over $37
million in 2004, these direct hands-on services make up the largest item in our
budget for program services. Between July 1, 2004, and June 30, 2005, our NSOs
and TSOs represented over a quarter of a million veterans and their families in
claims for VA benefits, obtaining nearly $3 billion in new and retroactive benefits.
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DAV’s newest NSOs, who are veterans of Iraq and Afghanistan, have just
begun their initial training, which is a structured, 16-month on-the-job training
program developed by our most seasoned NSOs. However, in order to maintain
the level of excellence necessary to remain the Nation’s most respected Veterans
Service Organization, training never stops throughout the career of a NSO. DAV’s
Structured and Continued Training Program is designed to provide continual up-
to-date training on the multifaceted and ever-changing aspects of veterans’ law.

As a result of such comprehensive training, DAV’s NSOs are regarded as the
most respected, highly trained advocates and skilled experts in developing and
prosecuting veterans’ claims. This distinction was further revealed and
substantiated by a recent Knight Ridder investigation into the VA adjudicative
processes.

DAYV Structured and Continuing Training Program

The DAV’s Structured and Continuing Training Program is designed for use
by all NSOs and Trainees. Recognized by the highly regarded American Council
on Education (ACE), the DAV’s course of study uses the latest technology to
provide updates and enhance the NSO’s base knowledge. The program
incorporates extensive training in areas of anatomy; physiology; pathology;
medical terminology; communications; legal research and writing; VA laws and
regulations; and interpretation of precedent decisions from the U.S. Court of
Appeals for Veterans Claims (CAVC). This comprehensive course was developed
for the purpose of ensuring effective job-related skills, involving paralegal and
paramedical principles necessary in representation of veterans before VA Regional
Offices (VAROSs), VA Medical Centers (VAMCs), the Board of Veterans’ Appeals
(BVA or Board) and before the CAVC. Additionally, this training is inherent to
representation of active duty military personnel before Medical Evaluation Boards
and Physical Evaluation Boards.

The training is administered by Supervisory NSOs with subject matter
expertise. National Service Department staff at National Service and Legislative
Headquarters monitor the program and the instructors. NSOs are required to take
a pre-test and then successfully complete each of the 32 training modules before
taking a final post-test. DAV administers computer-based testing through an
internet service provider, and the National Service Director is provided computer-
generated reports of each NSO’s progress.

Upon successful completion of the course of instruction, NSOs are able to
describe the basic structures and functions of the major human body systems,
describe pathophysiological and neuropsychiatric conditions, define related
medical terms and utilize research methodology necessary to interpret, evaluate
and apply VA regulations and CAVC decisions.

In addition to this training program, supervisory personnel and selected NSOs
from field offices across the nation receive specialized training in management and
leadership skills and a variety of information technology programs. The goal of
DAV’s National Service Program is to produce the most highly skilled and effective
NSOs available for all veterans and their families.
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National Appeals Office

The Board of Veterans’ Appeals (BVA or Board) is the highest appellate level
within the VA and is responsible for entering the final decision on behalf of the
Secretary of Veterans Affairs concerning appeals for entitlement to veterans’
benefits. About 90 percent of the appeals before the Board deal with disability
compensation. DAV’s highly skilled National Appeals Officers (NAQOs) provide an
invaluable service to appellants in the presentation and representation of their
cases before the Board. DAV maintains the largest staff of any group doing this
work, representing 35 percent of all cases decided by the BVA for the period
between July 2004 and June 2005.

During this same period DAV’s NAOs represented 9,121 appellants who
received a decision by the Board, either by submitting a written legal brief on their
behalf or assisting them in a formal hearing. From those cases decided by the
Board, 1,038 issues of service connection were favorably resolved; 1,103 issues of
increased ratings were allowed; 937 miscellaneous issues were granted; and, 11,437
issues were remanded to VA’s Appeals Management Center for additional
development. In total, during fiscal year 2004 78% of all claimants represented by
DAYV received favorable (or remanded) dispositions. These figures reflect the
DAV’s continued commitment in providing quality representation to our nation’s
wartime disabled veterans, their dependents and survivors.

Our National Appeals Staff has been involved in numerous special assignments
outside of the office, such as providing personnel for DAV programs assisting
wounded soldiers returning from Iraq and Afghanistan. The office is involved in
training of National Service Officers attending orientation and instruction at the
Board. The NAO staff is also involved with other events such as the annual DAV
Mid-Winter Conference in Washington, DC.

Judicial Appeals Office

During 2004, the DAV continued to be the leading Veterans Service
Organization representing veterans and their dependents before the United States
Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims (CAVC) and the United States Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit (Federal Circuit). The DAV Judicial Appeals
Office filed 209 appeals during 2004. Of the 125 DAYV cases for which a disposition
was reached by the CAVC during 2004, 113 were reversals or remands. DAV had
an enviable 90.4 percent success rate before the CAVC.

The DAYV Judicial Appeals Office receives Equal Access to Justice Act (EAJA)
fees for those prevailing cases in which the BVA was not substantially justified in
their decision. During 2004, the Judicial Appeals Office staff generated
$315,555.64 in EAJA fees, all of which were donated to DAV’s National Service
Foundation. The office hopes to equal that figure in 2005 as $176,864.00 in EAJA
fees have been generated since January.

The Judicial Appeals Office also works closely with the DAV National Service
Director and his staff, who monitor proposed changes to VA regulations.
Challenges to such regulatory amendments must be filed in the Federal Circuit.
One such challenge brought in 2004 was Disabled American Veterans v. Secretary of
Veterans Affairs, Nos. 04-7117, 7128 (Fed. Cir.). DAYV argued this case before the
Federal Circuit in early April. The issue presented by the case is whether the
Board of Veterans Appeals may lawfully seek an “independent medical opinion”
from a physician employed by VA. DAYV asserts that a doctor working for VA
would not be “independent” within the meaning of the law. A decision is expected
within several months.
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Military Affairs and Transition Service Program

When the enlisted soldiers, sailors, airmen, and Marines and military officers
are making the all-important transition back into civilian life, the DAYV is there and
participates in several formal transition programs. Such programs include the
Transition Assistance Programs (TAP), Disabled Transition Assistance Programs
(DTAP), and Pre-Separation Programs. While some NSOs participate in these
programs, the majority of these services are provided by DAV’s specially trained
Transition Service Officers (TSOs). DAV’s TSOs are principally stationed on
military installations and their primary mission is to provide benefits counseling,
service medical records review and assist service members with filing initial claims
for VA benefits. Our TSOs provide services to more than 80 military installations
throughout our nation. By filing compensation claims at military separation
centers, where service medical records and examination facilities are readily
available, we are able to provide better, more prompt service to these soon-to-be
veterans.

During 2004, DAV TSOs conducted 1,982 formal briefing presentations for
92,422 transitioning service men and women. During that same time, our TSOs
conducted 45,699 personal interviews, reviewed 35,172 service medical records,
accepted 20,311 new powers of attorney and filed 21,469 claims for veterans’
benefits of which 17,189 where original disability compensation claims.

The DAYV continues to be the premier player in the VA’s Benefits Delivery at
Discharge (BDD) initiative. In January 2005 the VA began consolidating the
decision making of these claims to two regional processing offices. The two offices
are Salt Lake City, UT and Winston-Salem, NC. In the Salt Lake City office, the
VA has processed 3,083 claims since January of 2005, of which DAV represented
1,926. More than 60% of these cases were handled by DAV. In Winston-Salem,
the VA has processed 2,373 cases for the same period, of which 1,157 where
represented by DAV. Meaning DAYV represented nearly 50% of all the BDD cases
decided by the Winston-Salem VA office.

In addition, our NSOs provide representation before Discharge Review Boards
and Boards for Correction of Military Records. Counsel and representation was
provided for 258 active duty service members during their transition through the
military’s Disability Evaluation System (DES), which primarily consists of Medical
Evaluation Boards (MEBs) and formal hearings before Physical Evaluation Boards
(PEBs).

On July 27, 2005, the DAYV signed a memorandum of understanding (MOU)
with the National Guard Bureau Family Programs Office to facilitate the exchange
of information to assist military families.

This partnership will allow the National Guard and the DAV to share
information, materials, and resources, and work collaboratively to build a stronger
network of volunteers to meet the needs of military families. The agreement calls
for each of the 88 DAV National Service and Transition Service Offices to
cooperate with state National Guard headquarters in working with the family
services representatives to assist needy military families. Under the MOU, DAV
Departments in each state will promote community support for military
mobilizations and demobilizations. Local DAV Chapters will seek volunteers to
help serve the National Guard State Family Programs Family Assistance Centers.
Also DAYV will encourage it’s more than 17,000 volunteers to join other volunteers
in support of families of service members.

DAV’s outstanding and professional service programs are in place to assist all
veterans and their dependants in obtaining state or federal benefits for service to
our nation. We will also encourage the DAV Auxiliary to support the National
Guard volunteer programs.
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Mobile Service Office Program

The Mobile Service Office (MSO) Program continues to increase accessibility
to the benefits our nation provides by reaching out to veterans where they live. Not
all veterans are able to visit a National Service Office for various reasons, including
distance, lack of transportation, and health concerns. The MSO Program allows
knowledgeable NSOs to take their expertise to claimants in their home towns.
MSOs are equipped with sophisticated telecommunications which allows
verification of various benefit related information, including checking the status of
a claim. The MSOs also offer private interview areas for confidential counseling
and discussion with each claimant.

The DAV National Organization currently maintains 10 of these specially
equipped MSOs on tour to make stops in communities across the country. The
program started with 12 MSOs. Recognizing the importance and value of this
service, the Departments of Florida and Missouri each purchased one for more
frequent service in their states.

During 2004, our MSOs traveled nearly 120,000 miles, visiting 425 locations.
Our NSOs, with the assistance of TSOs, DSOs, and CSOs, interviewed 15,280
veterans and other potential claimants.

During their outreach 5,166 new powers of attorney to provide representation
to claimants were accepted and 13,990 applications for benefits were completed. In
addition, 765 new DAV members were recruited.

Outreach

During the past year DAYV entered a new era of outreach by having NSOs offer
services at Air Shows throughout the Nation. DAYV attended 11 Air Shows in 2004,
which resulted in 780 interviews, 149 powers of attorney, 1,061 claims and 129 new
DAV members. DAV again sponsored the Panchito, a restored World War II B-
25J Mitchell Bomber, in all 11 Air Shows. Due to the success of the air shows, DAV
elected to sponsor another B-25J Mitchell Bomber, Special Delivery, which also
participated in 11 air shows.

Information Seminars continue to be used by DAV’s NSOs as an avenue to
reach veterans and their families. During the period of July 1, 2004, through June
30, 2005, DAV NSOs conducted 45 Information Seminars at various locations
throughout the country. DAV mailed out over 163,732 notices to ensure that all
veterans living in the local area were aware of the time and place of the
Information Seminars. There were 1,764 attendees, with 637 interviews being
conducted, 342 claims taken and 35 new members recruited. Information
Seminars not only provide the opportunity for veterans to discuss benefits with
DAYV NSOs, DSOs and CSOs, they also are a great way for DAV chapters to recruit
members and volunteers and encourage chapter involvement.

Department Service Officers/Chapter Service Officers

The Department Service Officer/Chapter Service Officer (DSO/CSO)
Certification Training Program is in its third year of operation and has proven to
be a great success. An enormous amount of hard work, dedication and teamwork
goes into serving those that have sacrificed so much for our freedom. The National
Service Department is fortunate to have the cooperation, support, and assistance of
DSOs and CSOs from around the nation, and we want to ensure that each of them
continues to receive the training and information necessary to assist those we serve.
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The training program contains information and instruction related to the
DAV’s mission and programs, general VA benefits, and the legal and ethical
responsibilities of a Service Officer. Upon successful completion of the program,
participants receive certification as a DSO or CSO. This program helps to ensure
the vitality and growth of our local service programs both now and well into the
future. During 2004, 36 Departments participated in the training and 1,078
DSOs/CSOs were certified.

Homeless Veterans

Another initiative that has received our support and assistance is the plight of
homeless veterans. DAV’s Homeless Veterans Initiative, established to help
homeless veterans break the cycle of poverty and isolation and move from the
streets to self-sufficiency, and has helped us focus attention on the needs of
homeless veterans. Many of our Departments and Chapters are actively involved in
homeless veterans programs in their communities. Since 1989, homeless veterans
programs and projects have benefited from the $2.2 million in grants that have
been provided through the DAV Charitable Service Trust.

Legislation

Improving the delivery of health care to veterans and upgrading the efficiency
of the Department of Veterans Affairs health care system were again major areas
of DAV’s efforts this year. With the annual ordeal of urging adequate
appropriations for medical care, DAV continued to push for full funding of VA
medical care. Changing veterans medical care from a discretionary to a
mandatory program would alleviate a number of problems. With funding at
sufficient levels mandated by law rather than funding being subject to the politics
of the annual appropriations process, service-connected veterans would be
guaranteed the health care they need, and medical facility directors could better
plan their programs with advance knowledge of what resources they will have
available. Inadequate funding would no longer require the rationing of medical
care or emergency funding legislation, and veterans would be able to obtain clinic
appointments in a timely fashion.

At the end of the 108th Congress in 2004 and the beginning of the new 109th
Congress in January 2005, the political landscape changed notably in Washington.
The House Leadership stripped Congressman Chris Smith of his chairmanship of
the House Veterans’ Affairs Committee because he was an honest advocate for
what was right and would not bend to leadership pressure to quietly “go along with
the program” to under fund veterans’ medical care and support other actions
detrimental to veterans. The House leadership replaced Congressman Smith with
Congressman Steve Buyer (R-IN). Senator Arlen Specter’s (R-PA) term as
chairman of the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee expired, and he was replaced
by Senator Larry Craig (R-ID). Senator Daniel Akaka (D-HI) became the new
Ranking Member of the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee.  With its
reorganization of the appropriations subcommittees, the congressional leadership
included VA under a new subcommittee in both the House and Senate. In the
House, VA’s appropriation was placed under the Subcommittee on Military
Quality of Life and Veterans Affairs, and Related Agencies. In the Senate, the
Subcommittee on Military Construction, Veterans’ Affairs, and Related Agencies
have jurisdiction over VA’s appropriation.

With President Bush’s second term came a new Secretary of Veterans Affairs.
Our longtime advocate, Secretary Anthony J. Principi, was replaced by Secretary
James Nicholson. Elsewhere, we lost some friends in key places.
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Among our own ranks of the DAV, we lost one of our most special friends.
Past National Commander Oliver Meadows died on April 26, 2005. Following a
distinguished 20-year career as Staff Director of the House Veterans’ Affairs
Committee, Oliver served as our National Commander in 1977 and 1978. He
remained a trusted advisor for the DAV national staff throughout the years, and
the DAYV legislative staff regularly sought his invaluable advice and counsel. We
will miss that advice, and we will miss him.

Budget & Appropriations

Fiscal Year 2005

Each year, the budget debate centers on the amount of discretionary
appropriations that should be provided for veterans’ programs, predominantly
veterans’ medical care. As they began work to draft their fiscal year (FY) 2005
appropriations bill for the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), Housing and
Urban Development (HUD), and other independent agencies in late July 2004,
House appropriators expected to cut spending for all the agencies funded by the
bill except VA. Because of its political importance, the amount of appropriations
for veterans medical care was expected to make the bill one of the most
controversial among the 13 annual appropriations bills.

The bill approved by the House Appropriations Committee on July 22, 2004,
added $1.2 billion to the $27.4 billion the President requested in his budget. The
Appropriations Committee voted down an amendment offered by Congressman
Chet Edwards (D-TX) to add another $1.3 billion to bring funding more in line
with our request in The Independent Budget of $30.3 billion in appropriations for
medical care. In response to strong objections from the veterans community, the
Committee rejected the President’s recommendation to increase medical co-
payments and impose a $250 annual enrollment fee for medical care. The House
bill did, however, follow the President’s recommendation to cut staffing in the
Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA) by 540 fulltime employees (FTE). On
September 21, 2004, the Senate Appropriations Committee approved its bill, which
provided funding slightly higher than the House bill with an additional $1.2 billion
designated as emergency funding for medical care.

As we neared the beginning of FY 2005 on October 1, 2004, Congress had yet
to agree on most of the spending bills, and it became apparent that temporary
funding bills would be required to keep the Government running until Congress
returned after the November election. On November 20, 2004, Congress passed an
omnibus appropriations bill that consolidated several appropriations bills, and the
President signed it on December 8, 2004. The appropriation for the Veterans
Health Administration (VHA) was $28.1 billion, an increase of $1.5 billion from FY
2004, but $1.7 billion less than we sought. The omnibus bill required an across-the-
board reduction in spending, a “recision,” which reduced the increase by $228
million. Another $125 million was to be transferred to VBA to cover the costs of
hiring new claims processing staff. Nearly all of the remaining increase was wiped
out by a pay increase for Federal employees above that funded in the budget.
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Fiscal Year 2005 Supplemental Appropriation

With an influx of new veterans from the War in Iraq and the War against
Terrorism needing medical services and with news reports from across our nation
of shortfalls already in FY 2005 funding for veterans’ medical care, Representative
Darlene Hooley (D-OR) and other House Democrats wrote the President in
February 2005 to urge him to support including $1.3 billion for veterans’ medical
care in the emergency supplemental appropriations for the war. In congressional
testimony on February 16, 2005, VA Secretary Jim Nicholson denied that VA was
deferring purchases and maintenance because of funding shortfalls. In his March
8, 2005, testimony in a joint hearing before the Senate and House Veterans’ Affairs
Committees, DAV National Commander James E. Sursely provided several
examples of news stories about the effects of shortfalls on various VA medical
centers. These stories began to appear in the first quarter of the fiscal year. In
March, the House leadership blocked Representative Hooley’s efforts to offer an
amendment to the bill for the purpose of adding $1.2 billion for medical care. On
April 5, 2005, Secretary Nicholson told Congress VA did not need additional money
for veterans’ medical care. On April 12, 2005, an effort by Senator Patty Murray
(D-WA) to add $2 billion to the bill for veterans’ medical care was defeated by a
vote along party lines of 54 to 46.

On June 23, 2005, VA admitted that a $1 billion shortfall in medical care
funding for FY 2005 had required it to divert construction money and dip into
reserve funds to cover the shortage. On June 29, 2005, the Senate voted to add $1.5
billion to the FY 2005 medical care appropriation. The House passed its
supplemental funding bill the following day. Based on the Administration’s initial
estimate of the extra funding needed, the House bill would provide only $975
million. The Administration subsequently revised its estimate and informed
Congress that $300 million more would as required to cover the shortfall. As of
this writing, the Senate is still considering alternatives for the best legislative
vehicle for the supplemental funding, and the Senate and House must both agree to
the same amount before the legislation can be sent to the President to be signed into
law.

Fiscal Year 2006

The budget cycle for FY 2006 began with the President’s submission of this
budget to Congress on February 7, 2005. The President’s FY 2006 budget for VA
requests $70.8 billion in total budget authority. This total consists of $37.4 billion
for mandatory spending for the benefit programs and $33.4 billion for
discretionary funding. The mandatory funding would include $478.3 million to
cover a 2.3 percent cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) in disability compensation.
The medical care budget authority of $30.7 billion would include $27.8 billion in
discretionary appropriations with the remainder to be obtained from co-payments,
enrollment fees, and other collections. Another $2.7 billion in discretionary
funding would cover general operating expenses (GOE), some construction costs,
and medical research.

The $27.8 billion in appropriations for veterans’ medical care amounts to only
a 0.4%—or less than one-half of one percent—increase over the FY 2005
appropriation in nominal, or constant, dollars, and therefore would be a reduction
below the FY 2005 appropriation of $27.7 billion adjusted for inflation. The
Independent Budget estimated that VA needed at least $31.2 billion in
appropriations for veterans’ medical care in FY 2006.
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To bridge some of the gap between the resources needed and the
appropriations requested, the Administration’s budget would shift some of the
costs of VA medical care from the Government onto veterans themselves. It would
impose a $250 annual enrollment fee and increase pharmacy co-payments for so-
called “lower priority veterans” (Priority Group 7 & 8 veterans) seeking medical
care. According to the Administration’s budget, imposing these fees has two goals:
(1) to generate non-appropriated revenues in the form of money collected from
veterans and thereby partially offset reductions in appropriations, and (2) save
money by driving a projected 213,000 veterans away from the VA medical care
system in FY 2006. To further partially reduce the gap between resources needed
and appropriations requested, the Administration merely declared that it will
achieve $590 million in savings through new management efficiencies.

Assuming Congress agrees to impose the enrollment fee and increased co-
payments on disabled veterans, assuming the projected savings from the scheme to
drive veterans away from the system, and assuming all of the savings from the
attainment of new efficiencies, the total budget authority would still fall far short of
what is needed to maintain services. The total budget authority for medical care
would still be so inadequate that it would require draconian reductions in essential
medical services to veterans. The Administration’s budget would reduce VA
medical care staffing in FY 2006 by 3,712 fulltime employees below FY 2005 levels.

Also, the Administration’s budget proposes a sharp curtailment of long-term
care to disabled veterans. The Administration’s budget requested that Congress
change the law to relieve VA from congressionally mandated levels of VA long-
term care. The Administration’s budget would provide VA nursing care to 27%
fewer veterans in FY 2006 than in FY 1998, the year used for comparison because
the law employed 1998 capacity as a statutory minimum level of VA nursing care
capacity. The Administration’s budget will cover the costs of nursing care in state
institutions for 61% fewer veterans in FY 2006 than in FY 2005.

The Administration’s budget would also make personnel reductions in VBA,
with 76 fewer employees than VBA has authorized for FY 2005 and 539 fewer
employees than VBA had in FY 2003. The budget includes no funding to continue
several information technology initiatives designed to improve efficiency in benefits
administration.

In connection with its requests for funding, the President’s budget includes the
underlying justification for the amounts requested to operate programs and to
meet Government obligations. It includes explanations of the workloads and
projected workloads and the strategies and methods for achieving program
purposes and for improving efficiency. In addition, the budget includes the
President’s recommendations for legislation to implement the Administration’s
public policy objectives.

Historically, presidents’ budgets have included modest proposals to improve
benefits and services for veterans. Presidents’ budgets have also occasionally
included proposals to reduce or eliminate certain veterans’ benefits. The
Administration’s budget for FY 2006 contains very little in the way of
recommendations to improve veterans’ programs. The President’s budget includes
only one recommendation for beneficial legislation, and that is the typical
recommendation that Congress enact a COLA for compensation and related
benefits under that account.
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Earlier this year, we testified in three separate congressional hearings to state
the DAV’s position on the President’s FY 2006 budget recommendations and to
present our own alternative budget recommendations as set forth in The
Independent Budget. We appeared before the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee
on February 15, 2005, and before the House Veterans’ Affairs Committee on
February 16, 2005. We testified before the House Appropriations Subcommittee
on Military Quality of Life and Veterans’ Affairs, and Related Agencies on April 7,
2005. Consistent with our primary responsibility as the author of the sections of
The Independent Budget concerning the nonmedical benefit programs, we focused
our testimony on those areas, although we did depart from our usual practice to
communicate our strong views about the inadequacy of the budget request for
medical care. In his testimony before the joint session of the two Veterans’ Affairs
Committees, National Commander Sursely reminded legislators that a VA official
had recently conceded that VA needs a 13 to 14 percent increase in medical care
funding each year just to stay even with rising costs. The National Commander
noted that the President’s FY 2006 budget requested an increase of less than one-
half of one percent. He urged Congress to provide $31.2 billion for medical care,
$3.4 billion more than the President’s request. He also informed the members of
the Committees of DAV’s strong opposition to enrollment fees and higher co-
payments.

At the time of the National Commander’s testimony, House Veterans’ Affairs
Committee Chairman Steve Buyer had already recommended to the House Budget
Committee that the budget should include enrollment fees on a sliding scale from
$230 to $500 based on income. Other Republican members of the Committee
distanced themselves from the recommendation. Democratic members wrote
separately to the Budget Committee to express their opposition to any enrollment
fee or increase in co-payments.

In the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee, the majority and minority also
submitted their recommendations separately to the Budget Committee. The
majority did not expressly object to the imposition of an annual enrollment, but
specifically stated that it did not endorse an increase in co-payments. The minority
rejected both an enrollment fee and increased co-payments.

As part of the annual budget process, the two chambers of Congress adopt
budget resolutions as a revenue and spending plan for the upcoming fiscal year. If
both chambers agree on the same plan, the concurrent budget resolution then sets
general spending levels for Federal departments and agencies. The House and
Senate agreed upon and adopted the concurrent budget resolution for FY 2006 on
April 28, 2005. The resolution did not include plans for an annual medical care
enrollment fee or increased co-payments. Though it included instructions for cuts
in mandatory spending for most Federal programs, none was directed at veterans’
programs. The measure recommended only about $400 million above the
President’s budget for veterans’ medical care. Attempts to add more money for
medical care failed.

On May 26, 2005, the House passed its appropriation bill funding VA. The bill
would provide $28.4 billion for veterans’ medical care programs, which would
amount to just over $600 million in increased appropriations. This amount is $2.7
billion below our recommendation in The Independent Budget. An amendment
offered by Congressman David Obey (D-WI) to add $2.6 billion for VA programs
was defeated by a vote largely along party lines. Another amendment offered by
Congressman Charlie Melancon (D-LA) would have added $53 million for veterans
medical care and claims processing. The Speaker of the House voted against the
amendment to break a tie, and the amendment failed by a vote of 214 to 213.

On July 14, 2005, the Administration amended its FY 2006 budget request for
VA medical care and asked Congress to provide $1.677 billion above the original
request.
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Medical Care
Mandatory Funding

Our campaign for legislation to change the manner in which Congress funds
veterans’ medical care, from discretionary appropriations to mandatory spending,
continued full force through the end of 2004 and the end of the 108th Congress.
The Senate bill to make funding mandatory, S. 50, had 29 cosponsors. The House
bill, H.R. 2318, had 188. Though we succeeded in creating awareness among
legislators of the need enact mandatory funding legislation, we continued to run up
against strong opposition from appropriators and those opposed to mandating
spending levels for veterans’ medical care.

Several measures have been introduced in the 109th Congress that would shift
funding for VA medical care from a discretionary to a mandatory account.
Representative Lane Evans, (D-IL) introduced H.R. 515, the Assured Funding for
Veterans Health Care Act. The bill would require the Secretary of the Treasury to
make mandatory appropriations for VA medical care based on a funding formula.
For fiscal year 2007, the amount of funds available to VA for veterans’ medical
care would equal 130% of the total obligations made by VA for such programs in
FY 2005. The amounts in following years would be based on the number of
veterans enrolled for VA health care on a given date and adjusted annually for
medical inflation. This bill has 112 cosponsors. Senator Tim Johnson (D-SD)
introduced a companion bill, S. 331, which has 19 cosponsors. Two additional
measures include provisions for mandatory funding for veterans health care as
well: S. 13, introduced by Senator Daniel K. Akaka (D-HI) and S. 963, introduced
by Senator John Thune (R-SD).

The DAYV and the eight other major veterans organizations of The Partnership
for Veterans Health Care Budget Reform continue to combine and coordinate their
efforts to obtain this legislation. We continue to gain support, and the current
failures of the discretionary budget process have made the need for mandatory
funding all the more evident.

Capital Asset Realignment for Enhanced Services (CARES)

VA continues its project to reconfigure, and relocate, where necessary, its
medical care facilities according to current geographic, demographic, and
structural needs. Designated the Capital Asset Realignment for Enhanced
Services, and known as CARES, VA initiated this comprehensive and systematic
update of national medical care infrastructure in 2001.

Based on assessments of veteran populations within major geographical market
areas and analysis of the current and projected health care needs within these
markets, current resources were compared with forecasted demand. From these
findings, VA devised a Draft National CARES Plan, issued on August 4, 2003. The
draft plan proposed some consolidations, closures, expansion, and new construction
of facilities. The CARES Commission then reviewed the draft plan and held its
own public hearings to hear the views of various interested parties. Individuals
from DAV departments and National Service Officers appeared before the
Commission to present testimony on local conditions and needs. The Commission
conducted some 38 public hearings and held 10 public meetings, in which it heard
from veterans, veterans’ organization representatives, members of Congress,
Governors, and others. The CARES Commission compiled its analyses and
recommendations for enhancing medical care services to veterans in its February
2004 Report to the Secretary of Veterans Affairs.
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Upon the VA Secretary’s acceptance of the Commission’s recommendations in
May of last year, implementation of the plan began. The CARES plan includes 30
high-priority construction projects that make up the initial phase of
implementation, but the plan identifies more than 100 construction projects
overall. In early January 2005, VA awarded a contract to the firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers to complete studies at 18 sites across the country, and
implementation is ongoing.

Other Medical Care Issues and Legislation

On July 22, 2004, we testified before the House Committee on Veterans’
Affairs on the state of collaboration between the Department of Defense (DoD) and
VA in medical research and amputee care for veterans, and on potential reforms in
VA’s blind rehabilitation services. We acknowledged that Walter Reed Army
Medical Center provides amputees technologically advanced prosthesis and the
facilities initiatives to upgrade its Amputee Center and expand research on
prosthetic care, limb development, and rehabilitation. We expressed concerns as to
whether Congress has provided VA the necessary resources to provide the same
excellent care and prosthetic services. We included recommendations for ensuring
VA maintains the highest quality programs for amputees. We observed that,
despite its history of excellence, VA’s Blind Rehabilitation Service, had several
deficiencies and offered specific recommendations to address them.

On November 30, 2004, Congressman Chris Smith’s bill, H.R. 3936, was
enacted as Public Law. 108-442, the Veterans Health Programs Improvement Act
of 2004. Among its many provisions, the Act authorized establishment of new VA
research and education centers for developing new treatments for veterans with
complex multi-trauma combat injuries. It created a new pilot program to use
innovative technologies for recruitment of nurses, eliminated co-payments for
veterans receiving VA hospice care, authorized 16 leases for community-based
outpatient clinics (CBOCs), and added permanent authority for VA’s sexual
trauma counseling program.

Benefits

On October 13, 2004, Congress cleared H.R. 4175, the Veterans'
Compensation Cost-of-Living Adjustment Act of 2004, for the President’s
signature. The President signed the Act into law on October 25, 2004. This
legislation, Public Law 108-363, increased disability compensation, dependency
and indemnity compensation (DIC), and the clothing allowance by 2.7 percent
based on the increase in the cost of living as measured by the Consumer Price
Index.

On October 9, 2004, the House and Senate agreed to the conference report for
H.R. 4200, the Ronald W. Reagan National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal
Year 2005. The President signed the Act on October 28, 2004, and it became Public
Law 108-375. This legislation made another incremental step on the “concurrent
receipt” issue. For military retired veterans with service-connected disabilities
rated 100 percent, it removed provisions for a gradual phase-out of the offset
between military retired pay and compensation, authorizing full payment of both
benefits beginning in January 2005. This bill also eliminated the Social Security
offset against an annuity under the Survivor Benefit Plan (SBP). Another
provision directed DoD to conduct a study of the service-connected disability
benefits available to veterans and directed the Government Accountability Office
to conduct a study of other government disability benefit programs in which
employees perform tasks with risks analogous to those performed by members of
the Armed Forces.
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The Veterans Benefits Improvement Act of 2004, S. 2486, was enacted as
Public Law 108-454 on December 10, 2004. This bill consolidated various
provisions of other bills into one comprehensive act. The bill made several
improvements to apprenticeship and on-the-job training programs for veterans
and extended from 10 to 20 years the period for educational assistance to surviving
spouses of members who die on active duty. It strengthened reemployment laws
for veterans. It made a number of improvements to the home loan program. The
Act added new protections against misuse of funds of an incompetent veteran by a
fiduciary. Some of the other miscellaneous improvements to the benefits programs
in this legislation were:

= increased by $250 the monthly amount of dependency and indemnity
compensation in the case of a surviving spouse with one or more children below the
age of 18, to be payable until all such children have attained such age;

= provided that a radiation-exposed veteran who receives payments under
the Radiation Exposure Compensation Act of 1990 shall not be deprived of the
payment of any veterans' disability compensation or dependency and indemnity
compensation to which such person is entitled, but there shall be deducted from
such compensation the amount of any payment made under such Act;

= excluded life insurance proceeds from consideration as income for
veterans' pension purposes;

= provided expressly that a disability incurred through VA treatment or
vocational rehabilitation will be treated as a service-connected disability for
purposes of eligibility to special adapted housing and the automobile grant;

= added bone, brain, colon, lung, and ovarian cancers to the list of diseases
subject to presumptive service connection in the case of a veteran exposed to
ionizing radiation.

This Act also amended the law to authorize the United States Court of Appeals for
Veterans Claims to be at any location in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area
rather than in the District of Columbia.

On May 11, 2005, the President signed into law H.R. 1268, an emergency
defense supplemental appropriations measure, enacted as Public Law 109-13.
Included in this legislation were a temporary increase in coverage under the
Servicemembers’ Group Life Insurance (SGLI) and Veterans’ Group Life
Insurance (VGLI) from $250,000 to $400,000. As noted below, both the Senate and
House have bills pending that would make these increases permanent. This
legislation also added provisions to require that a member insured under the SGLI
program will be automatically issued a traumatic injury protection rider. The
rider will provide a payment of up to $100,000 if the member, while so insured,
sustains a traumatic injury that results in: (1) a loss of sight, limbs, speech, or
hearing; (2) certain burns; or (3) a coma or the inability to carry out certain daily
living activities. The provision requires the member serving on active or reserve
duty to pay a premium for this traumatic injury insurance.

Hearings on Benefit Bills and Oversight

On April 20, 2005, we testified before the Subcommittee on Economic
Opportunity of the House Committee on Veterans’ Affairs regarding the
functioning of VA’s Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment (VR&E) program.
We cited shortcomings in the program as found by the VR&E Task Force that was
created by the VA Secretary to study the program. We also recounted deficiencies
noted by The Independent Budget and provided recommendations for more
adequate resources and program improvements.
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On May 5, 2005, we testified in an oversight hearing before the Subcommittee
on Disability Assistance and Memorial Affairs of the House Veterans’ Affairs
Committee regarding the functioning and performance of VA’s appellate
operations. We pointed out that the Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims
overturns or remands 61 percent of the BVA decisions the Court reviews, which
reflects a high error rate in those BVA decisions appealed to the Court. We
observed that the number of appeals from regional office decisions is on the rise,
and that processing timeliness of appeals is slipping. We similarly noted higher
than projected workloads and decreasing timeliness at VBA’s Appeals
Management Center, a special unit created to complete actions ordered by BVA
remands. We recommended increased personnel to handle these higher workloads.

On May 26, 2005, we provided the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee with
our views on the functioning of VA’s claims and appeals processes. We observed
that some of the same deficiencies that have persisted for years continue to plague
VBA today and cause the work to back up thereby delaying the delivery of benefits
to disabled veterans who often urgently need them to purchase the necessities of
life.

Because of inadequate staffing levels, adjudicators must rush their work. With
insufficient time for adjudicators to thoroughly develop and review the record,
error rates are high. Consequently, many claims decisions must be reworked to
correct errors. Substantial time is required for processing of appeals. When
workload inventories begin to show large backlogs, the emphasis is on production,
and quality is compromised even more, making the situation worse in the long
term. We recommended that VBA be provided more employees, that training be
improved, and that management be held accountable for quality first. We repeated
our observation that BVA and the Appeals Management Center were also strained
with caseloads and processing times increasing to the detriment of veterans needing
benefits. Here again, we recommended an increase in staffing levels.

To address H.R. 3200, the Servicemembers’ Group Life Insurance Act;
traumatic injury insurance provisions in Public Law 109-13; and H.R. 1618, the
Wounded Warrior Servicemembers’ Group Disability Insurance Act of 2005, we
testified in the House on June 16, 2005, before the Subcommittee on Disability
Assistance and Memorial Affairs. Regarding provisions in H.R. 3200 to replace the
temporary increase for SGLI and VGLI in Public Law 109-13 with a permanent
increase, we noted we had no mandate from our membership but had no objection
to enactment of this beneficial legislation. We objected to the concept in Public
Law 109-13 and in H.R. 1618 whereby servicemembers pay to insure themselves
against disability incurred in military service.

On June 23, 2005, we testified on several bills in a hearing before the Senate
Veterans’ Affairs Committee. We stated our support for S. 1234, the Veterans’
Compensation Cost-of-Living Act of 2005. We supported enactment of S. 1259, a
bill that would ensure the DAV and other organizations are granted access to
military facilities for the purpose of counseling and aiding service members
transitioning into civilian life. We applauded S. 1271, which would liberalize
provisions for presumptive service connection for diseases related to detention as a
prisoner of war.

On June 29, 2005, we were once again before the Subcommittee on Economic
Opportunity for testimony in an oversight hearing regarding the Transition
Assistance Program (TAP) and the Disabled Transition Assistance (DTAP)
program. We recommended that attendance at these sessions be made mandatory
to avoid members being pressured by their superiors not to attend. We offered
suggestions for improving the availability of TAP/DTAP sessions for members of
the Reserves and National Guard.
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Pending L egislation

Medical Care

H.R. 922, the Veterans Mental Health Services Enhancement Act of 2005:
would add psychiatrists and other mental health specialists in posttraumatic stress
disorder (PTSD) at VA facilities, require a nationwide outreach program for
veterans of Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom who are
or may be suffering from PTSD, and would require other measures to improve
services for veterans suffering from PTSD.

H.R. 1588, the Comprehensive Assistance for Veterans Exposed to Traumatic
Stressors Act of 2005: would require DoD and VA to take a number of cooperative
steps to improve means for prevention, early intervention, and treatment of PTSD
and substance abuse.

Concurrent Receipt of Retired Pay and Compensation

Legislators have introduced several bills to end the remaining prohibition
against concurrent receipt of military longevity retired pay and disability
compensation. They are:

H.R. 303, the Retired Pay Restoration Act of 2005

H.R. 2076, the Retired Pay Restoration Act of 2005

H.R. 2368, the Immediate and Full Repeal of the Disabled Veterans Tax Act of
2005

S. 558, the Retired Pay Restoration Act of 2005

S. 845, a bill to amend title 10, United States Code, to permit retired
servicemembers who have a service-connected disability to receive disability
compensation and either retired pay or Combat-Related Special Compensation and
to eliminate the phase-in period with respect to such concurrent receipt.

House Minority Leadership Bill

The New GI Bill of Rights for the 21st Century Act, H.R. 2131, is a bill
introduced by the Democratic leadership of the House, with 169 cosponsors, that
contains multiple provisions to improve benefits for servicemembers, veterans, and
dependents. The bill includes provisions for such matters as concurrent receipt of
military retired pay and disability compensation, removal of the offset between
SBP and DIC, improvement of educational programs, increased funding for
veterans’ medical care, and prohibition of increases in medical co-payments and
imposition of enrollment fees.

Other
H.R. 1951, the American Veterans Disabled for Life Commemorative Coin act:
would provide for the minting and issue $1 silver coins to commemorate disabled

American veterans and would pay the proceeds from a $10 surcharge on each coin
to the LIFE Memorial Foundation to support construction of the Memorial.
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S. 633, the American Veterans Disabled for Life Commemorative Coin Act:
would provide for the minting and issue of not more than 500,000 $1 coins to
commemorate disabled American veterans and would pay the proceeds from a $10
surcharge on each coin to the LIFE Memorial Foundation to support construction
of the Memorial.

Voluntary Services

Voluntary service to veterans and their families has always been the hallmark
of the Disabled American Veterans (DAV) and the Auxiliary. Volunteerism is
more than the stock in trade of the DAV and the Auxiliary; it is one of the more
eloquent expressions of the respect and gratitude that individual members have for
those who have served their country.

DAYV Department of Veterans Affairs Voluntary Services Programs

The VAVS program is the largest of our volunteer initiatives. Through it,
DAYV volunteers provide a broad array of services to veterans in our nation's VA
medical facilities. Under this program, 14,374 DAV VAVS volunteers donated
2,138,774 hours in the 12 months ending September 2004.

With a group this large and the huge number of assignments they perform,
you can imagine the extensive management effort that's carried out on a local level
by 19 State Chairmen, 148 VAVS Representatives, 196 Deputy Representatives, 20
Associate Representatives, and five Deputy Associate Representatives.

The DAYV volunteer effort is enhanced by a very active corps of 2,825 Auxiliary
volunteers who donated 256,015 hours last year. Together, DAV and Auxiliary
volunteers provided 2,394,789 hours of VAVS service over the past year —
considerably more than any other service organization. This is equivalent to the
VA having an additional 1,214 full-time employees with an estimated value of
nearly $42 million in hourly wages alone.

DAYV Hospital Service Coordinator, Transport Network Program

Because so many sick and disabled veterans lack transportation to and from
VA medical facilities for needed treatment, the DAV operates a nationwide
Transportation Network. This program continues to show tremendous growth as
an indispensable resource for veterans. Across the nation, DAV Hospital Service
Coordinators (HSCs) operate 183 active programs. They’ve recruited 9,657
volunteer drivers who logged 26,634,281 miles last year, taking 731,085 veterans to
and from VA medical facilities. Many of these veterans rode in vans the DAV
purchased and donated to VA medical facilities for use in the Transportation
Network. DAV Departments and Chapters, together with the National
Organization, have now donated 1,668 vans to VA medical centers nationwide at a
cost of $34,029,897.

At the DAV’s 83rd National Convention, Ford Motor Company donated eight
new 12-passenger vans to the Disabled American Veterans Transportation
Network. The VAMCs that received these vans were: Montgomery, Alabama;
Lexington, Kentucky; Columbia, Missouri; Syracuse, New York; Asheville, North
Carolina; Roseburg, Oregon; Murfreesboro, Tennessee (and outstationed at the
Chattanooga VA Outpatient Clinic); and Madison, Wisconsin.

As a further demonstration of its commitment to the DAV Transportation
Network, Ford Motor Company is again donating eight new 12-passenger vans.
This will take place during the opening session at this National Convention. The
VAMC s receiving these vans are: Washington, D.C.; Iron Mountain, Michigan;
Chillicothe, Ohio; Portland, Oregon; Fort Meade, South Dakota; Spokane,
Washington; Clarksburg, West Virginia; and Cheyenne, Wyoming.
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This generous gift reflects Ford Motor Company’s continued commitment to
veterans. From the start, they have shown great interest in the DAV’s mission of
service and transportation to the many veterans who have no other means of
getting to their VA medical appointments. Ford’s participation with us is a real
boost to the DAV Transportation Network program.

The George H. Seal Memorial Trophy

The George H. Seal Memorial Trophy recognizes an outstanding DAV and
Auxiliary VAVS volunteer each year, people whose volunteer activities closely
reflect the values that characterized the life of the late National DAV VAVS
Representative George H. Seal.

During the 27 years since its inception, this award has become one of the most
esteemed honors presented at the DAV’s annual National Convention. VA medical
center Voluntary Service Program Managers throughout the nation are each
encouraged to submit nominations for DAV and Auxiliary volunteers. These
nominations are then thoroughly evaluated by an independent committee of
authorities in the field of voluntary service. The volunteers selected by the
committee are brought to the DAV National Convention for the award
presentation. After reviewing the nominations of DAV and Auxiliary volunteers,
the committee chose as this year’s winners:

DAV

Troy Bowling, a U.S. Marine who was left for dead on the black volcanic sands
of Red Beach One on Iwo Jima, has been a DAV volunteer for 40 years. Mr.
Bowling, 78, has contributed more than 56,089 hours volunteering at VA medical
centers, equivalent to 27 years of consecutive 40-hour weeks.

Mr. Bowling, a member of DAV Chapter 1 in Lexington, Kentucky, has been
contributing as a volunteer at the Lexington VA Medical Center. He began by
assisting veterans and widows filing claims for benefits administered by the
Department of Veterans Affairs. He later became involved with special recreation
activities and most recently, compiles volunteer data, processes new volunteers, and
encourages other veterans to volunteer.

DAV Auxiliary

Ruth N. Bier, 81, is a member of DAV Auxiliary Unit 173 in Austin, Texas.
Mrs. Bier served as a volunteer in military hospitals while her husband was
stationed in Germany. When they returned to the United States, she served with a
first aid unit traveling to military bases. She joined the DAV Voluntary Services
program in 1971 and has been volunteering with the DAV Auxiliary ever since.

Mrs. Bier has donated 35,718 hours, which amounts to more than 17 years as a
full-time volunteer. She performs a variety of voluntary services at the Central
Texas Veterans Healthcare System outpatient clinic in Austin, Texas. She handles
the day-to-day activities and services for volunteers and patients as well as
coordinates the DAV Transportation Network at the clinic.

Mr. Bowling and Mrs. Bier will be presented their awards during the opening
session of the 2005 DAYV and Aucxiliary National Convention in Las Vegas, Nevada.
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2005 Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarship Program

The Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarship Program was created to honor
outstanding young volunteers who are active participants in the VA Voluntary
Service program. The scholarships are awarded to deserving young men and
women who have generously donated their time and compassion to sick and
disabled veterans in their communities. The DAYV is deeply appreciative of Ford
Motor Company for helping recognize the thousands of hours these outstanding
students have donated to care for and comfort disabled veterans.

Candidates for the scholarships must be age 21 or younger and must have
volunteered a minimum of 100 hours in a VA medical center during the previous
calendar year. The scholarship will be available for any accredited institution of
higher learning, to include universities, colleges, community colleges or vocational
schools, etc. In addition, the recipient must utilize the scholarship prior to reaching
age 25. Employees of the DAV National Organization and their families are not
eligible for this award.

Nomination forms were mailed to each Department Commander and
Voluntary Service Program Managers at all VA medical centers across the
country. The committee, Chaired by National Commander James E. Sursely, is
responsible for selecting the scholarship recipients.

The winners of the 2005 Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarships have
widely divergent interests, but they have one thing in common — they honor those
who defended our nation’s freedom by donating their time to assist disabled
veterans.

1* Place ($15,000) Andrew Layton, Battle Creek, MI VAMC

2" Place ($10,000) Ann Marie Sobocinski, Milwaukee, WI VAMC

3" Place ($7,500) Felicia Ashley Bracey, Richmond, VA VAMC
($7,500) Philip Nodhturft, III, Tampa, FL VAMC

4™ Place ($5,000)

Marissa Mignon Jones, Jackson, MS VAMC

Linda Saleh, Cleveland, OH VAMC - Brecksville Division

Neil Rangwani, Bedford, MA VAMC

Shazim Uppal, Wilmington, DE VAMC

Brody J. Pav, Bay Pines, FL VAMC

Jared T. Bryant, Topeka, KS VAMC

Karissa L. Wrock, Detroit, MI VAMC

Jennifer Snow, White City, OR VAMC

PRNANR W=

The outstanding service provided by this dedicated group of young volunteers
is inspiring to those veterans who are the recipients of their care and to the families
of those veterans. They prove that our nation’s youth care about veterans and the
service and sacrifice they made for our nation. They have proven their desire to
help disabled veterans, and they clearly have gained a great deal from their
association with our veterans. It is a privilege to have these young men and women
working to assist our sick and disabled veterans. The tremendous response we
have received for the Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarship Program is
growing. In the future, it will encourage increased volunteerism to help our
nation’s veterans.

Andrew Layton will be presented with his scholarship during the opening
session of the 2005 DAV and Auxiliary National Convention in Las Vegas, Nevada.

The selection committee once again stated that all of the nominees are very
special volunteers, and it was a very, very difficult job to choose a winner. Each
nominee has been awarded a certificate of merit for outstanding volunteer
performance in meeting the needs of disabled veterans.
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Sports for the Disabled

Athletic programs for handicapped veterans have always been important to
DAV. We have a long, proud history of leadership in efforts that encourage
athletic activity among disabled veterans of all ages. Working together with the
VA, DAV leaders are committed to providing these men and women with
opportunities to participate in sports which many thought would not be possible
with their disabilities.

More and more, doctors recognize it's not enough to stabilize patients
medically and send them home. Without an introduction to sports or recreation,
the hospital will see that person again and again. Disabled people involved in
sports generally experience fewer medical problems than those who aren't,
therapists say. Athletics help maintain cardiovascular conditioning, increase
circulation to the extremities, and avert skin breakdowns. Another advantage is
that sports are community-based rather than hospital-based undertakings. The
DAY believes disabled veterans should have the same opportunity as non-disabled
individuals to participate in these activities.

The National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic

On April 3-8, 2005, 325 severely disabled veterans took part in the 19th
National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic at Snowmass Village, Colorado.
With more than 350 volunteers — including 198 ski instructors, most certified in
teaching the disabled — it was one of the best winter sports clinics ever conducted.
An annual event sponsored jointly by the DAV and VA, the clinic is open to
veterans with visual impairments, spinal-cord injuries, certain neurological
conditions, orthopedic amputations, or other severe disabilities.

The world’s largest rehabilitation program of its kind, the clinic affords
severely disabled veterans the opportunity to learn new recreation activity skills
and to sharpen existing ones. Veterans were introduced to downhill and cross-
country skiing, rock climbing, wheelchair self-defense, sled hockey, horseback
riding, fishing, trap shooting, and other activities.

The 20™ Annual National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic promises to
be better and bigger and will be held April 2-7, 2006, in Snowmass Village,
Colorado.

DAV Freedom Award — In 1992, we instituted the DAV Freedom Award at the
National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic. It is given each year to the
veteran who makes the most progress during the week, showing outstanding
courage and accomplishments in taking a giant step forward in the rehabilitation
process. This annual award is sponsored by His Royal Highness Prince Bandar bin
Sultan, Ambassador of Saudi Arabia. The award's inscription reads: "Your
accomplishments during the National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic have
proved to the world that physical disability does not bar the doors to freedom. We
salute your desire to excel so that others may follow."

The 2005 recipient of the DAV Freedom Award is Oscar Olguin, from La
Puente, California. The 19-year-old combat-wounded Army veteran is also this
year's youngest participant. Injured in Operation Iraqi Freedom, Olguin, a right
leg below the knee amputee and a beginner skier, took advantage of all the clinic
had to offer, and provided encouragement for the other 350 participants who
attended this year's clinic.
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Golf for the Disabled

Golf is one of the fastest growing and meost popular sports in America.
Recognizing this fact, the DAV and DAYV Charitable Service Trust support two golf
programs that promote rehabilitation and a more active lifestyle for disabled
veterans.

National Amputee Golf Open Championships

The DAV National Commander's Trophy honors the disabled veteran who puts
in the best overall performance at the National Amputee Golf Association
championship tournament. Additionally, it recognizes the contributions the winner
has made in his or her own community in furthering the opportunities of disabled
veterans. Last year's S56th annual tournament Boulder Creek Golf Club,
Henderson, Nevada, October 18-22, 2004, drew 105 entries, 21 of them veterans.
The winner of the DAV National Commander’s trophy was Arlis J. Brooks of
Rainbow City, Alabama.

First Swing Golf

This is the DAV's 16th year of involvement with the First Swing instructional
golf program for the disabled. With support from the DAV Charitable Service
Trust, this program provides therapists throughout the country with instruction on
the rehabilitation benefits of golf. Use of golf therapy at hospitals and
rehabilitation centers has brought the game back into the lives of many who played
before becoming disabled. It has also introduced the sport to countless disabled
people who never dreamed golf would be part of their lives. During 2004, 35 First
Swing seminars and Learn to Golf Clinics included 310 disabled veterans as
participants.

DAYV Celebrity Entertainment Program

Continuing to provide a morale boost to disabled veterans, the DAV Celebrity
Entertainment Program assures that hospitalized patients are not forgotten...that
the American people still appreciate what they have done for all of us.

We're truly fortunate to sponsor some very talented people with a great deal of
compassion for these veterans, so many of whom face long and lonely stays in
hospitals, often far from family and friends. Making more than 100 hospital visits
last year alone, these wonderful people include Major League Baseball Umpires
Larry Barnett and Jerry Layne. The DAV is indeed honored that such outstanding
celebrities want to be a part of the DAV Voluntary Service Program. We recognize
the enormous demands they face, and we appreciate the gift of their valuable time.
They have demonstrated that they care very deeply about the needs of disabled
veterans.

Detroit Tigers pitcher Mike Maroth has continued to visit veteran patients at
the Gainesville, Florida, VA Medical Center. A left hander, Mike is one of the
Tigers top starting pitchers. In 2004, he was 11-13 with a 4.31 earned run average
and completed the season with an impressive 217 innings pitched. Mike was born
in Orlando, Florida, attended the University of Central Florida, and currently
makes his home with his wife Brooke and their son, Nolan Everett, in Orlando,
Florida.

We are grateful Mr. Maroth took time from spring training to visit with our
veterans at the hospital. DAV wishes him well and much success in his Major
League career, and we are hopeful he will continue to visit VA healthcare facilities
in the future.

These DAV-sponsored celebrities signed autographs, presented patients with
photographs, and helped brighten the day for sick and disabled veterans in VA
medical facilities all across the country.
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Conclusion

The success of the DAV continues in our endeavors surrounding service,
legislation, and volunteerism. Members of Congress, the VA, and other influential
policymakers in Washington are aware that the DAV speaks with accuracy and
authority.

Your Washington staff has earned an unparalleled respect as the top-notch
professional veterans service organization, determined and committed to
protecting and preserving the rights of our fellow disabled veterans.

Every one of your program directors and their staffs has spent years as
advocates and NSOs representing veterans on a daily basis. They also have
credibility that others who represent particular groups don’t have...they are all
service-connected disabled veterans themselves.

To be sure, the staff at your National Service and Legislative Headquarters in
Washington has done an outstanding job providing the very best services to you
and your families. But there is another critical ingredient. We in Washington
would not be able to accomplish all that we have without you, our members. And
that’s a fact.

So, on behalf of the entire Washington Headquarters staff, I want to thank you
for making it possible for us to serve you. We couldn’t do it without every one of
you and the faith and support you provide as we carry on the DAV’s proud mission
of service and hope for America’s disabled veterans and their families. Thank you
so very much.

00O

(The following written annual report was submitted by Mr. Edward R. Reese,
National Service Director:)

Annual Report

EDWARD R. REESE, JR.
NATIONAL SERVICE DIRECTOR
to the
Disabled American Veterans
83" NATIONAL CONVENTION
July 31-August 3, 2004

The Sacrifice for Freedom

As National Service Director, I am honored to report on the achievements of
the National Service Department as we continue to serve those who have sacrificed
for America’s freedom. Webster’s defines sacrifice as “surrender of something for
the sake of something else.” The “something” that America surrenders for the sake
of our freedom is the health and welfare of our nation’s service men and women . . .
or for those who have paid the ultimate price . . . the sacrifice of life.
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America’s veterans and their survivors have realized sacrifices for freedom
for generations. Of the nearly 5 million service men and women who served during
WWI, over 115,000 sacrificed their lives and over 200,000 were injured. During
WWII, more than 16 million from “The Greatest Generation” served to protect
our freedom. Over 400,000 died and almost 700,000 sacrificed their health and
well-being. Of the nearly 6 million citizen soldiers that served during the Korean
War, approximately 36,000 gave their lives and 103,000 were wounded. Nearly 9
million Americans served during the Vietnam War, with over 58,000 giving their
lives and over 153,000 returning home disabled. The Persian Gulf War resulted in
nearly 400 deaths and 500 injuries. And we must not forget those who sacrificed
during other military operations such as Lebanon, Grenada, Panama and Somalia.

Dwight D. Eisenhower once said, “Freedom has its life in the hearts, the actions,
the spirit of men and so it must be daily earned and refreshed—else like a flower
cut from its life-giving roots, it will wither and die.” Those words ring true as
today we continue to count the lives of those who have fallen for freedom. Nearly
1,000 young men and women serving in today’s military, fighting to ensure
tomorrow’s freedom, have sacrificed their lives during Operations Iraqi Freedom
and Enduring Freedom.

Those who have given so much to ensure our freedom are from many walks
of life. Twenty-five service women have given their lives since October 2001, and
179 have been wounded in action. The Korean War took the lives of over 3,000
African Americans and nearly 400 Asian Americans. Nearly 400 Hispanic
Americans and over 200 Native Americans sacrificed their lives during the
Vietnam War. The average age of those service men and women sacrificing their
lives in Iraq and Afghanistan is 28 years old, a drastic difference from Vietnam
where the average age of combat casualties was 20 years old. At least 40 percent of
the combat dead in Iraq had children, which all too clearly illustrates the fact that
surviving spouses and children also bear the burden of our freedom.

DAYV took care of those who sacrificed life and limb in yesteryear’s wars by
training National Service Officers (NSOs) from “The Greatest Generation” at the
American University in Washington, DC over 50 years ago. DAV continues our
mission of building better lives for all of America’s disabled veterans and their
families by hiring NSOs from today’s conflicts to care for tomorrow’s veterans.
DAV’s first NSOs from Operation Enduring Freedom and Operation Iraqi
Freedom were hired in July of this year. Douglas MacArthur said, “Duty, honor,
country: Those three hallowed words reverently dictate what you ought to be, what
you can be, what you will be.” Our next generation of NSOs understands the
honor in representing those who have sacrificed life and limb for our freedom, as
they have sacrificed a great deal for America in their own right. The awarding of
the Silver Star, Purple Heart and other commendations recognizing their duty and
honor to America illustrate their sacrifices.

In 88 offices throughout the United States and in Puerto Rico, approximately
260 NSOs, with the assistance of 26 Transition Service Officers (TSOs) assigned to
various military installations, diligently represent veterans and their families with
claims for benefits from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and the
Department of Defense (DoD). Veterans need not be DAV members to take
advantage of this service, which is provided free of charge. NSOs and TSOs
provide free services, such as information seminars and counseling, as well as
assistance to discharging service men and women through the Transition
Assistance Program (TAP) and the Disabled Transition Assistance Program
(DTAP). DAV’s NSOs also represent veterans and active-duty military personnel
before Discharge Review Boards, Boards for Correction of Military Records,
Physical Evaluation Boards, and many other official panels. With outlays of
$35,446,725 in 2003, these direct hands-on services make up the largest item in the
DAYV’s budget for program services. Between July 1, 2002, and June 30, 2003, our
NSOs and TSOs, all wartime service-connected disabled veterans, represented

101



nearly a quarter of a million veterans and their families in claims for VA benefits,
obtaining nearly $3 billion in new and retroactive benefits.

DAV’s newest NSOs have just begun their initial training, which is a
structured, 16 month on-the-job training program developed by DAV’s most
seasoned NSOs. However, in order to maintain the level of excellence necessary to
remain the Nation’s most respected veterans service organization, training never
stops throughout the career of an NSO. DAV’s Structured and Continued
Training Program is designed to provide continual up-to-date training on the
multifaceted and everchanging aspects of veterans law. As a result of such
comprehensive training, DAV’s NSOs are highly trained advocates and skilled
experts in developing and prosecuting veterans’ claims.

DAYV Structured and Continuing Training Program

DAYV NSOs are the catalysts in fulfilling our ongoing mission of providing
service to our wartime disabled and their families. Therefore, it is even more
essential that training reflect the changes in the laws and regulations affecting
veterans’ benefits.

The DAV’s Structured and Continuing Training Program is designed for use
by all NSOs and Trainees. Recognized by the highly regarded American Council
on Education (ACE), the DAV’s course of study uses the latest technology to
provide updates and enhance the NSO’s base knowledge. The program
incorporates extensive training in areas of anatomy; physiology; pathology;
medical terminology; communications; legal research and writing; VA laws and
regulations; and interpretation of precedent decisions from the U.S. Court of
Appeals for Veterans Claims (CAVC). This comprehensive course was developed
for the purpose of ensuring effective job-related skills, involving paralegal and
paramedical principles necessary in representation of veterans before VA Regional
Offices (VAROs), VA Medical Centers (VAMCs), the Board of Veterans’ Appeals
(BVA or Board) and before the CAVC. Additionally, this training is inherent to
representation of active duty military personnel before Medical Evaluation Boards
and Physical Evaluation Boards.

The training is administered by Supervisory NSOs with subject matter
expertise. National Service staff members at National Service and Legislative
Headquarters monitor the program and the instructors. NSOs are required to pre-
test, successfully complete each of the 32 training modules and post-test following
completion. DAV administers computer-based testing through an Internet service
provider (ISP), and the National Service Director is provided computer-generated
reports of each NSO’s progress.

Upon successful completion of the course of instruction, NSOs are able to
describe the basic structures and functions of the major human body systems,
describe pathophysiological and neuropsychiatric conditions, define related
medical terms and utilize research methodology necessary to interpret, evaluate
and apply VA regulations and CAVC decisions.

In addition to this training program, supervisory personnel and selected NSOs
from field offices across the nation receive specialized training in management and
leadership skills. The goal of DAV’s National Service Program is to produce the
most highly skilled NSOs available for veterans and their families.
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National Appeals Office

The Board of Veterans’ Appeals is the highest appellate level within the VA
and is responsible for entering the final decision on behalf of the Secretary of
Veterans Affairs concerning appeals for entitlement to veterans’ benefits. Ninety-
five percent of the appeals before the Board deal with disability compensation.
DAV’s highly skilled National Appeals Officers (NAOs) provide an invaluable
service to appellants by preparing an appellate brief prior to the Board reviewing a
case. DAV maintains the largest staff of any group doing this work, representing
30 percent of all cases decided by the BVA in 2003.

DAV’s NAOs represented 9,336 appellants that received a Board decision in
2003, either by submitting a written legal brief on their behalf or assisting them in
a formal hearing. This represents a 25 percent increase from 2002. From those
appeals decided by the Board, 2,129 (22.8 percent) were favorably resolved and
4,017 (43 percent) were remanded to a VA Regional Office for additional
development. DAYV’s 22.8 percent grant rate and 43 percent remand rate are
above the Board’s average of 22.1 percent and 42.6 percent, respectively. These
figures reflect the DAV’s continued commitment in providing quality
representation to our nation’s wartime disabled veterans, their dependents and
survivors.

Judicial Appeals Office

During 2003, the DAV maintained its leading position among veterans’ service
organizations in representing veterans and their dependents before the United
States Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims and the United States Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit (Federal Circuit). The DAV Judicial Appeals
Office filed 181 appeals during 2003. Of the 148 DAV cases for which a disposition
was reached by the CAVC during 2003, 145 were reversals or remands. The
CAVC affirmed only 3 Board of Veterans’ Appeals decisions in which DAV
provided representation. DAV therefore had a remarkable 97.9 percent success
rate before the CAVC.

The DAYV Judicial Appeals Office receives Equal Access to Justice Act (EAJA)
fees for those prevailing cases in which the BVA was not substantially justified in
its decision. During 2003, the Judicial Appeals Staff generated $264,919.17 in
EAJA fees, all of which was donated to DAV’s National Service Foundation. It
appears the office will exceed that figure in 2004 as $175,510.14 in EAJA fees has
been generated since January.

When a Board decision is reversed by CAVC, the Court’s decision is favorable
to that appellant. However, some CAVC reversals establish case law that may
potentially help other veterans in future appeals. One particular DAYV case decided
by CAVC during this reporting year resulted in what the DAV believes to be such
favorable case law. In Mariano v. Principi, 17 Vet.App. 305 (2003), the CAVC
determined that the failure of a physician to review a veteran’s claims file prior to
an examination undermines the examiner’s conclusions as it is essential that each
disability be viewed in relation to its history. The DAYV also remains active before
the Federal Circuit and has recently prevailed in a case that also sets favorable
precedent for all veterans. In Wagner v. Principi, 370 F.3d 1089, the Federal
Circuit correctly shifted the burden of proof from the veteran to the VA in
establishing whether or not a veteran is in sound condition when entering into
service.
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Veterans also recently realized an extremely unique consequence to one of
DAV’s Federal Circuit challenges. In response to DAV v. Principi, 327 F.3d 1339
(The DAV Case), the Veterans Benefits Administration created an entirely new
entity; the Appeals Management Center (AMC). The AMC is now the authority
within the Veterans Benefits Administration that develops and decides 96 percent
of appeals that require additional development. The annual projected workload of
the AMC is 20,000 remands per year, with DAV representing an estimated 30
percent. The 4 percent of cases the AMC does not develop and decide are remands
involving hearing requests, attorney fee agreements, pension income calculations,
waiver decisions, veterans health administration issues, national cemetery
administration issues, and non-compensation and pension issues, such as education,
insurance, loan guaranty and vocational rehabilitation and employment.

Military Affairs and Transition Service Program

For those enlisted soldiers, sailors, airmen and officers making the all-
important transition back into civilian life, the DAV participates in formal
Transition Assistance Programs, Disabled Transition Assistance Programs, and
Pre-Separation Programs. While some NSOs participate in these programs, the
majority of services are provided by DAV’s specially trained Transition Service
Officers. DAV’s TSOs are principally stationed on military installations and their
primary mission is to provide benefits counseling and assist service members with
filing initial claims for VA benefits. Our TSOs provide services to more than 80
military installations throughout the nation. By filing compensation claims at
military separation centers where service medical records and examination
facilities are readily available, we are able to provide better, more prompt service
to these soon-to-be veterans.

During 2003, DAV TSOs conducted 1,467 formal briefing presentations for
62,755 transitioning service men and women. During that same time, our TSOs
conducted 31,148 personal interviews, reviewed 24,966 service medical records,
accepted 13,206 new powers of attorney and filed 22,796 claims for veterans
benefits.

In addition, our NSOs provide representation before Discharge Review Boards
and Boards for Correction of Military Records. Counsel and representation was
provided for 103 active duty service members during their transition through the
military’s Disability Evaluation System, which primarily consists of Medical
Evaluation Boards and formal hearings before Physical Evaluation Boards.

Mobile Service Office Program

The Mobile Service Office (MSO) Program continues to increase
accessibility to the benefits our nation provides by reaching out to veterans where
they live. Not all veterans are able to visit a National Service Office for various
reasons, including distance, lack of transportation and health concerns. The MSO
Program allows knowledgeable NSOs to take their expertise to claimants in their
home towns.

MSOs are equipped with sophisticated telecommunications which allows
verification of various benefit-related information, including checking the status of
a claim. The roomy MSOs also offer private interview areas for confidential
counseling and discussion with each claimant.

During 2003, our MSOs traveled nearly 100,000 miles, visiting The DAV
National Organization currently has 10 of these specially equipped MSOs on tour
to make stops in communities across the country. The program started with 12
MSOs, however recognizing the importance and value of this service, the
Departments of Florida and Missouri each purchased one for more frequent
service in their states.
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Our NSOs, with the assistance of TSOs, partment Service Officers, and
Chapter Service Officers, interviewed 14,665 veterans and other potential
claimants. 5,335 new powers of attorney to provide representation to claimants
were accepted and 12,835 applications for benefits were completed. In addition,
606 new DAV members were recruited. DAYV looks forward to the future of this
program and NSOs will continue to be on the road providing outreach to those in
need.

Outreach

During the past year DAV entered into a new era of outreach by having NSOs
offer services at air shows throughout the nation. DAV attended 7 air shows since
October 2003, which resulted in 725 interviews, 153 powers of attorney, 936 claims
and 157 new DAV members. DAV has also sponsored the Panchito, a B-25J
Mitchell Bomber, in all 7 seven air shows.

Information Seminars continue to be used by DAV’s NSOs as an avenue to
reach veterans and their families. During 2003, DAV NSOs conducted 36
Information Seminars at various locations throughout the country. There were
1,879 attendees, with 751 interviews being conducted, 392 claims taken and 51 new
members recruited. DAV mailed out over 100,000 notices to ensure that all
veterans living in the local area were aware of the time and place of the
Information Seminars. Information Seminars not only provide the opportunity for
veterans to discuss veterans benefits with DAV NSOs, DSOs and CSOs, they also
are a great way for DAV Chapters to recruit members and volunteers and
encourage chapter involvement.

DSO/CSO

The Department Service Officer/Chapter Service Officer Certification Training
Program is in its third year of operation and has proven to be a great success. An
enormous amount of hard work, dedication and teamwork goes into serving those
that have sacrificed so much for our freedom. The National Service Department is
fortunate to have the cooperation, support and assistance of DSOs and CSOs from
around the nation, and we want to ensure that each of them continues to receive the
training and information necessary to assist those we serve.

The training program contains information and instruction related to the
DAV’s mission and programs, general VA benefits and the legal and ethical
responsibilities of a Service Officer. Upon successful completion of the program,
participants receive certification as a DSO or CSO. This program helps to ensure
the vitality and growth of our local service programs both now and well into the
future. During 2003, 30 Departments participated in the training and 898
DSOs/CSOs were certified.

Homeless Veterans

Another issue that has received our support and assistance is that of
homeless veterans. DAV’s Homeless Veterans Initiative, established to help
homeless veterans break the cycle of poverty and isolation and move from the
streets to self-sufficiency, has helped us focus attention on the needs of homeless
veterans. Many of our Departments and Chapters are actively involved in homeless
veterans programs in their communities. Since 1989, homeless veterans programs
and projects have benefited from the $1.6 million in grants that have been provided
through the DAV Charitable Service Trust.
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Women Veterans

Throughout history women have sacrificed along side their male counterparts
in fighting for America’s freedom. The number of service women has grown
steadily since the Vietnam War. Women currently make up 15 percent of
America’s armed services. However, women veterans still use VA health care and
other earned benefits at lower rates than their male counterparts.

The DAYV is continuing its advocacy for women veterans on a variety of fronts.
This year DAV again co-sponsored the VA’s National Summit on Women Veterans
Issues held June 18-20, 2004, in Washington, DC. National Service & Legislative
Headquarters staff participated in the Summit as moderators, facilitators and
participants in a variety of panels and sessions, including Veterans Benefits, the
Legislative Process, VA Claims and Appeals Process and the Role of Veterans
Service Organizations. DAYV’s National Director for Voluntary Services is a
member of the VA Advisory Committee on Women Veterans.

In addition to this VA committee, the DAV has its own women’s advisory
committee made up of women veterans from the DAV’s membership nationwide
who meet annually at DAV National Conventions. Furthermore, the DAV
continues its quest to staff our NSO corps with eligible disabled women veterans.

Retirements

Our professional NSOs who have retired this past year will forever be
remembered through the lives they changed throughout the course of their careers.
William James once said, “the greatest use of life is to spend it for something that
will outlast it.” These departing NSOs have certainly spent their lives for a grand
cause that will outlast us all. They not only protected America’s freedom through
their own sacrifices, but also served their fellow comrades as advocates for fair and
equitable benefits. From the National Service Staff, we wish each of these NSOs
good health and happiness during their retirement. We appreciate their
commitment and dedication to our nation’s veterans and their families. For the
record, those who retired in the past year are: Richard L. Healy, Kenneth P. Hale,
Keith L. Gustin, Hector D. Salgado and James C. Ebele.

Deaths

As the nation’s veteran population rapidly declines, the attrition takes its toll
on our NSO ranks. Our departed NSOs have provided services and helped
improve the quality of life for scores of disabled veterans, their dependents and
survivors. We shall recall and preserve the legacy of the following departed NSO:
Earnie Massey.

Conclusion

At this time, I wish to recognize the leadership, professionalism and personal
sacrifices made by our National Commander James E. Sursely and all the National
Line Officers, members of the National Executive Committee, Board of Directors
and all of the Officers and Board Members for both the National Service
Foundation and Charitable Service Trust. We extend our thanks and salute you
for a job well done.
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I thank National Adjutant Arthur H. Wilson for his leadership, vision and
direction. Our success is a reflection of his tireless efforts to inspire and ensure
quality and professionalism in all that we do. Additionally, I wish to extend my
appreciation to National Headquarters Executive Director Richard E. Patterson
and his staff for the support provided to the National Service Department, and I
thank Washington Headquarters Executive Director David W. Gorman for his
guidance, direction and active involvement in helping to manage the National
Service Department.

I also thank National Legislative Director Joseph A. Violante; National
Director of Voluntary Services Edward E. Hartman; National Director of
Communications Gary Weaver; National Director of Human Resources Gregory
Jackson; National Director of Charitable Programs Nancy O’Brien; National
Membership Director Michael J. Walsh, National Information Technology
Director Greg Nichols and all of their staffs for the assistance they have provided
the National Service Department.

Appreciation is extended to the National Service Department staff members
with whom I have the pleasure of working; Deputy National Service Director
Garry Augustine and Assistant National Service Directors Brian Austin, Barry
Jesinoski, and Brenda Kecskes, and our staff of devoted Service Support
Specialists.

Our successes are not single-handed. We receive the dedicated and capable
assistance and cooperation of the DAV Auxiliary, Department and Chapter Service
Officers and Hospital Service Coordinators. Thank you all for your support.

Last and most important of all, I wish to thank our loyal and dedicated corps
of National Service Officers, Transition Service Officers and support staff
members who advocate for those that have sacrificed so much for our way of life.
The National Service Department will continue to do everything possible to ensure
all of our country’s disabled veterans and their families receive the rights and
benefits they have earned.

It is not the critic who counts, not the man who points out how the strong man
stumbled, or where the doer of deeds could have done better. The credit belongs to
the man who is actually in the arena, whose face is marred by dust and sweat and
blood, who strives valiantly, who errs and comes short again and again, who knows
the great enthusiasms, the great devotions, and spends himself in a worthy cause,
who at best knows achievement and who at the worst if he fails at least fails while
daring greatly so that his place shall never be with those cold and timid souls who
know neither victory nor defeat.

Franklin Delano Roosevelt; from a speech given in Paris at the Sorbonne in
1910.
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DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS
Recapitulation of Service Activities
July 1, 2004 through June 30, 2005

Office: National Totals

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
. TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCTAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

63,527
62,988

72,396

10312

8,640

2

24,819

2,713

2,311

73

1

1,641

37

2,690

258

252,408
$179,180,147.33
$2,756,639,303.39
$2,935,819,450.72
238,080

90,987

159,780

203,542

75,231

100

178,499

10,614

Office: Montgomery, Alabama

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
. TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCTAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Phoenix, Arizona

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
. TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
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5,796
$4,089,993.00
$67,528,934.00
$71,618,927.00
3,646

1,967

4,588

2,563

44

0

2,536

201

1214
1,598
1,656

116

5,775
$4,405,861.00
$62,093,892.01
$66,499,753.01
3,659

1,560

4,924

3,102

0

0



26. NEW CLAIMS 3,889
27. MEMBERSHIP 174
Office: Little Rock, Arkansas
1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,192
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 1274
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,668
4. PENSION 476
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 50
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 1
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 495
8. MISCELLANEOUS 46
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 80
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED [
12. DEATH PENSION 48
13. INSURANCE 0
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 116
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 5,446
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TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

$3,831,456.00
$60,448,462.00
$64,279,918.00
13,692

1,655

6,135

12,383

393

10

5741

403

Office: Los Angeles, California

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP
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1,779
2,023
1915

7,074
$5,061,997.00
$99,926,528.63

. FULL AMOUNT $104,988,525.63
. VA FILES REVIEWED 3,585
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 2,570
. INTERVIEWS 3,546
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 3,857
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 507
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 3,587
. MEMBERSHIP 129
Office: Sacremento, California
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 216
COMPENSATION INCREASED 180
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 138
PENSION 18
PENSION MAINTAINED 9
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 0
MISCELLANEOUS 0
DEATH COMPENSATION 11
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 0
INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANCES 0
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
. TOTAL AWARDS 572
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $684,934.00

$4,850,050.00
$5,534,984.00
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Office: Oakland, California

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,464
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,754
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,354
PENSION 136
PENSION MAINTAINED 74
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 736
MISCELLANEOUS 36
DEATH COMPENSATION 27
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1

SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0

. DEATH PENSION 8
INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANCES 25
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0

. TOTAL AWARDS 5,615
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $4,241,434.00

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $66,955,200.00
FULL AMOUNT $71,196,634.00

. VA FILES REVIEWED 5,308

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,847

. INTERVIEWS 2,027
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 3,467

. MILITARY AFFAIRS 343

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0

. NEW CLAIMS 3222

. MEMBERSHIP 120

Office: San Diego, California
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 2,894
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,613
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,582
PENSION 114
PENSION MAINTAINED 49
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 897
MISCELLANEOUS 28
DEATH COMPENSATION 45
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 3

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0

. DEATH PENSION 13
INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANCES 28

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 7266

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $4,682,802.54

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $72,851,026.10

. FULL AMOUNT $77,533,828.64
VA FILES REVIEWED 6,548
POWER OF ATTORNEYS 3271
INTERVIEWS 7272
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 5,429
MILITARY AFFAIRS 36,036
SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0

. NEW CLAIMS 5,468

. MEMBERSHIP 210

Office: Denver, Colorado
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 2,951
COMPENSATION INCREASED 2317
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 2,155
PENSION 151
PENSION MAINTAINED 90
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 2,301
MISCELLANEOUS 139
DEATH COMPENSATION 63
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 6
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 1
DEATH PENSION 15
INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANC 165
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
. TOTAL AWARDS 10,354
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $6,488,553.00
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $89,586,088.00
FULL AMOUNT $96,074,641.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 9,399
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 3575
. INTERVIEWS 2,850
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 8384
MILITARY AFFAIRS 2,938
SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
NEW CLAIMS 6,766
. MEMBERSHIP 348
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Office: Hartford, Connecticut

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED

SOCIAL SECURITY

EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

N
cneoNeoata

1,830
$1,328,881.80
$21,988,899.16
$23,317,780.96
982

430

1,105

1,305

4

0

839

70

Office: Wilmington, Delaware

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Washington, D.C.

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED

SOCIAL SECURITY

EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION

SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED
21.
. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

POWER OF ATTORNEYS

111

$186,866.00
$2,906,450.00
$3,093,316.00
393

91
297
316

1,665
$1,170,450.80
$17,026,781.20
$18,197,232.00
2292

962

2,956

13,823

2,301

8

862

100
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Office: Board of Veterans Appeals

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT
. VA FILES REVIEWED

POWER OF ATTORNEYS
INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS
. MEMBERSHIP

coococococoo

ceoco

$0.0
$0.01
$0.01

co2333c0o

EXY

Office: St. Petersburg, Florida

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION
. INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS
. INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Miami, Florida

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

VA FILES REVIEWED
POWER OF ATTORNEYS
INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

MEMBERSHIP

112

3,904
4120
5073
339
199

1,072

143

0
15314
$10,513,066.00
$163,712,246.00
$174,225,312.00
13,903

2,077

3,676

8,095

212

0

1,858

670

cooo

EXY

oo

cocococoo

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
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Office: Orlando, Florida

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

192
208
267

762
$407,124.00
$6,055,596.60
$6,462,720.60
352

757

1,303

527

3

0

1,153

59

Office: West Palm Beach, Florida

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Atlanta, Georgia

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEME!

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

113

coccoccoccccocccccoo

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
73
413
4479
166

701

4757
$3,964,656.00
$58,524,557.00
$62,489,213.00
2,822

1,870

4778

1,483

18

0
4,463
190



Office: Boise, Idaho
1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 468
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 766
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 497
4. PENSION 68
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 25
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 0
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 320
8. MISCELLANEOUS 12
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 15
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 3
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED (]
12. DEATH PENSION 1.
13. INSURANCE 0
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 7
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 2,182
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,233,961.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $16,720,373.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $17,954,334.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 529
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 529
22. INTERVIEWS 2,350
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,569
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 260
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
26. NEW CLAIMS 2,620
27. MEMBERSHIP 62

Office: Chicago, Illinois

1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,297
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 1335
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED L2
4. PENSION 356
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 165
6. SOCIAL SECURITY o
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 389
8. MISCELLANEOUS 40
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 37
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS o
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 16
13. INSURANCE ¥
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 102
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 5,016
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $3,409,156.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $56,313,450.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $59,722,606.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 3,357
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,672
22. INTERVIEWS 3,679
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 2,691
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 3,093
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
26. NEW CLAIMS 3,723
27. MEMBERSHIP 274

Office: Indianapolis, Indiana

1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,259
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,094
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 786
4. PENSION 226
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 56
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 0
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 475
8. MISCELLANEOUS 172
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 62
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 44
13. INSURANCE o
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 69
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 4,243
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $2,785,415.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $34,000,351.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $36,785,766.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 5,487
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,271
22. INTERVIEWS 1,767
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 4,919
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 104
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 3
26. NEW CLAIMS 4,699
27. MEMBERSHIP 153
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Office: Des Moines, Iowa

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 667
COMPENSATION INCREASED 517
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 834
PENSION 206
PENSION MAINTAINED 177
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 171
MISCELLANEOUS 17
DEATH COMPENSATION 62
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 4
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 58
. INSURANCE 15
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 26
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
. TOTAL AWARDS 2,754
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,921,047.41
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $30,596,003.74
. FULL AMOUNT $32,517,051.15
. VA FILES REVIEWED 2,880
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,488
. INTERVIEWS 1,395
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 3,631
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 2,770
. MEMBERSHIP 74
Office: Wichita, Kansas
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 759
COMPENSATION INCREASED 542
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 919
PENSION 84
PENSION MAINTAINED 271
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 201
MISCELLANEOUS 14
DEATH COMPENSATION 46
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 15
. INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 42
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
. TOTAL AWARDS 2,983
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $2,240,356.76
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $33,465,385.56
. FULL AMOUNT $35,705,742.32
. VA FILES REVIEWED 5,441
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 901
. INTERVIEWS 2,481
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,399
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 1,809
. MEMBERSHIP 389
Office: Louisville, Kentucky
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,065
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1262
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,738
PENSION 672
PENSION MAINTAINED 221
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 174
MISCELLANEOUS 88
DEATH COMPENSATION 78
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 173
. INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 70
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
. TOTAL AWARDS 5,541
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $4,015,083.00
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $69,675,330.00
. FULL AMOUNT $73,690,413.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 3,696
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 4379
. INTERVIEWS 2,590
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 4259
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 1247
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 6
. NEW CLAIMS 7,662
. MEMBERSHIP 325
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Office: New Orleans, Lou

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 921
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,043
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,441
PENSION 243
PENSION MAINTAINED 193
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 218
MISCELLANEOUS 58
DEATH COMPENSATION 15
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 10
INSURANCE 0

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 14
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 4,156
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $3,010,351.00

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $49,327,491.47
FULL AMOUNT $52,337,842.47

. VA FILES REVIEWED 4,039
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,625
. INTERVIEWS 5266
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 3247

. MILITARY AFFAIRS 143
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 1,912
. MEMBERSHIP 184

Office: Togus, Maine

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 403
COMPENSATION INCREASED 22
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 513
PENSION 127
PENSION MAINTAINED 33
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 128
MISCELLANEOUS 13
DEATH COMPENSATION 18
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 1

. INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANCES 9
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 1,667
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,263,406.50
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $17,241,958.58
FULL AMOUNT $18,505,365.08

. VA FILES REVIEWED 2,717
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 395
. INTERVIEWS 1,381
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1422
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 874
. MEMBERSHIP 145

Office: Baltimore, Maryland

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 593
COMPENSATION INCREASED 678
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,027
PENSION 39
PENSION MAINTAINED 327
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 169
MISCELLANEOUS 12
DEATH COMPENSATION 26
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 6
INSURANCE 0

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 26
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0

. TOTAL AWARDS 2,903
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $2,312,786.12

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $35,722,421.44
FULL AMOUNT $38,035,207.56

. VA FILES REVIEWED 1,825
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 440
. INTERVIEWS 1,243
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,366
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 1,285
. MEMBERSHIP 18
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Office: Boston, Massachusetts

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,100
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,146
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,670
PENSION 76
PENSION MAINTAINED 29
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 327
MISCELLANEOUS 12
DEATH COMPENSATION 44
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 5
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 184
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 4,593
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $3,921,385.08
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $57,607,172.08
FULL AMOUNT $61,528,557.16
. VA FILES REVIEWED 5,096
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,153
. INTERVIEWS 2,128
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 3,616
MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 2,066
. MEMBERSHIP 260

Office: Detroit, Michigan

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 863
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,087
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,066
PENSION 492
PENSION MAINTAINED 129
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 487
MISCELLANEOUS 87
DEATH COMPENSATION 89
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 2
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 66
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 169
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 4,537
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $3,052,799.00
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $48,442,792.00
FULL AMOUNT $51,495,591.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 7,152
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,715
. INTERVIEWS 1,179
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 4263
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 4,539
. MEMBERSHIP 238

Office: St. Paul, Minnesota

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 2,450
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1267
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,567
PENSION 128
PENSION MAINTAINED 77
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 32
MISCELLANEOUS 35
DEATH COMPENSATION T
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 21
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 87
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
. TOTAL AWARDS 5,742
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $3,952,041.21
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $61,143,408.29
FULL AMOUNT $65,095,449.50
. VA FILES REVIEWED 6,838
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 2,787
. INTERVIEWS 1,434
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 5,713
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCTIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 4,947
. MEMBERSHIP 440
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Office: Jackson, Mi

1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 264
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 526
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 501
4. PENSION 112
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 43
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 0
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 12
8. MISCELLANEOUS 3
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 13
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 2
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 9
13. INSURANCE 0
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 3
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 1,488
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,076,451.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $16,607,587.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $17,684,038.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 1,661
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 208
22. INTERVIEWS 629
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,115
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
26. NEW CLAIMS 1,054
27. MEMBERSHIP 30
Office: St. Louis, Missouri
1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,714
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 2,008
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 2293
4. PENSION 388
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 154
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 0
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 525
8. MISCELLANEOUS 104
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 61
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 4
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 26
13. INSURANCE 0
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 48
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 7,325
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $4,482,263.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $68,230,285.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $72,712,548.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 6,862
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 3072
22. INTERVIEWS 2316
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 5,015
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 320
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
26. NEW CLAIMS 5354
27. MEMBERSHIP 289
Office: Fort Harrison, Montana
1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 238
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 297
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 411
4. PENSION 60
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 54
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 1
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 120
8. MISCELLANEOUS 2
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 11
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 2
13. INSURANCE 0
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 20
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 1216
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $804,737.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $11,184,996.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $11,989,733.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 206
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 218
22. INTERVIEWS 686
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1241
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 1
26. NEW CLAIMS 423
27. MEMBERSHIP 49
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. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Lincoln, Nebraska

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 344
COMPENSATION INCREASED 161
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 533
PENSION 22
PENSION MAINTAINED 53
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS T
MISCELLANEOUS 21
DEATH COMPENSATION 16
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 8
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 29
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 1,260
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,012,624.00
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $13,354,208.00
FULL AMOUNT $14,366,832.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 1,169
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 309
. INTERVIEWS 340
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,178
MILITARY AFFAIRS 1
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 856
. MEMBERSHIP 17

Office: Reno, Nevada

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 572
COMPENSATION INCREASED 620
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 653
PENSION 73
PENSION MAINTAINED 51
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 35
MISCELLANEOUS 21
DEATH COMPENSATION 20
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 3
INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANCES 16
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 2,354
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,604,230.00
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $25,527,232.00
FULL AMOUNT $27,131,462.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 1,587
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS AT
. INTERVIEWS 3328
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 127y
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 1170
. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Las Vegas, Nevada
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION
PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS
DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

coccoococoocosoe

. TOTAL AWARDS 0

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $0.00

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $0.00

FULL AMOUNT $0.00

. VA FILES REVIEWED 0
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS
. INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

ccocoe
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Office: Manchester, New Hampshire

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS
. INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Newark, New Jersey

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

cocuwuoman

1,193
$873,339.00
$11,412,890.00
$12,286,229.00
881

100

491

783

0

0

251

24

789
819

687

30

24

[

94

59

20

0

0

19

0

10

0

2,551
$2,197,906.00
$33,507,970.00
$35,705,876.00
1,889

698

2,446

1,406

0

0
1,198
141

Office: Albuquerque, New Mexico

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

120

847
1,447
1119
131
180
0
194
14
41

0

0

12

0

18

0
4,003
$3,149,432.00
$50,895,585.96
$54,045,017.96
3,104

1,326

3,914

2,876

0

0

1,897
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Office: New York, New York

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 926
COMPENSATION INCREASED 949
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,405
PENSION 52
PENSION MAINTAINED 27
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 4
MISCELLANEOUS 3
DEATH COMPENSATION 14
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 1
INSURANCE 0

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 6
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 3388
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $3,262,328.00
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $56,564,727.00
. FULL AMOUNT $59,827,055.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 1,034
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,386
. INTERVIEWS 3,560
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 2,117
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
NEW CLAIMS 2,375

. MEMBERSHIP 219

Office: Albany, New York

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 0
COMPENSATION INCREASED 0
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 0
PENSION 0
PENSION MAINTAINED 0
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 0
MISCELLANEOUS 0
DEATH COMPENSATION 0
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 0
INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANCES 0
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 0
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $0.00

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $0.00
FULL AMOUNT $0.00

. VA FILES REVIEWED 12
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 439
. INTERVIEWS 1,359
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 9
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 720
. MEMBERSHIP 57

Office: Buffalo, New York

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 435
COMPENSATION INCREASED 468
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 539
PENSION 40
PENSION MAINTAINED 30
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 602
MISCELLANEOUS 8
DEATH COMPENSATION 23
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 3
INSURANCE 0

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 57
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0

. TOTAL AWARDS 2,206
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,527,095.00

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $23,192,471.00
FULL AMOUNT $24,719,566.00

. VA FILES REVIEWED 2257
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 237
. INTERVIEWS 829
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,600

. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 667
. MEMBERSHIP 136
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Office: Syracuse, New York

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

coccceccocococccooo o

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

1

Office: Winston-Salem, North Carolina

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
. TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Fargo, North Dakota

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
. TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

122

0
6,539
$5,341,586.00
$79,569,170.00
$84,910,756.00
6,070

3,992

2271

4,031

3,447

15

6,637
71

514
695
81

0
2,361
$1,436,696.00
$19,729,787.00
$21,166,483.00
2281
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Office: Cleveland, Ohio

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

TOTAL AWARDS
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Cincinnati, Ohio

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE
BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

TOTAL AWARDS
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Muskogee, Oklahoma

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES
£

PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS
. INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCTIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

123

1,626
1,677
1,952

6,706
$4,203,857.00
$70,715,919.00
$74,919,776.00
11,759

2,899

1,861

9,714

26

2
5,860
168

2,061
1,573

1,775

265

177

0

625

95

58

3

0

29

1

25

0

6,687
$4,655,160.43
$68,916,423.00
$73,571,583.43
9,306

1279

3282

8,780

0

[

5447

132



Office: Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 0
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 0
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 0
4. PENSION 0
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 0
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 0
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 0
8. MISCELLANEOUS 0
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 0
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 0
13. INSURANCE 0
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 0
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 0
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $0.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYM $0.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $0.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 6
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1263
22. INTERVIEWS 1,536
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 0
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 1,264
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
26. NEW CLAIMS 1,894
27. MEMBERSHIP 159
Office: Portland, Oregon
1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 503
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 726
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 619
4. PENSION 97
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 150
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 0
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 668
8. MISCELLANEOUS 16
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 25
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 9
13. INSURANCE 0
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 26
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 2,839
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,955,590.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $28,978,065.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $30,933,655.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 4,942
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 409
22. INTERVIEWS 892
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1274
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
26. NEW CLAIMS 854
27. MEMBERSHIP 24
Office: Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
1. NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,015
2. COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,601
3. COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,250
4. PENSION 805
5. PENSION MAINTAINED 1261
6. SOCIAL SECURITY 0
7. EDUCATION BENEFITS 315
8. MISCELLANEOUS 93
9. DEATH COMPENSATION 40
10. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
11. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
12. DEATH PENSION 223
13. INSURANCE 13
14. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 134
15. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
16. TOTAL AWARDS 6,750
17. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $4,057,430.00
18. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $63,148,191.00
19. FULL AMOUNT $67,205,621.00
20. VA FILES REVIEWED 3281
21. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 923
22. INTERVIEWS 2,530
23. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 2,723
24. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
25. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
26. NEW CLAIMS 1,515
27. MEMBERSHIP 156
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Office: Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

TOTAL AWARDS
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS
. MEMBERSHIP

cococcocococcooos e

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

Office: Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS
. INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

512

0
3,032
$2,074,438.00
$33,383,442.00
$35,457,880.00
2,705

644

1,515

2,051

0

0
1,120
173

Office: Providence, Rhode Island

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS
. INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

125

570
484
814

11
0
12

0
2,063
$1,613,134.00
$25,606,359.00
$27,219,493.00
3,736

571

1827

1,866

0

0
1,563
87
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Office: Columbia, South Carolina

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,09
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1318
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,781
PENSION 102
PENSION MAINTAINED 48
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 514
MISCELLANEOUS 213
DEATH COMPENSATION 33
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 4
INSURANCE 0

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 7
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 5,120
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $4,020,074.00
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $60,098,205.95
FULL AMOUNT $64,118,279.95

. VA FILES REVIEWED 2,076
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 1,415
. INTERVIEWS 4,738
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,435

. MILITARY AFFAIRS 1,779
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 3
. NEW CLAIMS 2,424
. MEMBERSHIP 84

Office: Sioux Falls, South Dakota

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 532
COMPENSATION INCREASED 546
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 654
PENSION 100
PENSION MAINTAINED 90
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 344
MISCELLANEOUS 15
DEATH COMPENSATION 31
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 28
. INSURANCE 0
BURIAL ALLOWANCES 7
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 2,411
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $1,550,296.00
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $19,900,095.00
FULL AMOUNT $21,450,391.00

. VA FILES REVIEWED 2,035
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 750
. INTERVIEWS 1,015
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 1,628
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 2,067
. MEMBERSHIP 167

Office: Nashville, Tennessee

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 2,286
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,744
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 2,194
PENSION 334
PENSION MAINTAINED 194
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 491
MISCELLANEOUS 159
DEATH COMPENSATION 68
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 43
INSURANCE 0

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 62
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0

. TOTAL AWARDS 7,575
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $5,204,880.84

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $73,324,390.94
FULL AMOUNT $78,529,271.78

. VA FILES REVIEWED 6356
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 3212
. INTERVIEWS 1,455
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 5,766
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 43
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 29
. NEW CLAIMS 4,367
. MEMBERSHIP 201

126



VP NANE LN

=

11.

o f

13.

RS

O RANN AW

NEBEBREEEESRREERESe

»

10.
11.

EGE

£

S=oSa

RN AW

Office: Waco, Tex

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 2,404
COMPENSATION INCREASED 2,704
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 3,811
PENSION 409
PENSION MAINTAINED 1,284
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 1,613
MISCELLANEOUS 325
DEATH COMPENSATION 112
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 104
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 87
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 12,854
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $8,607,701.00
TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $121,695,554.00
FULL AMOUNT $130,303,255.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 13214
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 5,633
. INTERVIEWS 2,988
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 10,947
MILITARY AFFAIRS 2,438
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 9218
. MEMBERSHIP 383

Office: Houston, Texas

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 2,975
COMPENSATION INCREASED 2,056
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 2,646
PENSION 248
PENSION MAINTAINED 625
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 979
MISCELLANEOUS 10
DEATH COMPENSATION 50
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 155
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 73
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 9,817
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $7,086,658.00
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $113,163,448.00
FULL AMOUNT $120,250,106.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 8,812
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 2,136
. INTERVIEWS 5284
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 7,148
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 4,559
. MEMBERSHIP 346

Office: San Antonio, Texa

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 49
COMPENSATION INCREASED 2
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 3
PENSION 0
PENSION MAINTAINED 0
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 0
MISCELLANEOUS 1
DEATH COMPENSATION 0
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 0
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 0
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 0
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 173
. TOTAL AWARDS 228
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $491,401.00
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $4,854,371.00
FULL AMOUNT $5,345,772.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 254
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 5422
. INTERVIEWS 8,299
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 189
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 2,452
. SOCTIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 10,986
. MEMBERSHIP 56
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Office: Dallas, Tex

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION
INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
TOTAL AWARDS
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS
. INTERVIEWS

RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

Office: Salt Lake City, Utah

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED

SOCIAL SECURITY

EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION

SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

coococoocsecoes e

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

341
2,051
0

28

507

3245
$2,212,345.00
$30,348,283.00
$32,560,628.00
5,194

482

1,945

1,785

2,729

0

3,156
88

Office: White River Junction, Vermont

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

DEATH PENSION

INSURANCE

BURIAL ALLOWANCES
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES
. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES
. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP
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301

$743,347.00
$9,372,169.00
$10,115,516.00
2,160

200

1,951

751

0

0
1,591
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Office: Roanoke, Virginia

129

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 1,853
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,329
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,503
PENSION 123
PENSION MAINTAINED 27
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 439
MISCELLANEOUS 20
DEATH COMPENSATION 35
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 6
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 19
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 5,365
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $3,879,771.51
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $63,841,661.50
FULL AMOUNT $67,721,433.01
. VA FILES REVIEWED 3341
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 951
. INTERVIEWS 895
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 3,047
MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 3443
. MEMBERSHIP 117
Office: Seattle, Washington
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 3377
COMPENSATION INCREASED 1,682
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,880
PENSION 163
PENSION MAINTAINED 95
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 1362
MISCELLANEOUS 9
DEATH COMPENSATION 62
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 2
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 14
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 32
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 1
TOTAL AWARDS 8,689
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $6,068,276.00
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $92,694,477.00
FULL AMOUNT $98,762,753.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 2,354
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 3,100
. INTERVIEWS 2,776
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 4,740
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 11,806
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 14
. NEW CLAIMS 4,501
. MEMBERSHIP 123
Office: Huntington, West Virginia
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 666
COMPENSATION INCREASED 972
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 906
PENSION 38
PENSION MAINTAINED 49
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 83
MISCELLANEOUS 54
DEATH COMPENSATION 15
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 1
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
DEATH PENSION 0
INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 1
PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
TOTAL AWARDS 2,785
TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $2,142,003.33
. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS $32,560,706.32
FULL AMOUNT $34,702,709.65
. VA FILES REVIEWED 2,549
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 590
. INTERVIEWS 2,335
RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 2,434
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 738
. MEMBERSHIP 188
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Office: Milwaukee, W

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

consin

Office: Cheyenne, Wyoming

NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION

PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCIAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS

DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS

. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS

. TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP

1,115
1,310

1,980

182

93

0

573

73

75

0

0

53

0
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0

5,586
$4,325,998.00
$67,075,482.00
$71,401,480.00
4944

1,079

2,749

5,494

7

0
3,526
1,028

118
125
171

emocoocow

533
$369,270.00
$5,075,764.00

. FULL AMOUNT $5,445,034.00
. VA FILES REVIEWED 532
. POWER OF ATTORNEYS 133
. INTERVIEWS 629
. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES 417
. MILITARY AFFAIRS 0
. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES 0
. NEW CLAIMS 473
. MEMBERSHIP
Office: San Juan, Puerto Rico
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS 463
COMPENSATION INCREASED 581
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED 1,090
PENSION 446
PENSION MAINTAINED 173
SOCIAL SECURITY 0
EDUCATION BENEFITS 167
MISCELLANEOUS 39
DEATH COMPENSATION 17
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS 2
. SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED 0
. DEATH PENSION 84
. INSURANCE 0
. BURIAL ALLOWANCES 14
. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS 0
. TOTAL AWARDS 3,076
. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES $2,037.249.00

$39,319,371.86
$41,356,620.86
2,493

705

1,998

2,103

0

7
1,304
63
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11.
. DEATH PENSION

. INSURANCE

. BURIAL ALLOWANCES

. PHYSICAL EVALUATION BOARDS
. TOTAL AWARDS

. TOTAL MONTHLY INCREASES

. TOTAL RETROACTIVE PAYMENTS
. FULL AMOUNT

. VA FILES REVIEWED

. POWER OF ATTORNEYS

. INTERVIEWS

. RATING BOARD APPEARANCES

. MILITARY AFFAIRS

. SOCIAL SECURITY ACTIVITIES

. NEW CLAIMS

. MEMBERSHIP
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Office: Honolulu, Haw
NEW SERVICE CONNECTIONS
COMPENSATION INCREASED
COMPENSATION MAINTAINED
PENSION
PENSION MAINTAINED
SOCTAL SECURITY
EDUCATION BENEFITS
MISCELLANEOUS
DEATH COMPENSATION
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS
SPECIAL ENTITLEMENTS MAINTAINED

131

1474
$936,717.00
$18,079,168.00
$19,015,885.00
312

494

1,039

1,012

216

0

353

53



(The following written annual report was submitted by Mr. Edward Hartman,
National Director of Voluntary Services:)

ANNUAL REPORT

EDWARD E. HARTMAN
NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF VOLUNTARY SERVICES
TO THE
84TH NATIONAL CONVENTION
OF THE
DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA
August 14-17, 2005

NATIONAL COMMANDER JAMES E. SURSELY, NATIONAL OFFICERS,
DISTINGUISHED GUESTS, AND DELEGATES TO THE 84TH NATIONAL
CONVENTION OF THE DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS:

Voluntary service to veterans and their families has always been the hallmark
of the Disabled American Veterans (DAV) and the Auxiliary. Volunteerism is
more than the stock in trade of the DAV and the Auxiliary; it is one of the more
eloquent expressions of the respect and gratitude that individual members have for
those who have served their country.

In selflessly giving of their time and love, DAV and Aucxiliary members at the
Chapter, Unit, Department, and National levels, as well as today's student youth,
serve veterans and their families through a wide range of voluntary service
programs. Each year these volunteers increase the hours they donate in working
with veterans in Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) medical facilities, disabled
veterans' homes, community nursing homes, outpatient clinics, and anywhere that
disabled veterans need a hand.

While we can and should be proud of our achievements, we must also look
ahead. Let us focus on innovation in volunteerism. Let us focus on where the DAV
and Auxiliary will find new volunteers to meet the growing needs of veterans,
particularly those who are aging. If you’re not already in the ranks of our
volunteers, we need you. We need your time, your sensitivities, your ideas, and
your help in making certain that America’s veterans get the care they deserve.

Our volunteer programs have withstood the test of time and will continue to
soar to new heights in the years to come. As you consider your own possible future
role in our volunteer effort, please remember that there are more than enough
opportunities to go around — not only at VA medical centers but also in the
communities where veterans live. Think of the unused skills and talents in our
membership ranks! Think of the services we could offer veterans if more of us
became involved!

132



The following program descriptions represent statistics totaling the money
spent, the hours donated, and the number of people who participate in our
volunteer effort. These figures can never fully represent the leadership and
unselfish assistance provided by State VAVS Chairmen, Hospital Representatives,
Deputies, and individual volunteers. No one can put a price on programs like
transportation to medical treatment, direct patient care, entertainment, and
recreational and sporting activities. No one can place a monetary value on doing
for older veterans what they can no longer do for themselves. Nor could we place a
dollar sign in front of the friendship one veteran extends to another...or the love an
Auxiliary member holds out to a family much like her own. The statistics in this
report merely measure what DAV and Auxiliary members, families, and friends
have done in accomplishing our organization’s purpose. They cannot measure the
gift our volunteers offer or the reward they receive in their own hearts.

DAV DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
VYOLUNTARY SERVICES PROGRAM

The DAV VAVS program is the largest of our volunteer initiatives. Through it,
DAYV volunteers provide a broad array of services to veterans in our nation's VA
medical facilities. Under this program, 14,374 DAV VAVS volunteers donated
2,138,774 hours in the 12 months ending September 2004.

With a group this large and the huge number of assignments they perform, you
can imagine the extensive management effort that's carried out on a local level by
19 State Chairmen, 148 VAVS Representatives, 196 Deputy Representatives, 20
Associate Representatives, and five Deputy Associate Representatives.

The DAYV volunteer effort is enhanced by a very active corps of 2,825 Auxiliary
volunteers who donated 256,015 hours last year. Together, DAV and Auxiliary
volunteers provided 2,394,789 hours of VAVS service over the past year —
considerably more than any other service organization. This is equivalent to the
VA having an additional 1,214 full-time employees with an estimated value of
nearly $42 million in hourly wages alone.

DAYV HOSPITAL SERVICE COORDINATOR
TRANSPORTATION NETWORK PROGRAM

Because so many sick and disabled veterans lack transportation to and from
VA medical facilities for needed treatment, the DAV operates a nationwide
Transportation Network. This program continues to show tremendous growth as
an indispensable resource for veterans. Across the nation, DAV Hospital Service
Coordinators (HSCs) operate 183 active programs. They’ve recruited 9,657
volunteer drivers who logged 26,634,281 miles last year, taking 731,085 veterans to
and from VA medical facilities. Many of these veterans rode in vans the DAV
purchased and donated to VA medical facilities for use in the Transportation
Network. DAV Departments and Chapters, together with the National
Organization, have now donated 1,668 vans to VA medical centers nationwide at a
cost of $34,029,897.

At the DAV’s 83rd National Convention, Ford Motor Company donated eight
new 12-passenger vans to the Disabled American Veterans Transportation
Network. The VAMCs that received these vans were: Montgomery, Alabama;
Lexington, Kentucky; Columbia, Missouri; Syracuse, New York; Asheville, North
Carolina; Roseburg, Oregon; Murfreesboro, Tennessee (and outstationed at the
Chattanooga VA Outpatient Clinic); and Madison, Wisconsin.
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As a further demonstration of its commitment to the DAV Transportation
Network, Ford Motor Company is again donating eight new 12-passenger vans.
This will take place during the opening session at this National Convention. The
VAMC s receiving these vans are: Washington, D.C.; Iron Mountain, Michigan;
Chillicothe, Ohio; Portland, Oregon; Fort Meade, South Dakota; Spokane,
‘Washington; Clarksburg, West Virginia; and Cheyenne, Wyoming.

This generous gift reflects Ford Motor Company’s continued commitment to
veterans. From the start, they have shown great interest in the DAV’s mission of
service and transportation to the many veterans who have no other means of
getting to their VA medical appointments. Ford’s participation with us is a real
boost to the DAV Transportation Network program.

THE GEORGE H. SEAL MEMORIAL TROPHY

The George H. Seal Memorial Trophy recognizes an outstanding DAV and
Auxiliary VAVS volunteer each year, people whose volunteer activities closely
reflect the values that characterized the life of the late National DAV VAVS
Representative George H. Seal.

During the 27 years since its inception, this award has become one of the most
esteemed honors presented at the DAV’s annual National Convention. VA medical
center Voluntary Service Program Managers throughout the nation are each
encouraged to submit nominations for DAV and Auxiliary volunteers. These
nominations are then thoroughly evaluated by an independent committee of
authorities in the field of voluntary service. The volunteers selected by the
committee are brought to the DAV National Convention for the award
presentation. After reviewing the nominations of DAV and Auxiliary volunteers,
the committee chose as this year’s winners:

DAV

Troy Bowling, a U.S. Marine who was left for dead on the black volcanic sands
of Red Beach One on Iwo Jima, has been a DAV volunteer for 40 years. Mr.
Bowling, 78, has contributed more than 56,089 hours volunteering at VA medical
centers, equivalent to 27 years of consecutive 40-hour weeks.

Mr. Bowling, a member of DAV Chapter 1 in Lexington, Kentucky, has been
contributing as a volunteer at the Lexington VA Medical Center. He began by
assisting veterans and widows filing claims for benefits administered by the
Department of Veterans Affairs. He later became involved with special recreation
activities and most recently, compiles volunteer data, processes new volunteers, and
encourages other veterans to volunteer.

DAYV Auxiliary

Ruth N. Bier, 81, is a member of DAV Auxiliary Unit 173 in Austin, Texas.
Mrs. Bier served as a volunteer in military hospitals while her husband was
stationed in Germany. When they returned to the United States, she served with a
first aid unit traveling to military bases. She joined the DAV Voluntary Services
program in 1971 and has been volunteering with the DAV Auxiliary ever since.

Mrs. Bier has donated 35,718 hours, which amounts to more than 17 years as a
full-time volunteer. She performs a variety of voluntary services at the Central
Texas Veterans Healthcare System outpatient clinic in Austin, Texas. She handles
the day-to-day activities and services for volunteers and patients as well as
coordinates the DAV Transportation Network at the clinic.
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Mr. Bowling and Mrs. Bier will be presented their awards during the opening
session of the 2005 DAV and Auxiliary National Convention in Las Vegas,
Nevada.The DAV and Aucxiliary can be proud of people like Mr. Bowling and Mrs.
Bier for the service and dedication they display every day. Whenever any of us
wears the DAV emblem, we know that it is a symbol of greatness because of people
like Troy and Ruth and all the others who each day, without fanfare or recognition,
provide friendly service and compassionate support to disabled veterans. They are
great people, and they help make the DAV a great organization.

2005 JESSE BROWN MEMORIAL YOUTH SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM

The Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarship Program was created to honor
outstanding young volunteers who are active participants in the VA Voluntary
Service program. The scholarships are awarded to deserving young men and
women who have generously donated their time and compassion to sick and
disabled veterans in their communities. The DAYV is deeply appreciative of Ford
Motor Company for helping recognize the thousands of hours these outstanding
students have donated to care for and comfort disabled veterans.

Candidates for the scholarships must be age 21 or younger and must have
volunteered a minimum of 100 hours in a VA medical center during the previous
calendar year. The scholarship will be available for any accredited institution of
higher learning, to include universities, colleges, community colleges or vocational
schools, etc. In addition, the recipient must utilize the scholarship prior to reaching
age 25. Employees of the DAV National Organization and their families are not
eligible for this award.

Nomination forms were mailed to each Department Commander and
Voluntary Service Program Managers at all VA medical centers across the
country. The committee, Chaired by National Commander James E. Sursely, is
responsible for selecting the scholarship recipients.

The winners of the 2005 Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarships have
widely divergent interests, but they have one thing in common — they honor those
who defended our nation’s freedom by donating their time to assist disabled
veterans.

1° Place ($15,000) Andrew Layton, Battle Creek, MI VAMC

2" Place ($10,000) Ann Marie Sobocinski, Milwaukee, WI VAMC

3" Place ($7,500) Felicia Ashley Bracey, Richmond, VA VAMC
($7,500) Philip Nodhturft, III, Tampa, FL VAMC

4™ Place ($5,000)
I Marissa Mignon Jones, Jackson, MS VAMC
1I. Linda Saleh, Cleveland, OH VAMC - Brecksville Division
II1. Neil Rangwani, Bedford, MA VAMC
Iv. Shazim Uppal, Wilmington, DE VAMC
V. Brody J. Pav, Bay Pines, FL VAMC
VI Jared T. Bryant, Topeka, KS VAMC

VIIL Karissa L. Wrock, Detroit, MI VAMC
VIIIL Jennifer Snow, White City, OR VAMC
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The outstanding service provided by this dedicated group of young volunteers
is inspiring to those veterans who are the recipients of their care and to the families
of those veterans. They prove that our nation’s youth care about veterans and the
service and sacrifice they made for our nation. They have proven their desire to
help disabled veterans, and they clearly have gained a great deal from their
association with our veterans. It is a privilege to have these young men and women
working to assist our sick and disabled veterans. The tremendous response we
have received for the Jesse Brown Memorial Youth Scholarship Program is
growing. In the future, it will encourage increased volunteerism to help our
nation’s veterans.

Some of the benefits of volunteering at a local VA medical center may include:
scholarships for college, job experience, healthcare career possibilities, providing
assistance to hospitalized veterans, completing high school volunteerism
requirements and community involvement. Andrew Layton will be presented with
his scholarship during the opening session of the 2005 DAV and Auxiliary National
Convention in Las Vegas, Nevada.

The selection committee once again stated that all of the nominees are very
special volunteers, and it was a very, very difficult job to choose a winner. Each
nominee has been awarded a certificate of merit for outstanding volunteer
performance in meeting the needs of disabled veterans.

SPORTS FOR THE DISABLED

Athletic programs for handicapped veterans have always been important to
DAV. We have a long, proud history of leadership in efforts that encourage
athletic activity among disabled veterans of all ages. Working together with the
VA, DAV leaders are committed to providing these men and women with
opportunities to participate in sports which many thought would not be possible
with their disabilities.

The Veterans’ Advisory Committee on Rehabilitation previously cited a study
in which Kathy Stokes, Ph.D., reported that "the health care needs of those not
involved in sports activities were three times higher than those involved in some
type of sporting program." Modern Healthcare Magazine states that sports offer a
better quality of life, improved self-confidence and self-esteem, and a way for many
newly disabled people to adjust to their handicaps. Athletic activity provides a new
and very necessary social outlet, while improving physical endurance and
maintaining physical fitness.

More and more, doctors recognize it's not enough to stabilize patients
medically and send them home. Without an introduction to sports or recreation,
the hospital will see that person again and again. Disabled people involved in
sports generally experience fewer medical problems than those who aren't,
therapists say. Athletics help maintain cardiovascular conditioning, increase
circulation to the extremities, and avert skin breakdowns. Another advantage is
that sports are community-based rather than hospital-based undertakings. The
DAYV believes disabled veterans should have the same opportunity as non-disabled
individuals to participate in these activities.

The National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic — On April 3-8, 2005, 325
severely disabled veterans took part in the 19th National Disabled Veterans Winter
Sports Clinic at Snowmass Village, Colorado. With more than 350 volunteers —
including 198 ski instructors, most of whom are certified in teaching the disabled —
it was one of the best winter sports clinics ever conducted. An annual event
sponsored jointly by the DAV and VA, the clinic is open to veterans with visual
impairments, spinal-cord injuries, certain neurological conditions, orthopedic
amputations, or other severe disabilities.
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We want to thank the sponsors of the 2005 National Disabled Veterans Winter
Sports Clinic for their generous support. A special note of thanks to the several
DAYV and Auxiliary entities who are committed to this event. Our sponsors this
year were:

HOST (830,000 +): Ford Motor Company; Sprint; Veterans Canteen
Service/Burger King; Veterans Canteen Service

NATIONAL ($20,000 — $29,999): AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals; The Coca-
Cola Company; Independence Technology a Johnson & Johnson Company; Pfizer,
Inc.; Prince Bandar bin Sultan; QTC Medical Services, Inc.

GOLD ($10,000 — $19,999): Baxter Healthcare Corporation; Cisco; DAV
California Rehabilitation Foundation, Inc.; DAV Department of Arkansas; DELL;
ELAN; Eli Lilly and Company; Fifth Third Asset Management, Inc.; Health Net
Federal Services; J.H. O’Brien Landscaping & Maintenance, Inc.; Johnson &
Johnson Health Care Systems, Inc.; Moore Wallace Response Marketing Services;
Pearson Government Solutions; Purdue Pharma Fund; United Airlines; 3M Health
Care

SILVER ($5,000 — $9,999): APPTIS; The Colorado Elks Association Charities,
Inc.; Elks National Veterans Service Commission; EMC; GE Healthcare;
Healthlink Incorporated; Leadership VA Alumni Association; Northrop Grumman
Corporation; The ROHO Group; Vietnam Veterans of America Chapter 57

BRONZE ($2,500 — $4,999): Advanced Prosthetics and Orthotics, Inc.; The
American Board for Certification in Orthotics and Prosthetics, Inc.; Association of
Military Surgeons of the United States (AMSUS); AMSUS Sustaining Members
Section; DAV Auxiliary; DAV Department of Colorado; DAV Department of
Florida; DAV Department of Indiana; DAV Department of Nebraska; DAV
Department of Virginia; DAV Elkhart Chapter 19, Elkhart, Indiana; DAV H.H.
MacKenzie, Chapter 3, Roanoke, Virginia; DAV State Commanders and Adjutants
Association; EZ-ACCESS Ramps — A Homecare Products Company; The Fischer
Family; Fox River Mills, Inc.; Frank Pacello, Inc.; Invacare; Lockheed Martin
Corporation; Pride Mobility; PSA Healthcare; sanofi aventis; Mary C. Thomas;
THOR-LO, Inc.; Mike Weiss

CONTRIBUTOR (To $2,499): DAV Auxiliary 3" District; DAV Auxiliary Will
County Chapter 103, Illinois; DAV Chapter 15, Manassas, Virginia; George and
Nancy Evseeff; John F. Heilman, Jr.; Nora E. Brennan and Stephen E. Miller, Jr.;
Robert C. Thomas; Western Colorado Chapter Military Officers Association of
America

SUPPLIER: Masterfoods USA.

The world’s largest rehabilitation program of its kind, the clinic affords
severely disabled veterans the opportunity to learn new recreation activity skills
and to sharpen existing ones. Veterans were introduced to downhill and cross-
country skiing, rock climbing, wheelchair self-defense, sled hockey, horseback
riding, fishing, trap shooting, and other activities.

The 20™ Annual National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic promises to
be better and bigger and will be held April 2-7, 2006, in Snowmass Village,
Colorado.
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DAV Freedom Award — In 1992, we instituted the DAV Freedom Award at the
National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic. It is given each year to the
veteran who makes the most progress during the week, showing outstanding
courage and accomplishments in taking a giant step forward in the rehabilitation
process. This annual award is sponsored by His Royal Highness Prince Bandar bin
Sultan, Ambassador of Saudi Arabia. The award's inscription reads: "Your
accomplishments during the National Disabled Veterans Winter Sports Clinic have
proved to the world that physical disability does not bar the doors to freedom. We
salute your desire to excel so that others may follow."

The 2005 recipient of the DAV Freedom Award is Oscar Olguin, from La
Puente, California. A 19-year-old combat-wounded Army veteran, is also this
year's youngest participant. Injured in Operation Iraqi Freedom, Olguin, a right
leg below the knee amputee and a beginner skier, took advantage of all the clinic
had to offer, and provided encouragement for the other 350 participants who
attended this year's clinic.

Golf for the Disabled — Golf is one of the fastest growing and most popular
sports in America. Recognizing this fact, the DAV and DAV Charitable Service
Trust support two golf programs that promote rehabilitation and a more active
lifestyle for disabled veterans.

National Amputee Golf Open Championships — The DAV National
Commander's Trophy honors the disabled veteran who puts in the best overall
performance at the National Amputee Golf Association championship tournament.
Additionally, it recognizes the contributions the winner has made in his or her own
community in furthering the opportunities of disabled veterans. Last year's 56th
annual tournament Boulder Creek Golf Club, Henderson, Nevada, October 18-22,
2004, drew 105 entries, 21 of them veterans. The winner of the DAV National
Commander’s trophy was Arlis J. Brooks of Rainbow City, Alabama.

First Swing Golf — This is the DAV's 16th year of involvement with the First
Swing instructional golf program for the disabled. With support from the DAV
Charitable Service Trust, this program provides therapists throughout the country
with instruction on the rehabilitation benefits of golf. Use of golf therapy at
hospitals and rehabilitation centers has brought the game back into the lives of
many who played before becoming disabled. It has also introduced the sport to
countless disabled people who never dreamed golf would be part of their lives.
During 2004, 35 First Swing seminars and Learn to Golf Clinics included 310
disabled veterans as participants.

DAV CELEBRITY ENTERTAINMENT PROGRAM

Continuing to provide a morale boost to disabled veterans, the DAV Celebrity
Entertainment Program assures that hospitalized patients are not forgotten...that
the American people still appreciate what they have done for all of us.

We're truly fortunate to sponsor some very talented people with a great deal of
compassion for these veterans, so many of whom face long and lonely stays in
hospitals, often far from family and friends. Making more than 100 hospital visits
last year alone, these wonderful people include Major League Baseball Umpires
Larry Barnett and Jerry Layne. The DAYV is indeed honored that such outstanding
celebrities want to be a part of the DAV Voluntary Service Program. We recognize
the enormous demands they face, and we appreciate the gift of their valuable time.
They have demonstrated that they care very deeply about the needs of disabled
veterans.
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Detroit Tigers pitcher Mike Maroth has continued to visit veteran patients at
the Gainesville, Florida, VA Medical Center.

Mike was the Boston Red Sox's second overall pick in 1998 and was traded to
the Tigers in 2000. Mike was immediately ranked as the Tigers #11 prospect in the
organization and is often compared to Tom Glavine of the Atlanta Braves. A left
hander, Mike is one of the Tigers top starting pitchers. In 2004, he was 11-13 with
a 4.31 earned run average and completed the season with an impressive 217 innings
pitched.

Mike was born in Orlando, Florida, attended the University of Central Florida,
and currently makes his home with his wife Brooke and their son, Nolan Everett, in
Orlando, Florida.

We are grateful Mr. Maroth took time from spring training to visit with our
veterans at the hospital. DAV wishes him well and much success in his Major
League career, and we are hopeful he will continue to visit VA healthcare facilities
in the future.

These DAV-sponsored celebrities signed autographs, presented patients with
photographs, and helped brighten the day for sick and disabled veterans in VA
medical facilities all across the country.

IN CLOSING

Many deserve our thanks for the great year the DAV volunteer programs have
had. If it were not for their support, the many programs mentioned in this report
would not have been realized.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank Laura Balun, who heads up the
Department of Veterans Affairs Voluntary Service Program, her staff, and the
VAYVS leadership team across the nation for their devotion to volunteerism.

The Voluntary Services Department during this past year has been very
fortunate to have the support of DAV National Commander James E. Sursely and
Auxiliary National Commander Gertrude E. Tidwell, and their staffs, the National
Line Officers, National Executive Committee, National Finance Committee, DAV
Interim Hospital Committee, National Service Foundation, and the Charitable
Service Trust. Their assistance and support were essential ingredients of our 2004
success story. My sincere gratitude for the support of the staff of National Service
and Legislative Headquarters led by Executive Director David W. Gorman, and
the staff at National Headquarters in Cincinnati led by Executive Director Richard
E. Patterson. My personal thanks to Assistant National Director of Voluntary
Services Chad Moos; Voluntary Services Support Specialists Linda DeMartino and
Linda Chester, and correspondents Joyce Barrett, Wilma Henderson, and Heather
Workman for their invaluable assistance.

We've experienced outstanding support from DAV’s corps of National Service
Officers and Hospital Service Coordinators who have played a vital role in support
of Voluntary Service Programs. The success of those programs can in part be
attributed to their participation and support. The successes reflected throughout
this report were not by chance. National Adjutant Arthur H. Wilson has always
been totally supportive of DAV’s Voluntary Service Program and, on behalf of the
Voluntary Services Department, we wish to thank him for his leadership and
guidance.

I would be remiss not to mention the true champions — the men and women
who care enough to make a difference in the lives of so many, the volunteer corps
of the DAV and Auxiliary. Your devotion, compassion and commitment to DAV’s
mission of building better lives for America’s disabled veterans is truly second to
none. Thank you.
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DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS

VA VOLUNTARY SERVICE (VAVS)

October 1, 2003 through September 30, 2004

NUMBER OF REGULARLY SCHEDULED VAVS VOLUNTEERS 14,374
NUMBER OF HOURS BY REGULARLY SCHEDULED VOLUNTEERS 2,138,774
NUMBER OF HOURS BY OCCASIONAL VOLUNTEERS 73,665

NUMBER OF HOURS BY ALL VAVS VOLUNTEERS 2,212,439

VAVS APPOINTED POSITIONS

NUMBER OF STATE CHAIRMEN 19

NUMBER OF STATE CHAIRMEN ALSO SERVING AS REPRESENTATIVES 13
NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES 148

NUMBER OF DEPUTY REPRESENTATIVES 196

NUMBER OF ASSOCIATE REPRESENTATIVES 20

NUMBER OF DEPUTY ASSOCIATE REPRESENTATIVES 5

NUMBER OF HONORARY REPRESENTATIVES 1

NUMBER OF APPOINTED POSITIONS 402

ANNUAL JOINT REVIEWS RECEIVED FOR THE YEAR 60

DAV TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM

(January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2004)

TOTAL NUMBER OF HOSPITAL SERVICE COORDINATORS (HSCs) 187
NUMBER OF VETERANS TRANSPORTED 731,085

TRANSPORTATION HOURS 1,508,827

TRANSPORTATION MILES 26,634,281

2004 NATIONAL TRANSPORTATION NETWORK GRANTS

NATIONAL TRANSPORTATION NETWORK HSC PROGRAM GRANTS § 729,413

NATIONAL TRANSPORTATION NETWORK VAN GRANTS $ 2,622,576
(144 vans purchased and delivered in 2004)

2004 Total National Grant Expenditures $ 3,351,989
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(The following written annual report was submitted by Mr. Joseph A.
Violante, National Legislative Director.)

ANNUAL REPORT
of the
NATIONAL LEGISLATIVE DEPARTMENT
DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS
for
2004-2005
by
JOSEPH A. VIOLANTE
NATIONAL LEGISLATIVE DIRECTOR
for presentation to
THE 84TH NATIONAL CONVENTION
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA
AUGUST 14-17, 2005

NATIONAL COMMANDER JAMES E. SURSELY AND DISTINGUISHED
DELEGATES:

With our Nation locked in hostilities in Iraq, Afghanistan, and other venues in
the global war on terrorism, the Disabled American Veterans has just added
another year to its long history of veterans’ advocacy to ensure we continue to
properly honor and care for those who have borne the greatest burdens of war and
made the greatest sacrifices in answering their country’s call. During the past 12
months, we have expended great effort on the legislative front in carrying on our
cause of building better lives for America’s disabled veterans and their families. As
usual, the budget process proved challenging. We continued to press for favorable
legislation in a number of areas and presented testimony in several congressional
hearings.

With the close of the 108th Congress at the end of 2004 and the beginning of the
109th Congress in January 2005, the political landscape changed notably in
Washington. The House Leadership stripped Congressman Chris Smith of his
chairmanship of the House Veterans’ Affairs Committee because he was an honest
advocate for what was right. He would not bend to leadership pressure to quietly
“go along with the program” to under fund veterans’ medical care and support
other actions detrimental to veterans. The House leadership replaced
Congressman Smith with Congressman Steve Buyer (R-IN). Senator Arlen
Specter’s (R-PA) term as chairman of the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee
expired, and he was replaced by Senator Larry Craig (R-ID). Senator Daniel
Akaka (D-HI) became the new Ranking Member of the Senate Veterans’ Affairs
Committee.

With its reorganization of the appropriations subcommittees, the congressional
leadership included VA under a new subcommittee in both the House and Senate.
In the House, VA’s appropriation is now under the Subcommittee on Military
Quality of Life and Veterans Affairs, and Related Agencies. In the Senate, the
Subcommittee on Military Construction, Veterans’ Affairs, and Related Agencies
has jurisdiction over VA’s appropriation. Apparently, some in the leadership
wanted this change to avoid competition by VA against other favored programs,
such as NASA, under the prior appropriations subcommittee. With President
Bush’s second term came a new Secretary of Veterans Affairs. Our longtime
acquaintance, Secretary Anthony J. Principi, was replaced by Secretary James R.
Nicholson. We lost some friends in key places.
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Among our own ranks, we lost one of our most special friends. Past National
Commander Oliver Meadows died on April 26, 2005. Following a distinguished 20-
year career as Staff Director of the House Veterans’ Affairs Committee, Oliver
served as our National Commander in 1977 and 1978. He remained a trusted
advisor for the DAYV national staff throughout the years, and the DAV legislative
staff regularly sought his invaluable advice and counsel. We will miss that advice,
and we will miss him.

Changing times do not change our mission. Though the road uphill seems to
have become ever steeper, I am happy to say, we continue to have successes to
report again this year. It is my pleasure to report this year’s activities to you.

Budget & Appropriations
Fiscal Year 2005

Each year, the budget debate centers on the amount of discretionary
appropriations that should be provided for veterans’ programs, predominantly
veterans’ medical care. As they began work to draft their fiscal year (FY) 2005
appropriations bill for the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), Housing and
Urban Development (HUD), and other independent agencies in late July 2004,
House appropriators expected to cut spending for all the agencies funded by the
bill except VA. Because of its political importance, the amount of appropriations
for veterans’ medical care was expected to make the bill one of the most
controversial among the 13 annual appropriations bills.

The bill approved by the House Appropriations Committee on July 22, 2004,
added $1.2 billion to the $27.4 billion the President requested in his budget. The
President’s request amounted to only $310 million above the FY 2004
appropriation. The Appropriations Committee voted down an amendment offered
by Congressman Chet Edwards (D-Tex.) to add another $1.3 billion to bring
funding more in line with our request in The Independent Budget of $30.3 billion in
appropriations for medical care. In reaction to strong objections from the veterans
community, the Committee rejected the President’s recommendation to increase
medical copayments and impose a $250 annual enrollment fee for medical care,
however. The House bill did follow the President’s recommendation to cut staffing
in the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA) by 540 fulltime employees (FTE).
On September 21, 2004, the Senate Appropriations Committee approved its bill,
which provided funding slightly higher than the House bill with an additional $1.2
billion designated as emergency funding for medical care.

As we neared October 1, 2004, the beginning date of FY 2005, Congress had yet
to agree on most of the spending bills, and it became apparent that temporary
funding bills would be required to keep the Government running until Congress
returned after the November election. On November 20, 2004, Congress passed an
omnibus appropriations bill that consolidated several appropriations bills, and the
President signed it on December 8, 2004. The appropriation for the Veterans
Health Administration (VHA) was $28.1 billion, an increase of $1.5 billion from FY
2004, but $1.7 billion less than we sought. The omnibus bill required an across-the-
board reduction in spending, a “recision,” which reduced the increase by $228
million. Another $125 million was to be transferred to VBA to cover the costs of
hiring new claims processing staff. Nearly all of the remaining increase was wiped
out by a pay increase for Federal employees above that funded in the budget.
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Fiscal Year 2005 Supplemental Appropriation

With an influx of new veterans from Operation Enduring Freedom and
Operation Iraqi Freedom needing medical services and with news reports from
across the Nation of shortfalls already in FY 2005 funding for veterans’ medical
care, Representative Darlene Hooley (D-Ore.) and other House Democrats wrote
the President in February 2005 to urge him to support the inclusion of $1.3 billion
for veterans’ medical care in the emergency supplemental appropriations for the
war. In congressional testimony on February 16, 2005, VA Secretary Nicholson
denied that VA was deferring purchases and maintenance because of funding
shortfalls. In his March 8, 2005, testimony in a joint hearing before the Senate and
House Veterans’ Affairs Committees, DAV National Commander James E. Sursely
provided several examples of news stories about the effects of shortfalls on various
VA medical centers. These stories began to appear in the first quarter of the fiscal
year. In March, the House leadership blocked Representative Hooley’s efforts to
amend the supplemental appropriations bill to add $1.2 billion for medical care.
On April 5, 2005, Secretary Nicholson told Congress VA did not need additional
money for veterans’ medical care. On April 12, 2005, an effort by Senator Patty
Murray (D-Wash.) to add $2 billion to the bill for veterans’ medical care was
defeated by a vote along party lines of 54 to 46.

On June 23, 2005, VA admitted that a $1 billion shortfall in medical care
funding for FY 2005 had required it to divert construction money and dip into
reserve funds to cover the shortage. On June 29, 2005, the Senate voted to add $1.5
billion to the FY 2005 medical care appropriation. The House passed its
supplemental funding bill the following day. Based on the Administration’s initial
estimate of the extra funding needed, the House bill would provide only $975
million. The Administration subsequently revised its estimate and informed
Congress that $300 million more would be required to cover the shortfall. As of
this writing, the Senate is still considering alternatives for the best legislative
vehicle for the supplemental funding, and the Senate and House must both agree to
the same amount before the legislation can be sent to the President to be signed into
law.

Fiscal Year 2006

The budget cycle for FY 2006 began with the President’s submission of this
budget to Congress on February 7, 2005. The President’s FY 2006 budget for VA
requests $70.8 billion in total budget authority. This total consists of $37.4 billion
for mandatory spending for the benefit programs and $33.4 billion for
discretionary funding. The mandatory funding would include $478.3 million to
cover a 2.3 percent cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) in disability compensation.
The medical care budget authority of $30.7 billion would include $27.8 billion in
discretionary appropriations with the remainder to be obtained from copayments,
enrollment fees, and other collections. Another $2.7 billion in discretionary
funding would cover general operating expenses (GOE), some construction costs,
and medical research.

The $27.8 billion in appropriations for veterans’ medical care amounts to only
a 0.4 percent—or less than one-half of one percent—increase over the FY 2005
appropriation in nominal, or constant, dollars and therefore would be a reduction
below the FY 2005 appropriation of $27.7 billion adjusted for inflation. The
Independent Budget estimates that VA will need at least $31.2 billion in
appropriations for veterans’ medical care in FY 2006.
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To bridge some of the gap between the resources needed and the
appropriations requested, the Administration’s budget would shift some of the
costs of VA medical care from the Government onto veterans themselves. It would
impose a $250 annual enrollment fee and increase pharmacy copayments for so-
called “lower priority veterans” (Priority Groups 7 & 8 veterans) seeking medical
care. According to the Administration’s budget, imposing these fees has two goals:
(1) to generate non-appropriated revenues in the form of money collected from
veterans and thereby partially offset reductions in appropriations, and (2) save
money by driving a projected 213,000 veterans away from the VA medical care
system in FY 2006. To further partially reduce the gap between resources needed
and appropriations requested, the Administration merely declares that it will
achieve $590 million in savings through new management efficiencies.

Assuming Congress agreed to impose the enrollment fee and increased
copayments on disabled veterans, assuming attainment of the projected savings
from the scheme to drive veterans away from the system, and assuming all of the
savings from the acheivment of new efficiencies, the total budget authority would
still fall far short of what is needed to maintain services. The total budget authority
for medical care would still be so inadequate that it would require draconian
reductions in essential medical services to veterans. The Administration’s budget
would reduce VA medical care staffing in FY 2006 by 3,712 FTE below FY 2005
levels.

Also, the Administration’s budget proposes a sharp curtailment of long-term
care to disabled veterans. The Administration’s budget requests that Congress
change the law to relieve VA from congressionally mandated levels of VA long-
term care. With the mandated FY 1998 minimum level of nursing care capacity
lifted, the President’s budget would provide VA nursing care to 27 percent fewer
veterans in FY 2006 than in FY 1998. In addition, the Administration’s budget
would reduce nursing care in state institutions. It would cover the costs of nursing
care in state institutions for 61 percent fewer veterans in FY 2006 than in FY 2005.

The Administration’s budget would also make personnel reductions in VBA,
with 76 fewer employees than VBA has authorized for FY 2005 and 539 fewer
employees than VBA had in FY 2003. The budget includes no funding to continue
several information technology initiatives designed to improve efficiency in benefits
administration.

Along with the dollar amounts, the President’s budget includes the underlying
justification for the funding levels requested to operate programs and to meet
Government obligations. It includes explanations of the workloads and projected
workloads, and the strategies and methods for achieving program purposes and for
improving efficiency. In addition, the budget includes the President’s
recommendations for legislation to implement the Administration’s public policy
objectives.

Historically, presidents’ budgets have included modest proposals to improve
benefits and services for veterans. Presidents’ budgets have also occasionally
included proposals to reduce or eliminate certain veterans’ benefits. The
Administration’s budget for FY 2006 contains very little in the way of
recommendations to improve veterans’ programs. The President’s budget includes
only one recommendation for beneficial legislation, and that is the typical
recommendation that Congress enact a COLA for compensation and related
benefits under that account.
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Earlier this year, we testified in three separate congressional hearings to state
the DAV’s position on the President’s FY 2006 budget recommendations and to
present our own alternative budget recommendations as set forth in The
Independent Budget. We appeared before the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee
on February 15, 2005, and before the House Veterans’ Affairs Committee on
February 16, 200S. We testified before the House Appropriations Subcommittee
on Military Quality of Life and Veterans’ Affairs, and Related Agencies on April 7,
2005. Consistent with our primary responsibility as the author of the sections of
The Independent Budget concerning the nonmedical benefit programs, we focused
our testimony on those areas, although we did depart from our usual practice to
communicate our strong views about the inadequacy of the budget request for
medical care. In his testimony before the joint session of the two Veterans’ Affairs
Committees, National Commander Sursely reminded legislators that a VA official
had recently conceded that VA needs a 13-to 14-percent increase in medical care
funding each year just to stay even with rising costs. The National Commander
noted that the President’s FY 2006 budget requested an increase of less than one-
half of one percent. He urged Congress to provide $31.2 billion for medical care,
$3.4 billion more than the President’s request. He also informed the members of
the Committees of DAV’s strong opposition to enrollment fees and higher
copayments.

At the time of the National Commander’s testimony, House Veterans’ Affairs
Committee Chairman Steve Buyer had already recommended to the House Budget
Committee that the budget include enrollment fees on a sliding scale from $230 to
$500 based on income. Other Republican members of the Committee distanced
themselves from the recommendation. Democratic members wrote separately to
the Budget Committee to express their opposition to any enrollment fee or increase
in copayments.

In the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee, the majority and minority also
submitted their recommendations separately to the Budget Committee. The
majority did not expressly object to the imposition of an annual enrollment fee, but
specifically stated that it did not endorse an increase in copayments. The minority
rejected both an enrollment fee and increased copayments.

As part of the annual budget process, the two chambers of Congress adopt
budget resolutions as a revenue and spending plan for the upcoming fiscal year. If
both chambers agree on the same plan, the concurrent budget resolution then sets
general spending levels for Federal departments and agencies. The House and
Senate agreed upon and adopted the concurrent budget resolution for FY 2006 on
April 28, 2005. The resolution did not include plans for an annual medical care
enrollment fee or increased copayments. Though it included instructions for cuts
in mandatory spending for most Federal programs, none was directed at veterans’
programs. The measure recommended only about $400 million above the
President’s budget for veterans’ medical care. Attempts to add more money for
medical care failed.

On May 26, 2005, the House passed its appropriation bill funding VA. The bill
would provide $28.4 billion for veterans’ medical care programs, which would
amount to just over $600 million in increased appropriations. This amount is $2.7
billion below our recommendation in The Independent Budget. An amendment
offered by Congressman David Obey (D-Wis.) to add $2.6 billion for VA programs
was defeated by a vote largely along party lines. Another amendment offered by
Congressman Charlie Melancon (D-La.) would have added $53 million for
veterans’ medical care and claims processing. The Speaker of the House voted
against the amendment to break a tie, and the amendment failed by a vote of 214 to
213.

On July 14, 2005, the Administration amended its FY 2006 budget request for
VA medical care and asked Congress to provide $1.677 billion above the original
request.
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On July 21, 2005, the Senate Appropriations Committee approved its
appropriations bill to fund VA. The bill would provide $30.9 billion for veterans’
medical care. As with the House-passed bill, it would provide $412 million for
medical research, $19 million more than the President’s budget request. The
Senate bill would provide $1.418 billion for GOE, which predominantly covers the
administrative expenses of administering the benefit programs. The Senate GOE
appropriation is $10 million above the President’s request and $7 million above the
House-passed appropriation.

Medical Care
Mandatory Funding

Our campaign for legislation to change the manner in which Congress funds
veterans’ medical care, from discretionary appropriations to mandatory spending,
continued full force through the end of 2004 and the end of the 108th Congress.
The Senate bill to make funding mandatory, S. 50, had 29 cosponsors. The House
bill, H.R. 2318, had 188. Though we succeeded in increasing awareness among
legislators of the need to enact mandatory funding legislation, we continued to run
up against strong opposition from appropriators and those opposed to mandating
spending levels for veterans’ medical care.

Several measures have been introduced in the 109th Congress that would shift
funding for VA medical care from a discretionary to a mandatory account.
Representative Lane Evans (D-IL) introduced H.R. 515, the Assured Funding for
Veterans Health Care Act. The bill would require the Secretary of the Treasury to
make mandatory appropriations for VA medical care based on a funding formula.
For fiscal year 2007, the amount of funds available to VA for veterans’ medical
care would equal 130 percent of the total obligations made by VA for such
programs in FY 2005. The amounts in following years would be based on the
number of veterans enrolled for VA health care on a given date, with annual
adjustments for medical inflation. This bill has 112 cosponsors. Senator Tim
Johnson (D-SD) introduced a companion bill, S. 331, which has 19 cosponsors.
Two additional measures include provisions for mandatory funding for veterans
health care as well: S. 13, introduced by Senator Daniel K. Akaka (D-HI) and S.
963, introduced by Senator John Thune (R-SD).

The DAYV and eight other major veterans organizations of The Partnership for
Veterans Health Care Budget Reform continue to combine and coordinate efforts
to obtain this legislation. We continue to gain support, and the current failures of
the discretionary budget process have made the need for mandatory funding all the
more evident.

Capital Asset Realignment for Enhanced Services

VA continues its project to reconfigure, and relocate, where necessary, its
medical care facilities according to current geographic, demographic, and
structural needs. Designated the Capital Asset Realignment for Enhanced
Services, and known as CARES, VA initiated this comprehensive and systematic
update of its national medical care infrastructure in 2001.
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Based on assessments of veteran populations within major geographical market
areas and analyses of the current and projected health care needs within these
markets, current resources were compared with forecasted demand. From these
findings, VA devised a Draft National CARES Plan, issued on August 4, 2003. The
draft plan proposed some consolidations, closures, expansion, and new construction
of facilities. The CARES Commission then reviewed the draft plan and held its
own public hearings to receive the views of various interested parties. Individuals
from DAV departments and National Service Officers appeared before the
Commission to present testimony on local conditions and needs. The Commission
conducted some 38 public hearings and held 10 public meetings, in which it heard
from veterans, veterans’ organization representatives, members of Congress,
Governors, and others. The CARES Commission compiled its analyses and
recommendations for enhancing medical care services to veterans in its February
2004 Report to the Secretary of Veterans Affairs.

Upon the VA Secretary’s acceptance of the Commission’s recommendations in
May of last year, implementation of the plan began. The CARES plan includes 30
high-priority construction projects that make up the initial phase of
implementation, but the plan identifies more than 100 construction projects
overall. In early January 2005, VA awarded a contract to the firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers to complete studies at 18 sites across the country, and
implementation is ongoing. The Senate FY 2006 appropriations bill for VA, H.R.
2528, as approved by the Senate Appropriations Committee on July 21, 2005,
would forestall closure of or changes to any of these 18 facilities. The bill provides
that “none of the funds in this or any other Act may be used to modify or alter the
mission, services or infrastructure of the 18 facilities on the [CARES] list requiring
further study as specified by the Secretary of Veterans Affairs.  The
Appropriations Committee took this action because of its understanding that VA is
now seeing large concentrations of veterans in areas that were not originally
anticipated to experience an increased workload, and the Committee therefore
believed that the 2004 CARES report may be outdated.

Other Medical Care Issues and Legislation

On July 22, 2004, we testified before the House Committee on Veterans’ Affairs
on the state of collaboration between the Department of Defense (DOD) and VA in
medical research and amputee care for veterans, and on potential reforms in VA’s
blind rehabilitation services. We acknowledged that Walter Reed Army Medical
Center provides amputees technologically advanced prostheses, and we noted the
facility’s initiatives to upgrade its Amputee Center and expand research on
prosthetic care, limb development, and rehabilitation. We expressed concerns as to
whether Congress has provided VA the necessary resources to provide the same
excellent care and prosthetic services. We included recommendations for ensuring
VA maintains the highest quality programs for amputees. We observed that,
despite its history of excellence, VA’s Blind Rehabilitation Service, had several
deficiencies and offered specific recommendations to address them.

On November 30, 2004, Congressman Chris Smith’s bill, H.R. 3936, was
enacted as Public Law. 108-442, the Veterans Health Programs Improvement Act
of 2004. Among its many provisions, the Act authorized establishment of new VA
research and education centers to develop new treatments for veterans with
complex multi-trauma combat injuries. It created a new pilot program to use
innovative technologies for recruitment of nurses, eliminated copayments for
veterans receiving VA hospice care, authorized 16 leases for community-based
outpatient clinics (CBOCs), and added permanent authority for VA’s sexual
trauma counseling program.
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Public Law 108-445, the Department of Veterans Affairs Health Care
Personnel Enhancement Act of 2004, was enacted on December 3, 2004. This
legislation overhauled the pay system for VA dentists and physicians and
authorized more flexible work schedules for VA nurses.

On June 9, 2005, we testified in a Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee hearing
regarding several pieces of health care legislation under consideration. We
commented on the several sections of S. 1182, the Veterans Health Care Act of
2005. We supported provisions to expand the exemption of hospice care from
copayments to cover settings other than long-term care, as well as provisions to
exempt former prisoners of war from inpatient long-term care copayments. We
opposed a provision that would eliminate a requirement that VA maintain nursing
care capacity at 1998 levels. We supported provisions to improve the salary of
VA’s Nursing Service Director. We commented on the beneficial or detrimental
aspects of several other provisions for which we had no DAV mandate.

We noted that S. 481 would be beneficial in that it would extend the 2-year
period of medical care eligibility for combat veterans of the Persian Gulf War and
thereafter to 4 years. We voiced our opposition to provisions in S. 614 that would
require copayments from Medicare-eligible veterans and other veterans who would
be allowed to have prescriptions by non-VA physicians filled by VA. We noted that
provisions in S. 716, the Vet Center Enhancement Act of 2005, to expand
readjustment counseling and mental health services at Vet Centers would be
beneficial.

We supported the provisions of S. 1180 to reauthorize medical services
programs for homeless veterans. We supported the provisions of S. 1190, the
Blinded Veterans Continuum of Care Act of 2005. This bill would require VA to
have blind rehabilitation specialists at designated VA medical facilities. Though we
support strengthening VA’s long-term care capacity, we opposed provisions in S.
1189 that would shift to Medicare, Medicaid, and private insurance the costs for
this expanded care. We testified in support of S. 1191, which would establish
grants for programs to transport veterans from remote rural areas to VA medical
appointments.

During a House Veterans’ Affairs Committee hearing on July 27, 2005, we
emphasized the need for VA and DOD to take the steps necessary to address the
mental health needs of a new generation of combat veterans. We expressed
concerns that VA does not have sufficient capacity to meet this new demand for
counseling and treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). We cited
shortcomings in the cooperation between DOD and VA to coordinate the transition
from DOD mental health services to VA treatment and counseling programs. We
recommended increased emphasis by DOD and VA on strengthening programs to
ensure they are prepared to properly deal with posttraumatic stress disorder and
other mental disorders in servicemembers and veterans of today’s conflicts.

Benefits
Legislation Enacted

On October 13, 2004, Congress cleared H.R. 4175, the Veterans' Compensation
Cost-of-Living Adjustment Act of 2004, for the President’s signature. The
President signed the Act into law on October 25, 2004. This legislation, Public Law
108-363, increased disability compensation, dependency and indemnity
compensation (DIC), and the clothing allowance by 2.7 percent based on the
increase in the cost of living as measured by the Consumer Price Index.
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On October 9, 2004, the House and Senate agreed to the conference report for
H.R. 4200, the Ronald W. Reagan National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal
Year 2005. The President signed the Act on October 28, 2004, and it became Public
Law 108-375. This legislation made another incremental step on the “concurrent
receipt” issue. For military retired veterans with service-connected disabilities
rated 100 percent, it removed provisions for a gradual phase-in of concurrent
payment of military retired pay and compensation, authorizing full payment of
both benefits beginning in January 2005. This bill also eliminated the Social
Security offset against an annuity under the Survivor Benefit Plan (SBP). Another
provision directed DOD to conduct a study of the service-connected disability
benefits available to veterans and directed the Government Accountability Office
to conduct a study of other government disability benefit programs in which
employees perform tasks with risks analogous to those performed by members of
the Armed Forces.

The Veterans Benefits Improvement Act of 2004, S. 2486, was enacted as Public
Law 108-454 on December 10, 2004. This bill consolidated various provisions of
other bills into one. The bill made several improvements to apprenticeship and on-
the-job training programs for veterans and extended from 10 to 20 years the period
for educational assistance to surviving spouses of members who die on active duty.
It strengthened reemployment laws for veterans. It made a number of
improvements to the home loan program. The Act added new protections against
misuse of funds of an incompetent veteran by a fiduciary. Some of the other
miscellaneous improvements to the benefits programs in this legislation were:

= increased by $250 the monthly amount of DIC in the case of a surviving spouse
with one or more children below the age of 18, to be payable until all such children
have attained age 18;
= provided that a payment to a radiation-exposed veteran under the Radiation
Exposure Compensation Act of 1990 shall not deprive such veteran of the payment
of any veterans' disability compensation to which the veteran is entitled and that
payment to a person under the Act shall not deprive such person to DIC to which
such person is entitled, but that there shall be deducted from such compensation or
DIC the amount of any payment made under the Act;
= excluded life insurance proceeds from consideration as income for veterans'
pension purposes;
= provided expressly that a disability incurred through VA treatment or
vocational rehabilitation will be treated as a service-connected disability for
purposes of eligibility to special adapted housing and the automobile grant, and
= added bone, brain, colon, lung, and ovarian cancers to the list of diseases
subject to presumptive service connection in the case of a veteran exposed to
ionizing radiation.

This Act also amended the law to authorize the United States Court of Appeals
for Veterans Claims to be at any location in the Washington, D.C., metropolitan
area rather than in the District of Columbia.
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On May 11, 2005, the President signed into law H.R. 1268, an emergency
defense supplemental appropriations measure, enacted as Public Law 109-13. This
legislation included a temporary increase in coverage under the Servicemembers’
Group Life Insurance (SGLI) and Veterans’ Group Life Insurance (VGLI)
programs from $250,000 to $400,000. As noted below, both the Senate and House
have bills pending that would make these increases permanent. This legislation
also added provisions to require that a member insured under the SGLI program
will be automatically issued a traumatic injury protection rider. The rider will
provide a payment of up to $100,000 if the member, while so insured, sustains a
traumatic injury that results in: (1) a loss of sight, limbs, speech, or hearing; (2)
certain burns; or (3) a coma or the inability to carry out certain daily living
activities. The provision requires the member serving on active or reserve duty to
pay a premium for this traumatic injury insurance.

Hearings on Benefit Bills and Oversight

On April 20, 2005, we testified before the Subcommittee on Economic
Opportunity of the House Committee on Veterans’ Affairs regarding the
functioning of VA’s Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment (VR&E) program.
We cited shortcomings in the program as found by the VR&E Task Force that was
created by the VA Secretary to study the program. We also recounted deficiencies
noted by The Independent Budget and provided recommendations for more
adequate resources and program improvements.

On May 4, 2005, our testimony before the Subcommittee on Economic
Opportunity dealt with four bills under consideration. We informed the
Subcommittee that we would support H.R. 419, a bill to extend for 3 years
authority for the President’s National Hire Veterans Committee, only if funding for
the Committee was not taken from funding for the Disabled Veterans Outreach
Program (DVOP) or Local Veterans Employment Representative (LVER) program
budgets.

On May 5, 2005, we testified in an oversight hearing before the Subcommittee
on Disability Assistance and Memorial Affairs of the House Veterans’ Affairs
Committee regarding the functioning and performance of VA’s appellate
operations. We pointed out that the Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims
overturns or remands 61 percent of the BVA decisions the Court reviews, which
reflects a high error rate in those BVA decisions appealed to the Court. We
observed that the number of appeals from regional office decisions is on the rise,
and that processing timeliness of appeals is slipping. We similarly noted higher
than projected workloads and decreasing timeliness at VBA’s Appeals
Management Center, a special unit created to complete actions ordered by BVA
remands. We recommended increased personnel to handle these higher workloads.

On May 12, 2005, we were again before the Subcommittee on Economic
Opportunity to provide our views on the needs and performance of the Veterans
Employment and Training Service (VETS) of the Department of Labor and on the
grant programs that fund the activities for DVOP representatives and LVERs. We
expressed concern about DVOPs being diverted to perform duties outside the scope
of their intended responsibilities of assisting disabled veterans in securing
employment. We voiced our opposition to proposed consolidation of the grants for
the DVOP and LVER services with corresponding changes to oversight of the
programs. We renewed our call for more adequate funding for the National
Veterans Training Institute and to ensure the continued effectiveness of transition
assistance to separating servicemembers. We stated our continuing support for the
Homeless Veterans’ Reintegration Program.
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In response to an invitation to testify before the Subcommittee on Economic
Opportunity on May 25, 2005, to provide DAV’s views on three bills, H.R. 717,
H.R. 745, and H.R. 1207, we informed the Subcommittee that the DAV had no
legislative mandate on any of the three bills dealing with educational benefits.

On May 26, 2005, we provided the Senate Veterans’ Affairs Committee with
our views on the functioning of VA’s claims and appeals processes. We observed
that some of the same deficiencies that have persisted for years continue to plague
VBA today and cause the work to back up, thereby delaying the delivery of benefits
to disabled veterans who often urgently need them to purchase the necessities of
life. Because of inadequate staffing levels, adjudicators must rush their work.
With insufficient time for adjudicators to thoroughly develop and review the
record, error rates are high. Consequently, many claims decisions must be
reworked to correct errors. Substantial time is required for processing of appeals.
When workload inventories begin to show large backlogs, the emphasis is on
production, and quality is compromised even more, making the situation worse in
the long term. We recommended that VBA be provided more employees, that
training be improved, and that management be held accountable for quality first.
We repeated our observation that BVA and the Appeals Management Center were
also strained, with caseloads and processing times increasing to the detriment of
veterans needing benefits. Here again, we recommended an increase in staffing
levels.

We testified on June 16, 2005, before the Subcommittee on Disability Assistance
and Memorial Affairs to address (1) H.R. 3200, the Servicemembers’ Group Life
Insurance Act; (2) traumatic injury insurance provisions in Public Law 109-13;
and (3) H.R. 1618, the Wounded Warrior Servicemembers’ Group Disability
Insurance Act of 2005. Regarding provisions in H.R. 3200 to replace the
temporary increase for SGLI and VGLI in Public Law 109-13 with a permanent
increase, we noted we had no mandate from our membership but had no objection
to enactment of this beneficial legislation. We objected to the concept in Public
Law 109-13 and in H.R. 1618 whereby servicemembers pay to insure themselves
against disability incurred in military service.

On June 23, 2005, we testified on several bills in a hearing before the Senate
Veterans’ Affairs Committee. We stated our support for S. 1234, the Veterans’
Compensation Cost-of-Living Act of 2005. As with H.R. 3200 in the House, we
noted we had no mandate on the permanent increase in SGLI and VGLI that
would be provided by S. 1235. We urged Congress to promptly enact S. 552, a bill
to restore entitlement to specially adapted housing for servicemembers with
qualifying disabilities. These provisions were inadvertently removed from the law.
We noted we had no resolution on making the direct housing loan program for
Native American veterans permanent but stated we had no objections to enactment
of this meritorious legislation as provided in S. 917. We testified in support of S.
1252, which would increase the amount of supplemental life insurance available on
a Service-Disabled Veterans’ (SDVI) Insurance policy from $20,000 to $40,000.
We also stated our support for enhancement of VA outreach activities that would
be mandated by S. 151. We supported S. 909, a bill that would provide an earlier
effective date for provisions authorizing a Government marker in cases where a
veteran’s grave has a privately provided marker in place. We supported
enactment of S. 1259, a bill that would ensure the DAV and other organizations are
granted access to military facilities for the purpose of counseling and aiding
servicemembers transitioning into civilian life. We applauded S. 1271, which
would liberalize provisions for presumptive service connection for diseases related
to detention as a prisoner of war. We advised the Committee that we had no
position on S. 423, a bill to include a stillborn child as an insurable dependent on an
SGLI policy. We also informed the Committee that we had no position on S. 551, a
bill to establish a new veterans cemetery in Colorado Springs, Colorado, and on S.
1138 a bill to authorize a monument in Arlington National Cemetery to honor
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veterans who fought in World War II as members of United States Army Ranger
battalions.

On June 29, 2005, we were once again before the Subcommittee on Economic
Opportunity for testimony in an oversight hearing regarding the Transition
Assistance Program (TAP) and the Disabled Transition Assistance (DTAP)
program. We recommended that attendance at these sessions be made mandatory
to avoid members being pressured by their superiors not to attend. We offered
suggestions for improving the availability of TAP/DTAP sessions for members of
the Reserves and National Guard.

In a July 27, 2005, hearing before the Subcommittee of Economic Opportunity
on six pieces of legislation, we supported a draft bill to establish within VA a new
office and director for special national sports and rehabilitative events for disabled
veterans. We supported another draft bill to increase from $50,000 to $55,000 the
grant for purchase or construction of specially adapted housing and from $10,000
to $12,000 the grant for home adaptations. We supported a separate draft bill that
would create a new grant for adaptations to homes of disabled veterans’ parents or
relatives in situations where eligible disabled veterans reside with parents or
relatives.

We noted we had no objections to three other bills for which we had no
mandate from DAV’s membership. These bills were H.R. 3082, which would,
among other things, require that 9 percent of procurement contracts entered into
by VA be awarded to small business concerns owned by veterans; H.R. 1773, would
make the direct home loan program for Native American veterans permanent: and
a draft bill to direct the Department of Labor to establish professional standards or
qualifications for DVOP representatives and LVERs.

Pending Legislation
Medical Care

H.R. 202, the Depleted Uranium Screening and Testing Act of 2005, would
direct the DOD Secretary and other officials to establish procedures for
notification to servicemembers about depleted uranium and its risks, to provide
training for its safe handling, and to take other steps to identify, test and track
those exposed

H.R. 922, the Veterans Mental Health Services Enhancement Act of 2005,
would add psychiatrists and other mental health specialists in PTSD at VA
facilities, require a nationwide outreach program for veterans of Operation Iraqi
Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom who are or may be suffering from
PTSD, and would require other measures to improve services for veterans
suffering from PTSD

H.R. 1588, the Comprehensive Assistance for Veterans Exposed to Traumatic
Stressors Act of 2005, would require DOD and VA to take a number of cooperative
steps to improve means for prevention, early intervention, and treatment of PTSD
and substance abuse

S. 460 would require, among other things related to benefits and services for
military members, VA to employ at least one psychiatrist and a complementary
clinical team at each VA medical center to provide post-traumatic stress disorder
treatment for veterans of service in Afghanistan and Iraq and the War on
Terrorism
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S. 1177, the Veterans Mental Health Care Capacity Enhancement Act of 2005,
would require VA to institute a variety of measures to increase and improve its
capacity for treatment in the area of mental health

Concurrent Receipt of Retired Pay and Compensation

Legislators have introduced several bills to end the remaining prohibition
against concurrent receipt of military longevity retired pay and disability
compensation. They are:

H.R. 303, the Retired Pay Restoration Act of 2005

H.R. 2076, the Retired Pay Restoration Act of 2005

H.R. 2368, the Immediate and Full Repeal of the Disabled Veterans Tax Act of
2005

S. 558, the Retired Pay Restoration Act of 2005

S. 845, a bill to amend title 10, United States Code, to permit retired
servicemembers who have a service-connected disability to receive disability
compensation and either retired pay or Combat-Related Special Compensation and
to eliminate the phase-in period with respect to such concurrent receipt

Other Benefits Legislation

H.R. 30, the Samuel B. Moody Bataan Death March Compensation Act, would
require DOD to make, upon request, a payment to survivors of the Bataan death
march a sum based upon the number of days the veteran was held in captivity

H.R. 805, the Veterans Burial Benefits Improvement Act of 2005, would
increase burial and plot allowances

H.R. 808, the Military Surviving Spouses Equity Act, would repeal the offset
between DIC and SBP

H.R. 831 would increase the burial plot allowance from $300 to $1,000 and
provide for automatic annual adjustments for inflation.

H.R. 1188, the Disabled Veterans Right to Commissaries and Space Available
Travel Act, would extend military commissary and exchange privileges to veterans
with service-connected disabilities rated 30 percent or more and would extend
space-available air travel aboard military aircraft to 50 percent or more service-
connected veterans and their dependents

H.R. 1198, the Veterans Carbon Tetrachloride Benefits Act, would authorize
presumptive service connection for certain disabilities as related to exposure to
carbon tetrachloride during military service

H.R. 1220, the Veterans' Compensation Cost-of-Living Adjustment Act of
2005, would increase disability compensation, DIC, and the clothing allowance by
the percentage of the annual increase in the cost of living

153



H.R. 2747, the Disabled Veterans Life Insurance Enhancement Act of 2005,
would increase maximum SDVI coverage from $10,000 to $50,000, would require
SDVI premium rates to be based on current mortality tables, and would make
other technical conforming changes to the SDVI; would increase maximum
coverage on policies of Veterans’ Mortgage Life Insurance (VMLI) from $90,000 to
$200,000; and would include a stillborn child as an insurable dependent under an
SGLI policy

H.R. 2962, the Atomic Veterans Relief Act, would remove dose levels as a
factor in service connection of radiogenic diseases not covered by provisions for
presumptive service connection and would expressly include exposure to ionizing
radiation due to residual contamination resulting from a detonation as qualifying
radiation exposure for purposes of presumptive service connection for diseases
related to radiation exposure

H.R. 2963, the Dr. James Allen Disabled Veterans Equity Act, would liberalize
requirements, with respect to visual impairments, for consideration of
compensation for both eyes in the case of service-related disability of one eye and
nonservice-related disability of the other eye

S. 58, would authorize space-available air travel aboard military aircraft for
veterans with total service-connected disability

S. 59, would extend military commissary and exchange privileges to former
prisoners of war rated 30 percent or higher for service-connected disabilities

House Minority Leadership Bill

The New GI Bill of Rights for the 21st Century Act, H.R. 2131, introduced by
the Democratic leadership of the House, with 169 cosponsors, contains multiple
provisions to improve benefits for servicemembers, veterans, and dependents. The
bill includes provisions for such matters as concurrent receipt of military retired
pay and disability compensation, removal of the offset between SBP and DIC,
improvement of educational programs, increased funding for veterans’ medical
care, and prohibition of increases in medical copayments and imposition of
enrollment fees.

Other

H.R. 1951, the American Veterans Disabled for Life Commemorative Coin act,
would provide for the minting and issue of silver $1 coins to commemorate disabled
American veterans and would pay the proceeds from a $10 surcharge on each coin
to the LIFE Memorial Foundation to support construction of a Memorial to
disabled veterans

S. 633, the American Veterans Disabled for Life Commemorative Coin Act,
would provide for the minting and issue of not more than 500,000 $1 coins to
commemorate disabled American veterans and would pay the proceeds from a $10
surcharge on each coin to the LIFE Memorial Foundation to support construction
of a Memorial to disabled veterans
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Ours is not a task where we can do our best, win a decisive victory, and declare
the “mission accomplished.” As world affairs continually change, the roles of our
men and women in uniform change, and the programs for veterans need change.
With new needs to be met, veterans’ programs need continual adjustments.
Persuading our elected officials to make those changes is often a labor. This past
year, many have toiled. I want to extend my thanks to all who did, but I want to
especially recognize a few here. Certainly, we could claim no success without the
guidance, support, and encouragement of National Adjutant Arthur H. Wilson and
the Executive Directors of our National Headquarters in Kentucky and
Washington, D.C., Richard E. Patterson and David W. Gorman. During the haste
and heat of the ongoing battles, I seldom have time to stop and adequately
commend the members of my staff. This report provides me with an opportunity
to recognize their hard work and dedication. They are: Deputy National
Legislative Director Rick Surratt; Assistant National Legislative Directors Joy
Ilem, Brian Lawrence, and Adrian Atizado; and Legislative Support Specialists
Lisa Bogle and Caren Wooley. Also, let me acknowledge the instrumental role
National Commander Sursley and his line officers played in carrying our message
to legislators and the public. I must extend special thanks to our Benefits
Protection Team Leaders, Commander’s Action Network, DAV Auxiliary, and
National Service Officers for the many things they do to support our legislative
efforts. We will need the continued contributions of our many participants during
the next 12 months.

The upcoming year shows all the potential of being another one filled with
challenge. We have objectives yet to be achieved; we have threats yet to be
confronted. I ask all of you to again join in and march forward with the Legislative
Department to meet the challenges on the road ahead.

(The following annual written report was submitted by Mr. Michael J. Walsh, National
Membership Director:)

Annual Report
Michael J. Walsh
National Membership Director
84™ National Convention
Las Vegas, Nevada
August 14-17, 2005

National Commander Sursely, Officers of the DAV and all DAV Members:

The 2004-2005 membership year has been strong and successful for the
Disabled American Veterans. As we begin the new year and meet in National
Convention, it is the perfect time to update you on our accomplishments of the past
year. DAV membership continues to grow; we become more enthusiastic by
investing time, energy and resources into making this Organization the finest
veterans’ service organization in America. Members at all levels, from local
Chapters to state Departments and the National Organization have provided us
with the leadership to develop strong and effective strategies that will benefit DAV
and shape our future successes for many years. More than ever before, the DAV
stands ready, willing and able to assist America’s disabled veterans. The newest
generation of disabled veterans from the war on terror, the ongoing military
operations in Iraq and Afghanistan and elsewhere need the DAV and the programs
of service we provide. Without question or reservation, we will continue to “Build
Better Lives for America’s Disabled Veterans and their Families.”
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Our advocacy efforts are unmatched. And the membership program provides a
variety of services to build the large, strong, knowledgeable and active membership
base required to effectively promote a positive agenda for all disabled veterans. In
accomplishing this, DAV extends its mission into communities where veterans and
their families live. Fifty-two state Departments and more than 1,900 local Chapters
nationwide support this mission.

DAV Membership and Recruitment

For the fourth consecutive year, DAV finished the membership year with more
members than we have ever had before. At the close of the membership year on
June 30, 2005, total membership stood at 1,300,727. Of that, 986,637 were fully
paid Life Members. Each year we get closer to our goal of over 1 million fully paid
Life Members. The impact of that number is something that cannot go unnoticed in
the halls of Congress. The growth we have experienced is unparalleled in this day
and age when many individuals find organizations to be antiquated and out of
touch, or not worthy of the time, effort and energy to become involved. DAV has a
place for everyone. Our member population of over 1.3 million effectively makes
up half of those with service-connected disabilities who are eligible for DAV
membership. Any organization would be proud of that kind of market penetration.

Membership growth is directly attributable to the many effective recruiters
who have tirelessly worked to increase our membership roles. Recruiters like Coy
Hennis of North Carolina, this year’s Recruiter of the Year, with 345 new members
sponsored has again recruited members not only in North Carolina but wherever
he travels, even on trips to events like the National Convention and the Mid-Winter
Conference. Other recruiters such as Prosper Sodano of New York, Al Hindes of
Michigan, Mary Tristan of North Carolina and Henry Sadler of Minnesota, each
recruited over 100 fully paid members during the year.

I am also pleased to report that our National Service Officers have also been as
successful as ever. NSOs have been responsible for recruiting 6,561 fully paid life
members and 4,378 partial paid members. Many of our NSOs recruited more than
100 new members each and deserve special thanks. They are: Kerry Baker,
Wisconsin; Jay Vierra, Kansas; Joshua Sniegowski, Wisconsin; David Reeves,
Oklahoma; James Balmer, Kentucky; G. Raymond Raulerson, Florida; Maurice
Jackson, Wisconsin; Gregory Seurer, North Dakota; Johnny DeLaughter, Texas;
Robert Sinclair, Massachusetts; Michael Lautermilch, Wisconsin; Marc Audette,
Minnesota; Donald Horton, Massachusetts; Peter Philippi, Minnesota; Calvin
Cabarrus, West Virginia; Ebony Walker, Wisconsin; James Schultz, Minnesota;
and Andrew Smith, Arkansas.

In addition to the effectiveness of our recruiters and NSOs, we have completed
several direct mail campaigns targeting our partial paid members and updating
our files to assure that every eligible person who wants to join DAV has that
opportunity.

As a result of all these efforts, I am pleased to announce the winners of several
key awards for excellence in membership. The Jonathon Wainwright Award for
the Department with the largest number of new members for the membership year.
This year the award goes to the Department of California, led by Commander
Delphine Metcalf-Foster, who guided the Department of California in securing a
total of 11,844 brand new members for the year. The Judge Robert Marx Award
for the Department that attained to highest percentage of Life Members over goal
is presented to the Department of Kansas and Commander Charlie Stephens who
finished at 104.69% of goal. This just goes to show us all that even the smaller
Departments can do great things.
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In the race for Division Commanders of the Year, we experienced more lead

changes this year than ever before. This resulted in some new names to be
recognized for the achievements of their Departments. In Division I, Departments
with over 35,000 total members, the Department of California, led by Commander
Delphine Metcalf-Foster led most of the year and finished first with 2,112 fully paid
members over goal. Virtually each Department in the Division led at one time or
another during the year. In Division II, those Departments with 18,000 to 34,999
total members, the Department of Minnesota and Commander Henry Sadler took
all honors with 757 fully paid members over goal, or 104.64% of goal. Division III,
Departments having 10,000 to 17,999 members, the Department of Arkansas and
Commander Roy Schultz edged out New Mexico with 405 fully paid members over
goal, finishing at 103.36% of goal. Division IV, Departments with 5,000 to 9,999
members, the Department of Kansas surpassed the Department of South Dakota
and finished with 372 fully paid members over goal, or 104.89%. And finally,
Division V, Departments with fewer than 5,000 members, the Department of North
Dakota again wins with 118 fully paid members, or 102.92%, over goal.
Several years ago, we began taking the opportunity in the annual report to
recognize the top recruiter in each of the five Divisions. This year those special
hard working individuals are Division I, Mary Tristan of North Carolina; Division
11, David Reeves of Oklahoma; Division III Calvin Cabarrus of West Virginia;
Division IV, Jay Vierra of Kansas; and Division V, Gregory Seurer of North
Dakota.

Member Benefit Program

The DAYV offers our members a variety of member benefits that provide real
value on products and services that enhance their lives as well as their families.
Discount programs from long distance and mobile phone services from PowerNet
Global; Ford Motor Company Partner Plan; Dell and Apple Computers discounts;
Hertz Rental Car; travel and dining discount program; discount prescription drug
plan from Scrip Pharmacy Solutions; and Creative Benefits Design, a full-service
relocation plan that incorporates the moving, mortgage and realty discounts into
one package. Also products such as the Hickory Farms, Omaha Steaks and our
own Legal Service referral all help make the member benefits an attractive
recruitment tool. However, I remain convinced that eligible disabled veterans are
joining DAYV because they recognize the valuable and important role we play in the
arena of veterans affairs.

On several of the member benefits, DAV receives a commission or royalty
based on its use by members. These funds are directly deposited to the Life
Membership Fund. During the 2004-05 membership year, $123,000 in commissions
was deposited to the Life Membership Fund from the member benefit program.

We will continue to explore new programs and products that will benefit our
members while we carefully review the current programs to assure they are what
our members desire and need.

Technological Advances

Slightly more than two years ago, we introduced the new Membership System.
A database that is easily accessible from the Internet. It provides DAV Chapters
and Department officials with an invaluable tool in the management of their
members. Chapter and Department leaders are learning more about what the
system can do for them and how they can use the system without having to contact
National Headquarters for assistance.
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The system provides them the ability to essentially access their membership
roster to download it for lists, create mailing labels, track dues payments, initiate
address changes and transfer requests, update some records and complete officer
reports and financial reports as necessary. As we strive to achieve the 1 million full-
paid Life Member benchmark, we will look to improving our response rates to dues
notices by taking advantage of the system’s ability to allow us to target specific
members and improve the look and feel of the quarterly notices.

During the past year, we took a critical look at the information we request from
potential members in our membership application. As a result, we revamped our
applications to either delete some information or expand on others. This will
provide us with more consistent eligibility criteria on the application. We also
amended the database screens to accommodate the changes in this information and
completed a direct mail campaign to verify and assure ourselves that those
currently on our membership roles truly are eligible for membership in this great
organization.

Staff

No component in DAV can be successful without the dedicated efforts of its
employees. Former Assistant National Membership Director Andre’ Smith recently
accepted reassignment to the National Service Office in Oakland, California,
returning to the position of providing counseling and representing disabled
veterans with their claims for benefits. His assistance was invaluable for the past
four years. Anthony Baskerville, most recently the Deputy Director of Human
Resources was appointed in April to replace Andre’. Tony has a 30-year history of
service to DAV and our members.

The Membership Department’s support staff at National Headquarters is
dedicated to a single purpose—taking care of our members. They do the bulk of the
work in responding to telephone inquiries, answering correspondence, completing
mail campaigns for the Mobile Service Office and Information Seminars and
generally providing information about DAV programs and services. Their efforts
day in and day out make it possible for us to accomplish our goals. They firmly
believe that the member is the most important person in our organization.
Everyone understands their role within the organization, and with a team like
that, we can’t help but be successful.

I would not be much of a Membership Director if I failed to recognize several
individuals who have provided much support and guidance during the past year. I
firmly believe in the vision and trust provided by our National Adjutant Arthur H.
Wilson. His leadership provides the wisdom and guidance we need to care for our
members and to plan strategically for the future. The knowledge and oversight
provided by Executive Director of National Headquarters Richard E. Patterson
continues to provide the Membership Department with a clear picture of our
responsibilities that are easy to understand and implement. The DAV Interim
Membership Committee, comprised of Coy Hennis of North Carolina, Prosper
Sodano of New York, H.G. Kroschell of South Dakota, and Roger Cloutier of
Maine, have offered suggestions and recommendations that have been helpful in
designing programs to attract new members and improve our services consistently
improved the membership effort.

In closing

Finally, I want to express my personal thanks to all members of the DAV for
the continued support of the Membership Department. The many recruiters and
our National, Department and Chapter leaders have all made this year the best
ever. For that, I thank you.
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While this report provides you a small glimpse of what DAV has been able to
accomplish during the past year, it is always my belief that looking ahead and
planning for the next year of success is more exciting. We have demonstrated a
commitment to remain proactive in our efforts to recruit new members and
improve the services we provide as we strive to give stronger voice to our nation’s
disabled veterans. We have a responsibility to the members of the DAV and all
those who were wounded, gassed, injured or disabled in the line of duty to provide
the best membership services and programs possible. I sincerely appreciate the
opportunity to provide this report. We can all look back on 2004-2005 with pride
and a sense of accomplishment as we look forward to a successful 2005-2006.

COMMANDER SURSELY: I would like to at this time introduce National
Service Director Randy Reese for presentation of Employment Awards. Randy.
(Applause)

MR. EDWARD REESE, JR.: Thank you, Commander. Good morning
everyone. Thank you for joining us here as we pay tribute to the men and the
women who generously assist disabled veterans gain substantial, gainful and
meaningful employment and instill in them a greater sense of self-esteem.

It is crucial that veterans, especially disabled veterans, enjoy the satisfaction
and self-esteem of earning a fair living. This year we again recognize truly worthy
individuals and companies for their efforts toward employing veterans with the
National Commander’s Employment Awards.

The individuals and companies recognized this year have demonstrated their
deep commitment to veterans in the labor force and recognize that disabled
veterans are indeed capable workers who are in great demand.

The recipient of the Outstanding Disabled Veterans Outreach Program
Specialist of the Year is James E. Gilmer, an employment specialist at the
Gainesville Career Center in Gainesville, Georgia.

He was selected for the award in recognition of a remarkable record in finding
jobs for disabled veterans. Ladies and gentlemen, Mr. James Gilmer. (Applause)

MR. JAMES GILMER: Well, this is a great honor but most of all it’s a great
honor that God has given me the opportunity to work with veterans, help people
find jobs, be placed in jobs, help veterans that need the help and assistance that
they don’t know which way to turn.

And basically I really don’t do anything for people. I just give them a guiding
finger and hope they will follow through with it. But it is such an honor to be able
to stand. And I thank Richard Williams.

I thank the people from the state of Georgia for their backing and support.
And where are my people this morning from Georgia? (Applause) Great people.
So, thank you again.

For veterans, for anyone, my phone is open 24-hours a day and another reason
I’m in this, I thank my wife for the support that she gives me. She is 100 percent
behind me so you can’t ask for no better than that. So, thank all of you. If I can
help you, give me a call. (Applause)

MR. REESE: John Heritage Jr., at the Texas Workforce Center, Richardson,
Texas, was selected as the Outstanding Local Veterans Employment Representative
of the Year.

John’s job is to help unemployed veterans find suitable employment and he
has achieved a great success record, utilizing compassion, professionalism in all
phases of his work. I am pleased to present this award to John Heritage. Mr.
Heritage. (Applause)

MR. JOHN HERITAGE, JR.: Commander Sursely, Adjutant Wilson,
national staff members and delegates, my fellow veterans, sir, first I would like to
express my sincere appreciation for you bestowing me this award here today.
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My wife Sandy and I truly appreciate the professionalism and the hospitality
that has been shown to us since our arrival here in Vegas. It is both an honor and a
privilege to be here today in the presence of such a distinguished group and fellow
veterans.

I am truly proud to be associated as a lifetime member of DAV. And I am
confident that there are many local veterans’ representatives out there that are
deserving of this award.

My transition from a command sergeant-major in the army to a veterans’
representative was not a difficult one for me. In the military I took care of and
loved our soldiers and their families. Now as a veterans’ representative I take care
of veterans and their families.

My primary duties as a veterans’ representative in our local area in
Richardson, Texas, is to assist the veteran, especially the disabled veteran, during
his job search process.

And my job is made easy because of the many employers in our area whose
sense of patriotism and appreciation for our nation’s veterans runs high. There are
no military installations in our particular area but there are a lot of veteran
employers that assist us in placing veterans in jobs and I would like to thank them
at this time.

I also would like to thank my manager, Linda Sheerer for her nomination of
me for this particular award and all my colleagues in the office who support
everything that we do for our vets.

There is an increase of a new generation of disabled vets that we are seeing
today in our office. It is my sincere desire to do for them what my veterans’
employment representative did for me, but not only for employment purposes but
also for retraining.

Now, basically what we really are in our business is veterans taking care of
veterans, veterans taking care of each other.

I would like to just relate a short story of one of my clients that came into my
office not long ago and he sat at my desk and grabbed both my hands and looked
me straight in the face with tears in his eyes and he said, “I want to thank you for
saving my life.”

I responded with, you know, “I don’t understand.” And he stated that, “A
while back you referred me to the VA hospital and you instructed me to register at
the VA and to ask them to give me a physical because it was recommended that you
take a physical at least once a year.

“As a result of that physical they discovered that I had cancer and it was
starting to spread. If it was not for you to refer me to that VA I wouldn’t be sitting
here speaking to you today. Now you also referred me to DAV which is located
there at the VA hospital.

“You told me that they would assist me in processing my claim and as a result
of that currently I have a VA 100 percent disability rating which makes my family
eligible for medical attention and currently VA is assisting my children during
their educational endeavors.”

This is just one example of the rewards that I receive during my daily duties
and responsibilities of taking care of veterans. So it is on behalf of all my LVERs
and all my disabled veteran clients that it is with great humility and appreciation
that I thank you for this award. (Applause)

MR. REESE: The two companies being recognized as Outstanding Employers
of the Year stress the need for workers who have the background and dedication to
perform superlative work.

They have reached out to veterans because of the skills they possess, the
knowledge they have, and the dedication and perseverance they exhibit as veterans.
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AKAL Security of Espanola, New Mexico, was selected as the Outstanding
Large Employer of the Year. AKAL has done a remarkable job employing
veterans. Accepting the award for AKAL Security is Army Contracts Division
Director Rick Durham. (Applause)

MR. RICK DURHAM: I am not accustomed to speaking to large groups like
this so if I vapor lock, somebody just roll me off. (Laughter) First, ’'m truly
humbled to receive this award and I thank the DAV on behalf of AKAL Security
for the Award.

AKAL Security has about 12,000 employees across the United States and we
have discovered, well, they have discovered something I’ve always known, is that
the best workers out there are the veterans. (Applause)

They’ve got the discipline and maturity that’s needed to be the kind of worker
that we look for. I would also like to thank the Veterans Service Center and the
Texas Workforce Center in Killeen, Texas, for the nomination. And since we
recognized Georgia, where is Texas? (Applause)

What Id like to say real quick is since this award began at Fort Hood, Texas, I
feel it’s necessary to talk about my company’s mission at Fort Hood as we provide
the access control security to that installation and seven others.

When I was first assigned to go down to Fort Hood to start this project up, the
corporate managers were concerned that we wouldn’t be able to find a workforce
large enough in the Fort Hood area and that we’d have trouble finding qualified
applicants for that workforce.

I said, “I don’t believe we’ll have any trouble at all. We’ve got a military
installation with retirees and discharged veterans. I just don’t think we’re going to
have any trouble.”

They said, “We’ll you’re going to need 1,800 applicants to get 600 employees.”
That’s the industry standard. I said, “Okay, we’ll see what happens.” I went down
to Killeen.

We had a job fair and we didn’t get 1,800 applicants; we got 1,100. Almost, I
would say 90 percent of those were veterans. We ended up hiring the 600 right at
600 applicants.

Our workforce at Fort Hood is 68 percent veterans and 23 percent disabled
veterans. (Applause) And I tell you, as a manager, you’re only as good as your
workforce and they make me look really good.

Across our eight contracts at eight different Army installations we have almost
1,700 employees. And just to give you some statistics we are about 66 percent vets
at those installations. And we’re overall about 17 percent disabled vets at those
installations.

And again we just, we couldn’t do it without them. Anyway, on behalf of
myself and AKAL Security and as a fellow veteran, and from the bottom of my
heart thank you for this award and thank you for your service and may God bless
each and every one of you. (Applause)

MR. REESE: Although unable to attend, West Tech Company Police of
Smithville, North Carolina, was selected as this year’s Outstanding Small
Employer of the Year.

While they are the recipients of the Small Employer of the Year Award their
accomplishments are great. West Tech is a leader employing veterans in North
Carolina.

The DAV is grateful for the personal diligence of these employment specialists
and these companies on behalf of veterans. They go beyond what is considered
their jobs. Their efforts
are personal based on deep gratitude they have for the contributions of disabled
veterans.
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All of this year’s employment award winners are helping improve the lives of
disabled veterans and their families and in turn are reaping a great satisfaction for
their dedication. Please join me again in giving them another round of applause.
(Applause)

The Department of Veterans Affairs has thousands of dedicated employees
who work to ensure better lives for disabled veterans and their families. This year
the DAYV is recognizing those VA workers who go beyond doing their jobs to excel
on behalf of disabled veterans.

They are the ones who keep the system of healthcare benefits and burial rights
going. The DAYV is recognizing three outstanding VA employees with the National
Commander’s Outstanding VA Employee Awards.

Our first recipient is Nancy Resner, the Associate Director of Northern
Florida/Southern Georgia Veterans Health System in Lake City, Florida. She is
receiving the National Commander’s Award for the Veterans Health
Administration in appreciation for her compassionate and consistent advocacy for
veterans using the VA healthcare facilities.

She is respected at the local, regional and national levels of VA and has made
lives for thousands of veterans better. Ladies and gentlemen, may I present Nancy
Resner. (Applause)

MS. NANCY RESNER: Good morning. Thank you, Commander. I am
incredibly honored. If you think about the number of employees there are in the
Veterans Health Administration it is even more humbling to me to be selected.

I started out as a job, as a little staff nurse on a general surgery unit in 1975. It
became a career. It became a life quest for excellence for me to provide the best
care we can to you, the veterans.

The last time I spoke to the DAV was at the Georgia State Convention. Are the
Georgia guys back there? (Applause) I spoke to the Florida Veterans Affairs
Convention. Are you out there, Florida? (Applause)

This is truly a crowd. I go to those and I think and then I come here and I’'m
like overwhelmed at the number of you and your commitment to ensuring that we
provide the best care that we can.

I’m not a veteran. I come from a family of veterans. My father is a World
War II veteran. My husband is from the Vietnam era. My brother just got back
from Operation Iraqi Freedom. And I see it as what would I do for them as I
provide healthcare.

Every day I think, “Would I do this for my father? How would I make it
better for my husband? And how can I make sure that we are providing the best
that we can for the returning soldiers like my brother?” And so it becomes a
family affair for me.

Thank you all. Thank you. I am indeed honored to be here. Commander
Sursely, other DAV members, thank you again. Good day. (Applause)

MR. REESE: Douglas B. Wadsworth is a Salt Lake City Regional Office
Director. He will receive the National Commander’s Award recognizing his
outstanding performance as a member of the VA’s Veterans Benefits
Administration.

Douglas has consistently demonstrated extraordinary advocacy on behalf of
more than 339,000 veterans in the states of Utah, Alaska and Montana. He
epitomizes professionalism and dedication in service of veterans and their families.
It is my pleasure to present this award to Douglas Wadsworth. (Applause)

MR. DOUGLAS WADSWORTH: Good morning. Well, like everybody else
coming up here I’ve got to make sure that my delegations from Utah, where are
they? (Applause) They’re down there.

And Alaska? (Cheer) There he is. (Laughter) You have to understand it’s a
long way from Alaska. And of course my good friends up in the great state of
Montana. (Applause) Good, thank you. Thank you.
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Commander Sursely and all of the DAVers here, the general officers of the
DAYV, I appreciate the opportunity to be here today and accept this recognition.

As the Secretary pointed out yesterday, this is the 75™ Anniversary of the VA
and as I got up this morning I also learned that it was the 60™ Anniversary of the
end of World War II in the Pacific.

And what a great day for me to be here and to celebrate with you this great
Convention. When President Ronald Reagan signed the bill making the VA a
Cabinet he reminded us all that America’s debt to those who would fight for her
defense doesn’t end the day the uniform comes off.

This Department, the Department of Veterans Affairs, with nearly a quarter
million men and women serving in it, we all try to give daily expression of the
gratitude that we have for all of you and your service to the country.

We try to do that with compassion, with understanding, sensitivity, and above
all gratitude. A Medal of Honor recipient in World War II said, “Those of us who
have lived have to represent those who didn’t make it.”

Our veterans do this by honoring the memory of fallen comrades and by giving
the generation of Americans a lesson in the values of personal sacrifice, physical
and moral strength, and of unselfish courage.

At its best the government services involve just not filling a job but keeping a
special faith. And I think us in the VA have a special charge to keep that faith.

I’m proud of my association in the VA. I’ve been with the VA 37 years. And
every day that I go to work I think of the folks that we serve and the opportunities
that we have to deliver what our grateful nation has provided to us.

One thing I have learned as being the director for the Salt Lake Regional
Office for over 23 years, just like in the military, what you accomplish as an
individual is due to the efforts of others.

I have the opportunity to work with a tremendously talented group of people
that take the veterans of our country to their heart. I also have an opportunity to
work with some real great DAVers who are the National Service Officers that serve
with me in helping deliver benefits and representing disabled veterans before the
VA and before the Board of Veterans Appeals.

And I can tell you that they are looked upon as the most professional, well-
trained and competent people I think that are serving our veterans today.
(Applause)

Not only with the support of the DAV Service Officer but I have to take this
opportunity to just pay a little respect to my wonderful wife and family for their
support of me for over 37 years in the VA and in the military, because without your
families — and you all know this — we could not accomplish anything in this life.

And on behalf of the VA employees in Alaska and Utah and Montana,
Commander, I appreciate this opportunity and appreciate this award. Thank you.
(Applause)

MR. REESE: The National Commander’s Award for the Outstanding VA
National Cemetery Administration Employee is being presented to Alan S.
Sumitomo, a project director at the National Memorial Cemetery in the Pacific, in
Honolulu, Hawaii.

Alan created the compensated work therapy program there to help veterans
make adjustment back to the community workforce and further -— excuse me, I’'ll
try that one more time — and further contribute to society.

Through his personal mentoring of veterans he successfully developed the
technical competency, the interpersonal skills of veterans so they could find
permanent employment. I would like to present to the National Convention, Mr.
Alan Sumitomo. (Applause)

MR. ALAN S. SUMITOMO: Good morning, DAV and aloha. It is a great
honor to have been selected for this national award and invited to attend your DAV
2005 National Convention.
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I work at the National Memorial Cemetery of the Pacific, also known as the
“Punchbowl” in Honolulu, Hawaii. Besides my regular duties I also develop and
train disabled American veterans who enter the VA’s Compensated Work Therapy
and Rehabilitation Program, known as CWT.

At the Cemetery we offer hands-on training to these young veterans to
improve their technical skills, work habits, and to better their lives.

It gives me a good feeling that upon graduation of the CWT program when
these young veterans are selected as permanent employees to work either with the
VA or at other federal and state agencies.

The Punchbowl Cemetery promises to continue our support and the VA CWT
program to build a better future for America’s disabled veterans.

I would like to thank my wife Mona and my two best friends, Larry and
Barbara Thornton, who supported me by being here today on this very special
occasion. Larry is the cemetery foreman and he’s responsible for keeping the
Punchbowl Cemetery ever so beautiful.

I would especially like to thank my boss and leader Gene Kasigneti, the
director of the Punchbowl, for nominating me and making today the greatest day
of my life. Thank you so very much, DAV, and aloha. (Applause)

MR. REESE: Let’s give them all another round of applause. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSLEY: Okay, thank you very much, Randy. Next up
will be Ken Musselmann, Chairman of the Committee on Constitution and Bylaws.
Ken.

MR. MUSSELMANN: Good morning. Can you hear me? Oh, there we go. 1
know what you’re saying, “Here he goes again.” (Laughter) This is just one of the
things that we have to do to keep our organization strong.

Commander and delegates, the National Convention Committee on
Constitution and Bylaws was called to order for its first business session on August
14™, 2005, by Committee advisors, Kenneth Musselmann and Barry Jesinoski.

The first order of business was the election of a Convention Committee
Chairman and Secretary. Kenneth Musselmann was elected chairman and
Christine Childers was elected secretary.

The Committee then proceeded to review resolutions submitted and I will now
report to you the resolutions recommended for adoption at this National
Convention.

As always, this is the first reading of the Bylaw changes and there will be no
discussion. Discussion will take place if its needed on Wednesday morning.

Resolution Number 217. Article 8, Section 8.4, Paragraph 1. In the twelfth
line after the word “practice” insert the following sentence: “Upon request by the
National Commander or the National Adjutant a department shall submit
satisfactory evidence of the value of assets owned by the department or its affiliated
entities as defined in Article 17.1 of these Bylaws” so that the amended paragraph
will read as follows:

Paragraph 1. Each state department must keep a complete financial record of
all monies received, expended and remitted. All assets of the department must be
titled or held in the name of the department.

Fixed assets such as buildings, land and equipment must be maintained in a
manner that will prevent waste and abnormal deterioration.

All other assets except for minimal amounts of cash on hand must be
safeguarded or deposited in a manner appropriate to the asset and consistent with
sound business practice.

Upon request by the National Commander or the National Adjutant, a
department shall submit satisfactory evidence of the value of assets owned by the
department or its affiliated entities as defined in Article 17.1 of these Bylaws.
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Each state department shall have an audit committee composed of at least
three members of the state department, excluding the state commander, state
senior vice commander, state treasurer, state adjutant, and state finance committee
chairman, who shall conduct an annual audit and submit a report of same to the
national organization within 90 days after the close of the accounting year which
shall be the membership year commencing July 1% and ending June 30",

All reports will be accomplished on forms provided by national headquarters.
All financial reports shall specify and itemize the precise source and expenditure of
all funds of the state department during the reporting period.

Broad or general classifications will not be deemed acceptable and may subject
the state department to the audit provisions of Article 15, Section 15.7, Paragraph
2, of these Bylaws.

Failure to file annual financial reports will be cause to suspend or revoke the
charter of the state department.

If in the opinion of the National Organization a financial audit of the
department is necessary and the National Commander authorizes it, such audit will
be conducted by the National Organization at department expense.

Resolution Number 218, Article 9. Amend Article 9, Section 9.3, Paragraph 1,
in the eleventh line after the word “practice” insert the following sentence: “Upon
the request by the National Commander or the National Adjutant a chapter shall
submit satisfactory evidence of the value of assets owned by the chapter or its
affiliated entities as defined in Article 17.1 of these Bylaws” so that the amended
paragraph will read as follows:

Paragraph 1. Each chapter shall keep a complete financial record of all
monies received and expended. All assets of the chapter must be titled or held in
the name of the chapter.

Fixed assets such as buildings, land and equipment must be maintained in a
manner that will prevent waste and abnormal deterioration.

All other assets except for minimal amounts of cash on hand must be
safeguarded or deposited in a manner appropriate to the asset and consistent with
sound business practice.

Upon request by the National Commander or the National Adjutant, a chapter
shall submit satisfactory evidence of the value of assets owned by the chapter or its
affiliated entities as defined in Article 17.1 of these Bylaws.

Each chapter shall have an audit committee composed of at least three
members of the chapter, excluding the commander, senior vice commander,
treasurer, adjutant, or finance committee chairman, who shall conduct an annual
audit and if the gross receipts, excluding dues, exceed $10,000 submit the report to
the state department and the National Organization within 90 days after the close
of the accounting year which shall be the membership year commencing July 1*
and ending June 30™.

All reports must be filed on forms provided by National Headquarters. All
financial reports shall specify and itemize the precise source and expenditure of all
funds of the chapter during the reporting period.

Broad or general classifications will not be deemed acceptable and may subject
the chapter to the audit provisions of Article 15, Section 15.7, Paragraph 2, of these
Bylaws.

Failure to file annual financial reports will be cause to suspend or revoke the
charter of the chapter.

If in the opinion of the National Organization or the state department a
financial audit of the chapter is necessary and the National Commander or state
commander so authorizes it, such audit will be conducted by the National
Organization or the state department at chapter expense.

This provision shall not exempt a chapter from the requirement of filing an
annual financial report with the state department.
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Resolution 219 amend Article 14, Section 14.2, Paragraph 1. In the second line
after the word “be” remove the word “formulated” and substitute the word
“approved”.

In the fourth line after the word “of” remove the word “proposed” and replace
it after the word “budgets”. In the seventh line after the word “the” remove the
word “proposed”. And in the eighth line after the word “budget” add the words
“proposed for ratification”.

In the eleventh line starting with the word “directions” remove the remainder
of the sentence and substitute with the word “explanation” followed by a period
and then the new sentence: “The Board of Directors shall approve a revised
budget and resubmit it to the Convention for ratification and rejection.”

In the last two lines of the paragraph remove the words “National Executive
Committee” and substitute with the word “Board of Directors” so that the
amended paragraph will read as follows. Now that you all understand that
(Laughter) I’ll read you how it is really going to sound.

Paragraph 1: This Organization shall operate on a budget which shall be
approved by the Board of Directors before each National Convention after
consideration of budgets proposed by all department heads.

This budget shall be submitted to the Convention for ratification or rejection
as a whole. Copies of the budget proposed for ratification shall be given to each
registrant upon registration.

In the event the budget is rejected it shall be returned to the Board of Directors
with explanation. The Board of Directors shall approve a revised budget and
resubmit it to the Convention for ratification or rejection.

In the event the National Convention should adjourn without approving the
budget the Board of Directors shall determine the budget.

Resolution Number 220, amend Article 14, Section 14.9. Omit the title
“Blanket Fidelity Bond” and substitute “Safeguarding DAV Assets” and omit the
entire paragraph and substitute with new text so that the amended section will read
as follows:

Section 14.9: Safeguarding DAV Assets.

It is the responsibility of departments and chapters to protect DAV assets from
theft or conversion. This responsibility includes, without limitation,
implementation of sound financial management practices and the purchase of
insurance to cover theft losses.

In the absence of such insurance, the National Organization shall provide a
mechanism by which departments and chapters may be reimbursed for theft or
conversion of department or chapter assets by an elected or appointed department
or chapter officer.

Such reimbursement shall be limited to $100,000 per occurrence and be
subject to the deductible amount of $5,000. Such reimbursement shall be made
only upon a full and final adjudication of theft or conversion by a court of
competent jurisdiction.

Such reimbursement shall also be subject to the limits and conditions of the
reimbursement program as determined by the Board of Directors. This
amendment is effective January 1%, 2006.

Resolution 221, amend Article 17, Section 17.1. In the second paragraph after
the words “affiliated entities” in the fourth line remove the word “shall” and
substitute the word “may”.

In the fifth line after the word “created” remove the words “and/or indirectly”
and substitute the word “or”. In the sixth line after the word “units” remove the
remainder of the sentence, “or by persons who control subordinate units.”

In the eighth line after the word “activities” remove the word “also” and in the
ninth line after the word “unit” remove the word “are” and substitute the words
“may also be” so that the amended paragraph will read as follows:
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For purposes of this article, “subordinate units” shall include, without
limitation, departments, chapter and auxiliaries.

“Affiliated entities” may include, without limitation, organizations created or
controlled or supervised by subordinate units.

Entities whose names or activities suggest an association with a subordinate
unit may also be affiliated entities. The determination of whether a particular
organization or entity is a subordinate unit or an affiliated entity shall be made by
the National Judge Advocate whose determination of such matters shall be final.

A determination that an entity is an affiliated entity for purposes of this article
is not intended to be a determination that such entity is affiliated with a
subordinate unit for tax, accounting or any other purpose.

Resolution 222, amend Article 19, Section 19.3. After the word “Bylaws” in
the second line omit the words “or in the Rules of the Convention” and after the
word “by” in the third line remove “Roberts Rules of Order, Revised” and
substitute “Roberts Rules of Order, Newly Revised” so that the amended section
will read as follows:

All matters of procedure not otherwise provided for in these Bylaws shall be
governed by Roberts Rules of Order, Newly Revised.

And the last one. There we go. See. (Applause) Resolution 223, amend
Article 19, Section 19.5. After the words “voting” in the third line omit the
remainder of the sentence and substitute with the words “as prescribed by
Convention Rule 21d” so that the amended section will read as follows:

These Bylaws may be amended at any National Convention by a vote of two-
thirds of the delegates present and voting as prescribed by Convention Rule 21d.

Commander, that completes the first reading of the Bylaws and for
information purposes these changes will be on your seats Wednesday morning for
you to look at prior to the final reading of these national changes, these
amendments to the Bylaws. Thank you, Commander. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Ken. And we’ll hear the final report
of the Constitution and Bylaws Committee at Wednesday’s business session. Next
up for the report on the Committee of Finance is their Chairman, Jerome Krejci.
Jerome.

MR. JEROME G. KREJCI: Don’t worry, my report is not as long as Ken’s.
(Laughter) Comrade Commander and delegates, the National Convention
Committee on Finance was called to order on August 14, 2005, by the Committee
advisors, Bobby Williams and Richard E. Patterson.

The first order of business was the election of a Convention Committee
Chairman and Secretary. Jerome Krejci, District 14, was elected as chairman and
Al Church, District 4, was elected as secretary.

The Committee recommended no resolutions for adoption. The Committee
next reviewed the proposed 2006 budget with the Committee advisors and with the
assistance of Comptroller Anita F. Blum.

The proposed 2006 budget was referred to the National Convention Committee
on Finance by the Board of Directors with the recommendation for adoption.

Following completion of the Committee’s review the Committee voted
unanimously to recommend to the National Convention adoption of the proposed
2006 budget.

The Committee then expressed its thanks to the Committee advisors, Bobby
Williams and Richard E. Patterson, who were aided by Comptroller Anita Blum,
for their assistance in performing the work of this important Committee.

Comrade Commander, this completes the report of the Committee on Finance
and I hereby move for the adoption of the report and ask that the Committee be
discharged with the thanks of the National Convention. Thank you. (Applause)

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Jerome. You have heard the
motion. May I have a second?

MR. DONALD A. SIOSS: Mike 3.
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COMMANDER SURSELY: Mike 3.

MR. SIOSS: Past National Commander Don Sioss, DAV Chapter 76 New
York seconds the motion.

COMMANDER SURSELY: Thank you, Don. We have a motion and a
second. In accordance with Rule 9 now is the time for any rejected resolutions to
be read.

Are there any rejected resolutions you wish read? Hearing none, all those in
favor signify by saying aye; opposed. So ordered. Next up is the Chairman for the
Committee for Legislation and Veterans’ Rights, Dick Giese. Dick.

MR. RICHARD E. GIESE: Thank you, Commander, and put your mind at
ease, I’'m Army, not Marine Corps. (Laughter) Comrade Commander and
delegates, the National Convention Committee on Legislation and Veterans’ Rights
was called to order on August 14, 2005, by the Committee advisors Joseph A.
Violante and Brian E. Austin.

The first order of business was the election of a Convention Committee
Chairman and Secretary. Dick Giese was elected as chairman and Raymond
Richards of Massachusetts was elected as secretary.

The Committee then proceeded to review the resolutions submitted and I will
now report to you the resolutions recommended for adoption by the National
Convention.

For the purpose of saving time I will read only the number and purpose of the
resolutions. Resolution Number 3, ten-year protection for service-connected
evaluations.

Resolution 4, support legislation to remove prohibition against concurrent
receipt. Resolution Number 5, opposing any proposal that would offset payments
of Social Security Disability Insurance benefits or any other federal benefit by VA
compensation.

Resolution 6, opposing lump-sum payments for service-connected disabilities.
Number 7, opposing the permanent rounding-down of COLAs in veterans’
benefits.

Number 8, opposition to subjecting compensations to means testing. Number
9, oppose recommendations by the Veterans Disability Benefits Commission to
balance the budget on the backs of veterans. (Applause)

Resolution Number 16, expanding POW presumptions. Number 17, support
open-ended presumptive period for undiagnosed illnesses related to Gulf War
veterans.

Number 23, oppose reduction, taxation or elimination of VA benefits.
(Applause) Number 24, supporting legislation to repeal the prohibition against
service connection for smoking-related illnesses.

Number 25, supporting a change in regulatory requirements for a temporary
total rating under Section 4.30, Title 38, Code of Federal Regulations.

Number 26, support legislation to allow all veterans to recover amounts
withheld as tax on disability/severance pay. Number 29, support repeal of funding
fees for VA home loans.

Number 30, provide an open period to apply for service-disabled veterans
insurance, RH. Number 31, mortgage protection life insurance for 100 percent
service-connected veterans.

Number 32, exempt disability compensation in determination of eligibility for
government programs. Number 33, supporting adequate funding for all VA
programs. Number 34, extend space-available air travel aboard military aircraft
to 100 percent service-connected disabled veterans.

Number 68, amend Section 143, 1, 4, of Title 26, U.S. Code to include veterans
who served after January 1%, 1977, within the definition of “qualified veteran” for
purpose of eligibility for home loans funded by tax-exempt mortgage revenue
bonds issued by certain states.
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Number 88, disability compensation increase. Number 89, compensable rating
for certain hearing-impaired veterans. Number 94, eliminate the delimiting date
for eligible spouses and surviving spouses for benefits under Chapter 35, Title 38,
United States Code.

Number 95, provide educational benefits for dependents of service-connected
veterans rated 80 percent or more disabled. Number 102, redefine service in
Vietnam to include service in the waters offshore.

Number 114, supporting legislation to provide service-connection to atomic
veterans for all recognized radiogenic diseases. Number 116, to compensate
Persian Gulf veterans suffering from illnesses circumstantially linked to their
service in the Persian Gulf War.

Number 117, oppose redefining service connection. (Applause) Number 121 in
support of legislation to provide that Special Separation Benefits or SSB not be
withheld from VA disability compensation payments. (Applause)

Number 122, authorize automobile adaptive equipment eligibility to any
veteran who has a service-connected disability that inhibits the ability to safely
operate a motor vehicle. (Applause)

Number 123, increase the grant for autos or other conveyances available to
certain disabled veterans and provide the automobile annual adjustments based on
the increase in the cost of living.

Number 124, expand provisions to allow for clothing allowances where there is
irreparable damage to clothing from prescription medication for service-connected
conditions. (Applause)

Number 125, opposition to the imposition of time limits for filing compensation
claims. Number 126, oppose reduction of the appeal period for Department of
Veterans Affairs decisions.

Number 127, provide an increase in the specially-adapted housing grant and
provide for annual COLAS. Number 128, increase the face value of service-
disabled veterans insurance, RH.

Number 131, support legislation to ensure that military retirees receive all
benefits which were promised them when they entered the armed forces.
(Applause)

Number 149 — we’re getting there — extend military commissary and
exchange privileges and space-available air travel to certain service-connected
disabled veterans.

Number 164, provide a temporary total rating for the period that an amputee
has a new prosthetic device constructed; 171, oppose regional disbursion of the
Board of Veterans Appeals.

Number 196, eliminate the requirements of estimated dose exposure for
service-connected claims under the presumptive disease regulations for radiation-
exposed veterans.

Number 197, restore protections against unwarranted awards of veterans
benefits to third parties in divorce actions. Number 198, support change in law to
provide for commencement of payment period for total ratings for compensation as
of the date of entitling event.

Number 199, support legislation to require the Court of Appeals for veterans
claims to decide cases by panels of at least three judges. Number 200, support
legislation to reduce premiums for service-disabled veterans insurance consistent
with current life expectancy.

Number 201, supporting legislation to provide for waiver of premiums for
supplemental service disabled veterans insurance, RH. Number 202, seeking
legislation to exclude veterans life insurance proceeds, dividends and cash value
from countable income for purposes of eligibility to benefits and services under
other government programs.
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Number 203, support an increase in the Department of Veterans Affairs Burial
Allowance for service-connected veterans and provide for automatic annual
adjustments. (Applause) And, finally, 204, expansion of Chapter 35 educational
benefits.

Comrade Commander, this completes the report of the Committee on
Legislation and Veterans’ Rights and I move the adoption of these resolutions and
that the Committee be discharged with the thanks of the National Convention.
(Applause)

(The above-mentioned resolutions follow:)

RESOLUTION NO. 003—LEGISLATIVE

PROVIDE A 10-YEAR PROTECTION PERIOD FOR SERVICE-
CONNECTED DISABILITY EVALUATIONS

WHEREAS, section 110 of title 38, United States Code, now provides for the
protection of all disability compensation evaluations that have been continuously in
effect for 20 or more years; and

WHEREAS, permanency should be conceded for disability compensation
ratings which have been in effect for 10 years without change in evaluation with no
further examination scheduled; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports amendment of section 110 of title 38, United States Code, to provide that
disability evaluations continuously in effect at the same evaluation rate be
protected after a period of 10 years.

RESOLUTION NO. 004—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT LEGISLATION TO REMOVE THE PROHIBITION AGAINST
CONCURRENT RECEIPT OF MILITARY RETIRED PAY AND VETERANS
DISABILITY COMPENSATION FOR ALL LONGEVITY RETIRED
VETERANS

WHEREAS, the new current law provides that service-connected veterans
rated less than 50 percent who are retired from the Armed Forces on length of
service may not receive disability compensation from the Department of Veterans
Affairs (VA) in addition to full military retired pay; and

WHEREAS, these disabled veterans must therefore surrender retired pay in
an amount equal to the disability compensation they receive; and

WHEREAS, this offset is extremely unfair to veterans who have served
faithfully in military careers inasmuch as these veterans have earned their retired
pay by virtue of their long service to the nation and wholly apart from any
compensation they may separately be entitled to for the effects of disabilities due to
military service; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, support
legislation to repeal the offset between military longevity retired pay and VA
disability compensation for those service connected less than 50 percent.

* * *
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RESOLUTION NO. 005—LEGISLATIVE

OPPOSE ANY PROPOSAL THAT WOULD OFFSET PAYMENTS OF
SOCIAL SECURITY DISABILITY INSURANCE BENEFITS OR ANY OTHER
FEDERAL BENEFIT BY DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
COMPENSATION

WHEREAS, consideration has been given to proposing an offset of Social
Security Disability Insurance Benefits by payments of any other Federal benefit;
and

WHEREAS, the adoption of such a measure would reduce the overall income
provided to those service-connected veterans who have a compensable disability
and who also suffer a permanent and total disability for purposes of Disability
Insurance Benefits from the Social Security Administration; and

WHEREAS, such an offset would work a grave and undue hardship on all
totally disabled service-connected veterans and their families by drastically
reducing their total income; and

WHEREAS, benefits received from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)
or under military retirement pay and other Federal programs have differing
eligibility criteria as compared to the earned payments of Social Security Disability
Insurance Benefits; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, opposes
any measure which proposes to offset the payment of any other Federal benefit or
earned benefit entitlement by VA compensation payments made to service-
connected disabled veterans.

RESOLUTION NO. 006—LEGISLATIVE

OPPOSE LUMP-SUM PAYMENTS FOR SERVICE-CONNECTED
DISABILITIES

WHEREAS, disability compensation is paid monthly to an eligible veteran on
account of and at a rate commensurate with diminished earning capacity resulting
from the effects of service-connected disease or injury; and

WHEREAS, such compensation, by design, continues to provide relief from
the service-connected disability for as long as the veteran continues to suffer its
effects at a compensable level; and

WHEREAS, by law, the rate of compensation is determined by the level of
disability present, thereby requiring reevaluation of the disability upon a change in
its degree; and

WHEREAS, the Veterans’ Claims Adjudication Commission, created by
Congress to study the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) claims processing
system, has suggested lump-sum payments as a way for the Government to avoid
the administrative costs of reevaluating service-connected disabilities and as a way
to avoid future liabilities to service-connected disabled veterans when their
disabilities worsen or cause secondary disabilities; and

WHEREAS, such lump-sum payments would not, on the whole, be in the best
interests of disabled veterans but would be for Government savings and
convenience; NOW
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THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, opposes
any change in law to provide for lump-sum payments of VA disability
compensation.

RESOLUTION NO. 007—LEGISLATIVE

OPPOSE THE PERMANENT ROUNDING DOWN OF COST-OF-LIVING
ADJUSTMENTS IN VETERANS’ BENEFITS

WHEREAS, to maintain the worth of veterans’ benefits, they must be adjusted
to keep pace with the rise in the cost of living; and

WHEREAS, permanently rounding down the adjusted rates to the next lower
dollar amount will erode the value of these benefits over time and thus not keep
pace with the rise in the cost of living; and

WHEREAS, permanently rounding down veterans’ cost-of-living adjustments
unfairly targets veterans for convenient cost savings for the Government; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, opposes
permanent rounding down of cost-of-living adjustments for veterans’ benefits.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 008—LEGISLATIVE

OPPOSE SUBJECTING COMPENSATION TO MEANS TESTING

WHEREAS, the citizens of our Nation have heretofore honorably recognized
their indebtedness to those who sacrificed in the service of their country by
providing compensation as restitution for the personal injuries suffered in such
service; and

WHEREAS, a disabled veteran is rightfully entitled to restitution for the
effects of service-connected disability during its continuation, without regard to
good fortune or income of the veteran or spouse from sources wholly independent
of the Government’s obligations to the veteran; and

WHEREAS, it is fundamentally unfair for the Government to seek to disclaim
its obligation to disabled veterans or their survivors merely because of the receipt
of other, unrelated income; and

WHEREAS, notwithstanding the special status of disability and dependency
and indemnity compensation, there are efforts to reduce or eliminate them where
the veteran or spouse, or survivor has other income; and

WHEREAS, this degrades compensation by providing it to the extent of the
veteran’s or survivor’s economic needs rather than as a measure of restitution
equal to personal losses, thereby disassociating compensation from that which
merits it and associating it with factors which govern purely gratuitous and welfare
benefits; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in

National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, opposes
any scheme to means test disability and death compensation.

* * *
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RESOLUTION NO. 009—LEGISLATIVE

OPPOSE RECOMMENDATIONS BY THE VETERANS DISABILITY
BENEFITS COMMISSION TO BALANCE THE BUDGET ON THE BACKS OF
VETERANS

WHEREAS, the fiscal year 2004 Defense Authorization Act passed by
Congress has established the Veterans Disability Benefits Commission (VDBC),
charged with conducting a study of veterans disability and death benefits; and

WHEREAS, this commission was established as part of negotiations that led to
congressional authority for concurrent receipt of disability pay (CRDP) for
military retirees and combat-related special compensation (CRSC); and

WHEREAS, the VDBC is heavily represented by former senior military
officers from various branches of the Department of Defense due to the
requirement that seven of the thirteen members be recipients of the Silver Star
medal or higher military decorations; and

WHEREAS, any recommendations from VDBC aimed at cutting disability
benefits will be construed as recommendations from “true American heroes,”
allowing them to become scapegoats for budget-balancing decisions unfavorable to
disabled or retired military veterans; and

WHEREAS, the VDBC will be reviewing complicated matters of federal
regulations relating to service-connected disabilities contained in title 38, Code of
Federal Regulations and other matters of law and medicine; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, believes
that promises made to veterans by congressional authority should be kept; AND

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans insists
that all meetings of VDBC be open to the public and transcripts of commission
activities be provided to any veterans’ service organizations that request them;
AND

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans
vigorously opposes any recommendations by this commission to balance the federal
budget on the backs of veterans receiving VA disability compensation, CRDP or
CRSC through changes in the federal laws governing veterans’ entitlements.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 016—LEGISLATIVE
EXPAND PRISONER-OF-WAR PRESUMPTIONS

WHEREAS, former prisoners-of-war (POWs) suffered cruel and inhumane
treatment, together with nutritional deprivation at the hands of their captors,
which resulted in long-term adverse health effects; and

WHEREAS, POWs were subjected to numerous and varying forms of abuse
dependent upon the place, time, and circumstance of their captivity by the enemy;
and

WHEREAS, for this reason, former POWs suffer from a wide range of
physical and psychological maladies; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports legislation which would add those medical conditions which are
characteristically associated with or can be reasonably attributed to the POW
experience as presumptive disorders for former POWs; AND
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BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans urges
passage of legislation that would expand eligibility for Dependency and Indemnity
Compensation to surviving spouses of certain former POWs, who died prior to
September 30, 1999, and who were rated totally disabled at the time of death for a
service-connected disability for a period of not less than one year.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 017—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT OPEN-ENDED PRESUMPTIVE PERIOD FOR UNDIAGNOSED
ILLNESSES FOR GULF WAR VETERANS

WHEREAS, thousands of Gulf War veterans still suffer from chronic
unexplained physical symptoms; and

WHEREAS, the numerous symptoms experienced by sick Gulf War veterans
are not well understood and the causes of such symptoms remain elusive and
answers could likely remain evasive for some time; and

WHEREAS, there currently is little significant research on long-term health
effects of many of the agents Gulf War veterans were potentially exposed to during
the Gulf War; and

WHEREAS, additional research into the long-term health effects of exposures
is needed, a fact confirmed in a September 2000 report by the Institute of Medicine
on the health effects of exposures during the Gulf War; and

WHEREAS, the current presumptive period for undiagnosed illnesses was
recently only extended for a period of five years (through December 31, 2006);
NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, urges
that legislation be enacted to extend the presumptive period for service connection
for ill-defined and undiagnosed illnesses indefinitely.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 023—LEGISLATIVE

OPPOSE REDUCTION, TAXATION, OR ELIMINATION OF VETERANS’
BENEFITS

WHEREAS, veterans’ benefits are earned benefits paid to veterans and their
families for their service to the Nation; and

WHEREAS, veterans’ benefits are part of a covenant between our Nation and
its defenders; and

WHEREAS, certain government leaders have continued to attack veterans’
benefits in an attempt to tax those benefits, reduce them, or eliminate them
completely; and

WHEREAS, these attacks recur with regularity and serious intent; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
vigorously supports the protection of veterans’ benefits from taxation, cutbacks,
and elimination.
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RESOLUTION NO. 024—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT LEGISLATION TO REPEAL THE PROHIBITION AGAINST
SERVICE CONNECTION FOR SMOKING-RELATED ILLNESSES

WHEREAS, until recently, smoking of tobacco was an activity fully accepted
by society and not only condoned but encouraged and subsidized by the Armed
Forces; and

WHEREAS, because the Armed Forces and the military environment
encouraged smoking among servicemembers, higher percentages of veterans smoke
or have a history of smoking than the general population; and

WHEREAS, the Government rejects the tobacco companies’ defense that
responsibility for the health effects of smoking is with the individual who
personally chose to smoke but relies on that same excuse to prohibit compensation
for service-incurred smoking-related illnesses in veterans; and

WHEREAS, the Government has imposed a dual standard against veterans
because it has not sought to hold other Federal beneficiaries personally responsible
and prohibited benefits for smoking-related illnesses; and

WHEREAS, Congress conveniently seized upon the personal choicel /personal
responsibility excuse and enacted the prohibition against service connection for
smoking-related illnesses solely to finance over-budget spending on politically
popular transportation programs and not because of any genuine public policy
considerations; and

WHEREAS, for all the foregoing reasons, the enactment of this prohibition
was an extreme injustice against America’s disabled veterans; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports legislation to repeal the prohibition of service connection for smoking-
related illnesses.

RESOLUTION NO. 025—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT A CHANGE IN REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS FOR A
TEMPORARY TOTAL RATING UNDER SECTION 4.30 OF TITLE 38, CODE
OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS

WHEREAS, with advances in modern medicine and increasing emphasis on
more efficient use of health care resources, health care providers are being
encouraged to utilize suitable alternatives to inpatient care; and

WHEREAS, as a consequence, veterans are often treated through home health
services or convalesce at home rather than in the hospital; and

WHEREAS, convalescent ratings are currently only authorized where
inpatient or outpatient treatment resulted in surgery or immobilization of a major
joint by cast; and

WHEREAS, there are instances where the veteran’s treatment did not involve
surgery or casting of a major joint, but the veteran has undergone healing,
convalescence, or a therapeutic course in the home, with a duration of more than
21 days; and

WHEREAS, exacerbation of a service-connected disability sometimes makes
work activities contraindicated for periods of more than 21 days; and
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WHEREAS, in such instances, the therapeutic course, convalescence, or
restriction from work would occur in the home in lieu of hospitalization for more
than 21 days; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports a change in section 4.30 of title 38, Code of Federal Regulations, to
provide for a temporary total rating if treatment or exacerbation of a service-
connected disability results in a condition of temporary total incapacity for
employment or temporary unavailability for employment by reason of home health
care or ambulatory care, bed rest or confinement to the home, or contraindication
of work activities for more than 21 days.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 026—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT LEGISLATION TO ALLOW ALL VETERANS TO RECOVER
AMOUNTS WITHHELD AS TAX ON DISABILITY SEVERANCE PAY

WHEREAS, money received as a result of personal injury or disability is not
taxable; and

WHEREAS, disability severance pay is paid to a military member as a result
of injury or disease suffered during military service; and

WHEREAS, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has, and continues to, tax
military disability severance pay as regular income; and

WHEREAS, a United States District Court has held that military disability
severance pay is nontaxable income; and

WHEREAS, the IRS has acquiesced in the District Court holding; and

WHEREAS, the three-year statute of limitations prevents veterans who have
been discharged for more than three years from recovering the nontaxable money
withheld by the IRS; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, strongly
supports legislation which would allow all veterans to recover nontaxable income
withheld from their disability severance pay, notwithstanding the three-year
statute of limitations which would otherwise prevent such recovery.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 029—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT REPEAL OF FUNDING FEES FOR DEPARTMENT OF
VETERANS AFFAIRS HOME LOANS

WHEREAS, in 1990, Congress imposed funding fees upon Department of
Veterans Affairs (VA) guaranteed home loans under budget reconciliation
provisions as a temporary deficit reduction measure; and

WHEREAS, such funding fees have now become a regular feature of all VA
home loans, except for disabled veterans and un-remarried surviving spouses; and

WHEREAS, during the first session of the 108th Congress, funding fees were
increased, and will continue so for the next seven years as a way to generate
additional revenue to cover the costs of improvements and cost-of-living
adjustments in other veterans’ programs; and
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WHEREAS, benefits provided to veterans by a grateful nation in return for
their contributions and sacrifices through service in the armed forces should be
provided by the government without a cost to the veteran; and

WHEREAS, increased funding fees have reduced the advantage of using the
VA Home Loan Guaranty program; and

WHEREAS, funding fee increases are placing additional burdens upon
veterans purchasing homes when the intent of the program is to reduce that
burden by minimizing initial costs of buying a home; and

WHEREAS, such fees particularly impact on our young, active duty military
families who may be purchasing their fist home; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, urges
Congress to refrain from further increasing the VA Home Loan funding fees and to
repeal these fees as soon as possible.

RESOLUTION NO. 030—LEGISLATIVE

PROVIDE AN OPEN PERIOD TO APPLY FOR SERVICE DISABLED
VETERANS’ INSURANCE

WHEREAS, service-connected disabled veterans are entitled to apply for
Service Disabled Veterans’ Insurance within two years from the date the
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) grants service connection for any disability;
and

WHEREAS, many eligible veterans, due to financial difficulties and problems
associated with readjustment to civilian life, did not apply for this insurance within
the 2-year eligibility period; and

WHEREAS, many of these service-connected disabled veterans are now
prepared and can afford to purchase this insurance but are not able to purchase
comparable insurance coverage in the private sector; and

WHEREAS, precedent has been established to extend previously closed
“eligibility periods” for certain other VA benefits and services, including
insurance; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, seeks
the enactment of legislation that would authorize an “open period” for eligible
service-connected disabled veterans to apply for coverage under the Service
Disabled Veterans’ Insurance Program.

* * *
RESOLUTION NO. 031 —LEGISLATIVE
EXTEND ELIGIBILITY FOR VETERANS’ MORTGAGE LIFE
INSURANCE TO SERVICE-CONNECTED VETERANS RATED
PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED
WHEREAS, Veterans’ Mortgage Life Insurance is presently available to

veterans entitled to the special adapted housing award under section 2101(a) of title
38, United States Code; and
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WHEREAS, service-connected veterans rated as permanently and totally
disabled cannot obtain mortgage life insurance through commercial insurance
companies; and

WHEREAS, their widows and dependents must bear an undue hardship upon
the death of such veterans; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, seeks
the enactment of legislation which would extend Veterans’ Mortgage Life
Insurance to service-connected veterans who are rated as permanently and totally
disabled.

RESOLUTION NO. 032—LEGISLATIVE

SEEKING LEGISLATION TO EXCLUDE VETERANS’ DISABILITY
COMPENSATION FROM COUNTABLE INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF
ELIGIBILITY TO BENEFITS AND SERVICES UNDER OTHER
GOVERNMENT PROGRAMS

WHEREAS, by virtue of their service and sacrifices, disabled veterans deserve
special benefits that are separate and in addition to benefits the government
provides to other citizens; and

WHEREAS, compensation for the effects of service-connected disabilities is
counted as income in determinations of eligibility for other government benefits
and programs, such as low-income housing through the Department of Housing
and Urban Development; and

WHEREAS, the value of compensation is negated and its purposes are
defeated when a veteran’s receipt of compensation is used to reduce or deny
entitlement to government benefits or services available to other citizens, and

WHEREAS, when a veteran’s compensation is offset against other
entitlements, it is in effect deducted from the programs generally available to other
citizens, and the veteran really receives nothing additional for his or her disability
and is thus not compensated; NOW

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, seeks
legislation to exclude veterans’ disability compensation from countable income for
purposes of entitlement to benefits or services under other government programs.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 033—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT ADEQUATE FUNDING FOR ALL DEPARTMENT OF
VETERANS AFFAIRS PROGRAMS

WHEREAS, understaffing of Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) programs
in recent years has hampered VA’s ability to effectively administer programs
intended to benefit this Nation’s veterans; and

WHEREAS, continued efforts by the Office of Management and Budget to
reduce the VA appropriations will lead to further deterioration of all VA
programs; an

WHEREAS, this Nation’s first concern should be to fulfill its obligation to
those who served in the military services in defense of the country; NOW
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THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, seeks
and strongly supports adequate funding for all VA programs.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 034—LEGISLATIVE

EXTEND SPACE-AVAILABLE AIR TRAVEL ABOARD MILITARY
AIRCRAFT TO 100 PERCENT SERVICE-CONNECTED DISABLED
VETERANS

WHEREAS, totally disabled service-connected veterans have sacrificed greatly
in terms of their impairments and loss of earnings capacity; and

WHEREAS, more than any other living group of Americans, such veterans
should be eligible for all benefits and privileges that the Congress may provide; and

WHEREAS, such totally disabled veterans should be extended the same
privileges as other personnel currently authorized to utilize space-available
military air travel; and

WHEREAS, the extension of such travel to totally disabled service-connected
veterans would not place any additional burden upon the administration of this
program; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, seeks
the enactment of legislation which would extend space-available air travel aboard
military aircraft to all 100 percent service-connected disabled veterans to the same
extent and under the same conditions as is currently provided to retired military
personnel.

RESOLUTION NO. 068—LEGISLATIVE

AMEND SECTION 143(1) (4) OF TITLE 26, UNITED STATES CODE, TO
INCLUDE VETERANS WHO SERVED AFTER JANUARY 1, 1977, WITHIN
THE DEFINITION OF “QUALIFIED VETERAN” FOR PURPOSES OF
ELIGIBILITY FOR HOME LOANS FUNDED BY TAX-EXEMPT MORTGAGE
REVENUE BONDS ISSUED BY CERTAIN STATES

WHEREAS, in addition to the benefits provided by the Department of
Veterans Affairs (VA), the individual states have long been leaders in recognizing
and rewarding the tremendous sacrifice of our nation’s veterans; and

WHEREAS, home ownership is viewed by many as a cherished component of
the American Dream; and

WHEREAS, enabling veterans to achieve home ownership at a lower cost is
but a small reward for their faithful service while in the U.S. Armed Forces; and

WHEREAS, in appreciation of this service on behalf of our nation, the states of
Texas, California, Oregon, Alaska, and Wisconsin have offered below-market
interest rates on home loan mortgages to eligible veterans for many decades; and

WHEREAS, this program has assisted over a million veterans in obtaining
affordable housing and in making a better life for themselves and their dependents;
and
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WHEREAS, these states utilize tax-exempt bonds known as Qualified Veterans
Mortgage Bonds to fund almost all of the home purchase and home improvement
loans made to veterans; and

WHEREAS, current federal law governing the use of tax-exempt bonds used
to fund these loans, as contained in Section 143(1)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code,
unfairly limits these programs to only those veterans who served prior to January
1,1977; and

WHEREAS this restriction unfairly prevents all veterans serving active duty
post-1976 from using Qualified Veterans Mortgage Bonds, including over 500,000
men and women who served in Desert Shield and Desert Storm and the 180,000
Reservists and Guard members called up to serve our country since September 11,
2001; and

WHEREAS, these courageous men and women, many serving in harm’s way
in Iraq and Afghanistan deserve the same benefits offered to their earlier comrades
in arms, yet they and their families are being denied the opportunity to use
Qualified Veterans Mortgage Bonds; and

WHEREAS, Congress has failed to remedy this discriminatory federal
provision on behalf of these deserving men and women, despite the fact that it will
not increase federal discretionary spending one cent; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, urges
Congress to support legislative action to immediately remove the aforementioned
discriminatory portion of the Internal Revenue Code in order that today’s veterans
and their families might enjoy the same benefits as their earlier counterparts.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 088—LEGISLATIVE
INCREASE DISABILITY COMPENSATION

WHEREAS, the Disabled American Veterans was founded on the principle
that this Nation’s first duty to veterans is to provide for the rehabilitation of its
wartime disabled; and

WHEREAS, the percentage ratings for service-connected disabilities
represent, as far as can be practicably determined, the average impairment in
earning capacity resulting from such disabilities in civil occupations; and

WHEREAS, compensation increases should be based on the loss of earning
capacity; and

WHEREAS, disabled veterans who are unable to work because of service-
connected disabilities should be entitled to compensation payments commensurate
with the after-tax earnings of their able-bodied contemporaries; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports the enactment of legislation to provide a realistic increase in Department
of Veterans Affairs compensation rates to bring the standard of living of disabled
veterans in line with that which they would have enjoyed had they not suffered
their service-connected disabilities.
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RESOLUTION NO. 089—LEGISLATIVE

PROVIDE FOR A COMPENSABLE RATING FOR HEARING IMPAIRED
VETERANS WITH HEARING AIDS

WHEREAS, a significantly high number of veterans with hearing impairments
have a zero percent or non-compensable rating for high frequency hearing loss;
and

WHEREAS, most veterans who have such a rating with the Department of
Veterans Affairs (VA) experience significant difficulties with such hearing loss in
ordinary daily living; and

WHEREAS, the Rating Schedule provides a compensable rating of 10 percent
for other minor disabilities such as a partial loss of one finger, mild skin conditions,
tender scars and, in some cases, for the residuals of an episiotomy scar; and

WHEREAS, the VA should recognize those veterans who are impacted by high
frequency hearing loss; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports granting veterans with high frequency hearing loss a compensable rating
(10 percent) when it has been medically determined that the veteran requires and
has been issued a hearing amplification device.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 094—LEGISLATIVE

ELIMINATE THE DELIMITING DATE FOR ELIGIBLE SPOUSES AND
SURVIVING SPOUSES FOR BENEFITS PROVIDED UNDER CHAPTER 35,
TITLE 38, UNITED STATES CODE

WHEREAS, dependents and survivors eligible for Department of Veterans
Affairs (VA) education benefits under Chapter 35, title 38, United States Code,
have ten years in which to apply for and complete a program of education; and

WHEREAS, this ten-year period begins either from the date a veteran is
evaluated by the VA as permanently and totally disabled from service-connected
disabilities or ten years from the date of such veteran’s death due to service-
connected disability; and

WHEREAS, in many instances, because of family obligations or the need to
provide care to the veteran, spouses or surviving spouses may not have had an
opportunity to apply for these benefits; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, seeks
the enactment of legislation which would eliminate the delimiting date for spouses
and surviving spouses for purposes of benefits provided under Chapter 35, title 38,
United States Code.
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RESOLUTION NO. 095—LEGISLATIVE

PROVIDE EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS FOR DEPENDENTS OF SERVICE-
CONNECTED VETERANS RATED 80 PERCENT OR MORE DISABLED

WHEREAS, chapter 35 of title 38, United States Code, extends educational
assistance to the dependents of service-connected veterans who are evaluated as
permanently and totally disabled; and

WHEREAS, there are many service-connected veterans rated 80 percent and
90 percent disabled, whose dependents cannot afford to attend an institution of
higher learning or pursue a vocational endeavor because of the reduced earning
ability of such veterans; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, seeks
the enactment of legislation which would extend educational assistance under
chapter 35 of title 38, United States Code, to the dependents of veterans who have a
service-connected disability rating of 80 percent or more.

* * *
RESOLUTION NO. 102—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT LEGISLATION TO CLARIFY THAT SERVICE IN THE
REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM FOR PURPOSES OF BENEFITS BASED ON
EXPOSURE TO HERBICIDES INCLUDES SERVICE IN THE WATERS

OFFSHORE

WHEREAS, over the decade from 1961 to 1971, our military forces sprayed
approximately 21 million gallons of herbicide agents in Vietnam; and

WHEREAS, these herbicide agents, the most common of which was designated
“Agent Orange,” contained the contaminant dioxin, one of the most toxic
substances known to humankind; and

WHEREAS, the dispersion and deposition of, and human exposure to, dioxins
were not limited to areas directly sprayed, inasmuch as it is acknowledged that the
chemical was carried away from the areas of application by canals, rivers, and
streams, and that airborne particulates were carried by wind drift; and

WHEREAS, Congress has therefore provided that, for purposes of establishing
or presuming service connection for a disability or death as related to herbicide
exposure, a veteran who, during active military, naval, or air service, “served in the
Republic of Vietnam during the period beginning on January 9, 1962, and ending
on May 7, 1975, shall be presumed to have been exposed during such service to [a]
herbicide agent . . . unless there is affirmative evidence to establish that the veteran
was not exposed to any such agent” during that service; and

WHEREAS, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) has arbitrarily
interpreted “served in the Republic of Vietnam” to mean only service on land areas
of Vietnam and not waters offshore within its national boundaries; and

WHEREAS, the exclusion of territorial seas or waters from the term
“Republic of Vietnam” is contrary to the plain and unqualified language of the law
and illogical insofar as its premise is that herbicides could be carried away from the
area of application across any expanse of land but not equal or lesser expanses of
water; and

WHEREAS, various illnesses have been linked to and are presumed due to
exposure to these herbicide agents; and
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WHEREAS, veterans who served on ships no more distant from the spraying
of these herbicides than many who served on land are arbitrarily and unjustly
denied benefits of the presumption of exposure and thereby the presumption of
service connection for their herbicide-related disabilities; NOW

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports legislation to expressly provide that the phrase “served in the Republic of
Vietnam” includes service in the waters offshore.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 114—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT LEGISLATION AUTHORIZING PRESUMPTIVE SERVICE
CONNECTION FOR ALL RADIOGENIC DISEASES

WHEREAS, members of the United States Armed Services have participated
in test detonation of nuclear devices and served in Hiroshima or Nagasaki, Japan,
following the detonation of nuclear bombs; and

WHEREAS, the United States Government knew or should have known of the
potential harm to the health and well-being of these military members; and

WHEREAS, atomic veterans served their country with honor, courage, and
devotion to duty; and

WHEREAS, remedial legislation passed by Congress in 1984 has not been
effective in ensuring that all atomic veterans are compensated for their radiogenic
diseases; and

WHEREAS, by the Department of Veterans Affairs’ own admission, few
claimants have obtained disability compensation or dependency and indemnity
compensation pursuant to Public Law 98-542; and

WHEREAS, the Government has spent tens of millions of dollars to provide
dose reconstruction estimates, the accuracy of which are in serious doubt; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
supports legislation to provide presumptive service connection to atomic veterans
for all recognized radiogenic diseases.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 116—LEGISLATIVE

COMPENSATE PERSIAN GULF WAR VETERANS SUFFERING FROM
ILLNESSES CIRCUMSTANTIALLY LINKED TO THEIR SERVICE IN THE
PERSIAN GULF WAR

WHEREAS, the Disabled American Veterans has a significant concern
regarding the multitude of ailments reported by a growing number of Persian Gulf
War veterans who were exposed to both identified and unknown health hazards;
and

WHEREAS, Persian Gulf War veterans were exposed to numerous and
various environmental health hazards, including smoke from oil field fires and
other petroleum agents, depleted uranium, chemical and biological elements, desert
parasites, vaccines, chemoprophylactic agents, and vehicle paints; and

WHEREAS, primary investigations and multifarious studies have
thus far failed to identify the source or sources of these ailments; and
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WHEREAS, the scientific/medical community’s inability to identify the
source(s) and pathological nature of the disease has caused considerable anxiety for
these veterans and their families; and

WHEREAS, there appears to be a commonality of ailments plaguing Persian
Gulf War veterans; and

WHEREAS, these ailments have been unofficially labeled “Persian Gulf
Syndrome,” “Multiple Chemical Sensitivity,” and “Chronic Fatigue Syndrome”;
and

WHEREAS, these brave veterans suffering from these unknown ailments are
often prevented from providing for their own basic needs and for the needs of their
families; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005,
vigorously supports the Department of Veterans Affairs’ (VA’s) expeditious
handling of Persian Gulf War veterans’ claims and the payment of fair and just
compensation for those diagnosed and undiagnosed conditions associated with their
service in the Persian Gulf theater or related exposure to certain chemical,
biological, and environmental toxins; AND

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that we strongly urge that these Persian Gulf
War veterans continue to receive priority medical treatment for those ailments that
may be associated with their service in the Persian Gulf; AND

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that we vehemently urge VA, the Department
of Defense, and the Department of Health and Human Services to continue to
cooperate in tests and studies to unlock the mysteries surrounding the ailments
suffered by Persian Gulf War veterans, including the possibility of exposure to
chemical agents by U.S. military personnel.

* * *

RESOLUTION NO. 117—LEGISLATIVE

OPPOSE ANY CHANGE THAT WOULD REDEFINE SERVICE-
CONNECTED DISABILITY OR RESTRICT THE CONDITIONS OR
CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH IT MAY BE ESTABLISHED

WHEREAS, current law authorizes service connection for disabilities incurred
or aggravated during service in the United States Armed Forces in the line of duty;
and

WHEREAS, various proposals have been made to limit service connection to
disabilities caused directly by the performance of duty; and

WHEREAS, disability incurred in the line of duty is sometimes not directly
due to a job injury but may be due to less obvious factors attributable to the Armed
Forces environment; and

WHEREAS, proof of a causal relationship may often be difficult or impossible
notwithstanding an inability to disassociate the disability from service-related
factors; and

WHEREAS, current law equitably alleviates the onerous burden of
establishing performance of duty or other causal connection as a prerequisite for
service connection; NOW

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Disabled American Veterans in
National Convention assembled in Las Vegas, Nevada, August 14-17, 2005, opposes
changes in current law so as to redefine or restrict service connection.

* * *
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RESOLUTION NO. 121—LEGISLATIVE

SUPPORT LEGISLATION PROVIDING THAT SPECIAL SEPARATION
BENEFITS PAYMENTS NOT BE WITHHELD FROM DEPARTMENT OF
VETERANS AFFAIRS DISABILITY COMPENSATION PAYMENTS

WHEREAS, as a result 